Early life determinants of Beta-cell function in the sheep

Siti Aishah Sulaiman, BSc (Biotechnology), BHSc (Hons)

Discipline of Obstetrics and Gynaecology

School of Paediatrics and Reproductive Health

Faculty of Health Sciences

The University of Adelaide

South Australia

Australia

Thesis submitted for the fulfilment for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy (PhD)

December 2014



If we knew what it was we were doing, it would not be called research, would it? Albert Einstein

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURESXI
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS XV
STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY AND AUTHENTICITY XVII
TABLE OF ABBREVIATIONS AND BIOCHEMICAL NAMESXVIII
PUBLISHED PEER REVIEWED JOURNAL ARTICLE AND CONFERENCE
PRESENTATIONS ARISING FROM THIS THESISXXI
ABSTRACTXXIV
1 CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 OVERVIEW
1.2 PREVALENCE OF TYPE 2 DIABETES (T2D)
1.3 T2D AND INSULIN ACTION
1.4 SIZE AT BIRTH AND T2D
1.5 EARLY LIFE ORIGINS OF IMPAIRED INSULIN ACTION
1.6 DETERMINANTS OF β -CELL FUNCTION, MASS AND PLASTICITY38
1.6.1 Regulation of β-cell function, mass and plasticity
1.6.2 <i>PDX1</i>
1.6.3 MicroRNA
1.6.4 Epigenetic regulation of β -cell mass and function
1.6.5 Adiponectin regulation of β -cell mass and function
1.7 EFFECTS OF EXPERIMENTAL IUGR DUE TO RESTRICTED
PLACENTAL FUNCTION ON INSULIN ACTION55

1.8 SEX SPECIFIC IUGR EFFECTS ON POSTNATAL INSULIN SECRETION
AND ACTION
1.9 NEONATAL EXENDIN-4 AS AN INTERVENTION AFTER IUGR60
1.10 SUMMARY64
1.11 HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS65
1.11.1 Hypothesis65
1.11.2 General Aim65
1.11.2.1 Aim 1
1.11.2.2 Aim 2
1.11.2.3 Aim 3
1.12 SIGNIFICANCE
2 CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS68
2.1 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK
2.2 ANIMALS AND TREATMENTS
2.2.1 Animals
2.2.1 Animals
 2.2.1 Animals
 2.2.1 Animals
2.2.1Animals
2.2.1Animals
2.2.1Animals
2.2.1Animals

2.3.2	Assessment of the insulin axis	73						
2.3.2.	.1 In vivo insulin sensitivity	73						
2.3.2.	.2 In vivo glucose tolerance, insulin secretion and action	74						
2.3.2.	.3 Analysis of plasma hormones and metabolites	75						
2.3.3	In vivo assessment of pancreatic β -cell function	76						
2.4 <i>IN</i>	VITRO ASSESSMENT OF PANCREATIC ISLET FUNCTION	76						
2.4.1	Isolation and purification of pancreatic islets	76						
2.4.2	In vitro insulin secretion	77						
2.5 PA	NCREATIC ISLET GENE EXPRESSION	78						
2.5.1	Pancreatic islet RNA extraction	78						
2.5.2	RNA quantity and quality assessments	78						
2.5.3	2.5.3 DNAse treatment							
2.5.4	.4 Reverse transcription							
2.5.5	Primer design	79						
2.5.6	Quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction	81						
2.5.6.	.1 Preparation of cDNA	81						
2.5.6.	.2 Cloning reaction and plasmid standard extraction	81						
2.5.6.	.3 Sequencing of cDNA inserts	82						
2.5.6.	.4 Real Time PCR	83						
2.5.6.	2.5.6.5 <i>Optimisation of Real Time PCR reactions</i> 84							
2.5.6.	.6 <i>Quantification of pancreatic mRNA levels</i>	84						
2.6 PA	NCREATIC ISLET MICRORNA EXPRESSION	85						
2.6.1	Pancreatic microRNA extraction, quantity and quality assessments	85						
2.6.2	Exiqon microarray labelling	85						
2.6.3	Exiqon microarray hybridisation	86						

	2.6	.4	Exiqon miRNA data analysis	87
	2.7	AN	ALYSIS OF ADIPONECTIN ABUNDANCE AND EXPRESSION	88
	2.7	.1	Plasma adiponectin abundance	88
	2.7	.2	Adipose tissue RNA extraction, quantity and quality assessments	89
	2.7	.3	DNAse treatment and cDNA synthesis	89
	2.7	.4	Adiponectin gene expression	90
	2.7	.5	Quantification of adiponectin mRNA	91
	2.8	STA	ATISTICAL ANALYSES	91
3	СН	[APT	TER 3 IN VIVO AND IN VITRO OUTCOMES	97
	3.1	AB	STRACT	97
	3.2	INT	TRODUCTION	98
	3.3	MA	ATERIALS AND METHODS	99
	3.3	.1	Ethics statement	99
	3.3	.2	Animal, treatments and surgery	100
	3.3	.3	In vivo measures of insulin secretion, sensitivity, and action	101
	3.3	.4	Analysis of plasma insulin and metabolites	101
	3.3	.5	Post-mortem	102
	3.3	.6	Pancreas and islet isolation and morphometric analysis	102
	3.3	.7	<i>In vitro</i> β-cell secretion and responses	102
	3.3	.8	Statistical analysis	103
	3.4	RE	SULTS	104
	3.4	.1	Size at birth, neonatal growth and body composition	104
	3.4	.2	Insulin secretion, sensitivity and action	108
	3.4	.3	Pancreas morphology and β -cell function	109

3.4.4	<i>In vitro</i> β-cell secretory function	113
3.5 DI	SCUSSION	115
3.6 CC	ONCLUSION	121
4 CHAP	TER 4 EFFECT OF IUGR DUE TO TWINNING AND NEONAT	AL
EXENDIN-	-4 TREATMENT ON MOLECULAR DETERMINANTS OF B-CE	ELL
FUNCTION	N AND MASS IN YOUNG LAMBS	123
4.1 IN	TRODUCTION	123
4.2 Ma	ATERIALS AND METHODS	126
4.2.1	Animals and treatments.	126
4.2.2	Post-mortem, pancreatic islet RNA and microRNA extraction and t	heir
quality	and quantity assessments	126
4.2.3	Statistical analyses	127
4.3 RE	ESULTS	128
4.3.1	Is let mRNA expression of molecular determinants of β -cell mass	128
4.3.2	Is let mRNA expression of molecular determinants of β -cell function	130
4.3.3	Islet mRNA expression of epigenetic machinery	132
4.3.4	Islet microRNA expression	132
4.3.5	Relationships between β -cell mass and function and islet mR	NA
express	sion of molecular regulators of β -cell mass and function	134
4.3.5	5.1 Relationships between pancreas morphology and β -cell mass	and
islet i	mRNA expression	134
4.3.5	7.2 Relationships between in vivo insulin secretion and disposition of	and
islet 1	mRNA expression	136

mRNA expression138
4.3.6 Relationships between islet mRNA expression of PDX1 and othe
regulators of β-cell mass and function140
4.3.7 Relationships between islet mRNA expression of PDX1 and othe
regulators of β -cell mass and secretory function and islet mRNA expression o
epigenetic machinery143
4.4 DISCUSSION
4.5 CONCLUSION15
5 CHAPTER 5 EFFECT OF IUGR DUE TO TWINNING AND NEONATAL
EXENDIN-4 TREATMENT ON CIRCULATING PLASMA ADIPONECTIN
AND ADIPONECTIN GENE EXPRESSION IN ADIPOSE TISSUES IN YOUNG
LAMB154
LAMB 154 5.1 INTRODUCTION 154
LAMB 154 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 156
LAMB 154 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Animals and treatments
LAMB 154 5.1 INTRODUCTION 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 5.2.1 Animals and treatments 5.2.2 Surgery and routine blood sampling
LAMB1545.1INTRODUCTION1545.2MATERIALS AND METHODS1565.2.1Animals and treatments1565.2.2Surgery and routine blood sampling1575.2.3Plasma adiponectin analysis158
LAMB1545.1INTRODUCTION1545.2MATERIALS AND METHODS1565.2.1Animals and treatments1565.2.2Surgery and routine blood sampling1575.2.3Plasma adiponectin analysis1585.2.4Growth measurements and post-mortem158
LAMB 154 5.1 INTRODUCTION 154 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 156 5.2.1 Animals and treatments 156 5.2.2 Surgery and routine blood sampling 157 5.2.3 Plasma adiponectin analysis 158 5.2.4 Growth measurements and post-mortem 158 5.2.5 Omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues RNA extraction and
LAMB 154 5.1 INTRODUCTION 154 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 156 5.2.1 Animals and treatments 156 5.2.2 Surgery and routine blood sampling 157 5.2.3 Plasma adiponectin analysis 158 5.2.4 Growth measurements and post-mortem 158 5.2.5 Omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues RNA extraction and adiponectin gene expression analysis 158
LAMB 154 5.1 INTRODUCTION 154 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 156 5.2.1 Animals and treatments 156 5.2.2 Surgery and routine blood sampling 157 5.2.3 Plasma adiponectin analysis 158 5.2.4 Growth measurements and post-mortem 158 5.2.5 Omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues RNA extraction and adiponectin gene expression analysis 158 5.2.6 In vivo, in vitro insulin action and gene expression measures 159
LAMB 154 5.1 INTRODUCTION 154 5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS 156 5.2.1 Animals and treatments 156 5.2.2 Surgery and routine blood sampling 157 5.2.3 Plasma adiponectin analysis 158 5.2.4 Growth measurements and post-mortem 158 5.2.5 Omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues RNA extraction and adiponectin gene expression analysis 158 5.2.6 In vivo, in vitro insulin action and gene expression measures 159 5.2.7 Statistical analyses 160

	5.	.3.1	Plasma adiponectin concentrations
	5.	.3.2	Adiponectin mRNA expression in omental and subcutaneous fat161
	5.	.3.3	Relationships between circulating plasma adiponectin and adiponectin
	m	RNA	expression in omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues
	5.	.3.4	Relationships between growth, metabolic outcomes and circulating
	pl	lasma	adiponectin and its expression in omental and subcutaneous fat166
		5.3.4.	1 Relationships between neonatal growth and plasma adiponectin
		conce	ntration and its expression in omental and subcutaneous fat166
		5.3.4.	2 Relationships between insulin sensitivity and plasma adiponectin and
		its ex	pression in omental and subcutaneous fat168
		5.3.4.	3 Relationships between in vivo insulin secretion and plasma
		adipo	nectin and its expression in omental and subcutaneous fat168
		5.3.4.	4 Relationships between in vitro insulin secretion and plasma
		adipo	nectin and its expression in omental and subcutaneous fat168
		5.3.4.	5 Relationships between β -cell mass and plasma adiponectin and its
		expre	ssion in omental and subcutaneous fat169
		5.3.4.	6 Relationships between pancreatic islet mRNA expression of
		molec	ular regulators of β -cell mass and function and plasma adiponectin and its
		expre	ssion in omental and subcutaneous fat172
	5.4	DI	CUSSION174
	5.5	CC	NCLUSION178
6	G	ENE	AL DISCUSSION181
	6.1	IN	VIVO AND IN VITRO RESPONSES TO IUGR DUE TO TWINNING
	AN	D NEO	NATAL EXENDIN-4 TREATMENT

Tables of Contents

APPEN	JDIX					240
REFE	RENCES					200
6.7	CONCLUSION					
6.6	IMPLICATIONS	S AND	FUTURE	DIRECTIONS		
6.5	STUDY LIMITA	TIONS	5			
REG	ULATION					
6.4	MECHANISM	OF	IUGR	PROGRAMMING	_	ADIPONECTIN
REG	ULATION					191
6.3	MECHANISM	OF	IUGR	PROGRAMMING	_	EPIGENETIC
6.2	MECHANISM C)F IUG	R PROGI	RAMMING – GENE I	EXPR	ESSION 187

LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

Table 2.1	Primer details	and sequence	es used for	quantitative	Real Time	PCR of islet
gene express	on					80
Table 2.2	Primer sequer	nces used for	Real Time	PCR for a	adiponectin	expression in
omental and	subcutaneous a	dipose tissue:	5			91

Table 3.1	Effect	of	IUGR	and	neonatal	exendin-4	treatment	on	size	at	birth,
postnatal gro	wth and	l bod	y comp	ositic	on in you	ng lambs			•••••		106
Table 3.2	Effect	of II	UGR ar	nd ne	onatal exe	endin-4 trea	tment on i	nsulin	secr	etion	ı and
action in you	ıng laml	os	•••••	•••••					•••••		110
Table 3.3	Effect	of	IUGR	and	l neonat	al exendir	1-4 treatm	nent	on	pan	creas
morphology	and β-c	ell fu	inction.						•••••	•••••	112

Figure 1.1 Hyperbolic relationship between insulin sensitivity and insulin secretion,
modified from (29)
Figure 1.2 Regulation of β -cell mass and its molecular determinants
Figure 1.3 Regulation of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in pancreatic β -cells,
adapted from (61)
Figure 1.4 Bio-synthesis of microRNAs, adapted from (70)46
Figure 1.5 Schematic diagram of gene expression regulation by epigenetic
mechanisms, adapted from (85-87)
Figure 1.6 Potential pathways for action of GLP1 to stimulate or increase β -cell
mass via PDX1, modified from (154)62

Effects of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on islet mRNA Figure 4.1 Figure 4.2 Effects of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on islet mRNA Figure 4.3 Effects of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on islet mRNA Figure 4.4 Relationships between (A) β -cell volume density and (B) β -cell mass and islet *IGF1* mRNA expression in the young lambs......135 Figure 4.5 Relationships between (A) Basal and (B) Maximal insulin disposition and islet GCK mRNA expression, and between (C) Basal and (D) Maximal insulin Relationships between in vitro insulin secretion at (A) basal 0 mM Figure 4.6 glucose and (B) stimulated 1.1 mM glucose and islet CACNA1D mRNA expression, and between in vitro insulin secretion at (C) basal 0 mM glucose and (D) stimulated 1.1

Figure 4.7 Relationships between islet mRNA expression of (A) IGF1R and (B
IGF2 and islet PDX1 mRNA expression in the young lambs
Figure 4.8 Relationships between islet PDX1 mRNA expression and islet mRNA
expression of (A) GCK, (B) SLC2A2, (C) INSR and (D) KCNJ11 in young lambs142
Figure 4.9 Relationships between islet mRNA expressions of (A) PDX1, (B) GCK
and (C) IGF1R and islet DNMT3A mRNA expression in the young lambs144
Figure 4.10 Relationship between islet GCK mRNA expression and islet DNMT31
mRNA expression in the young lambs

Effects of IUGR due to twinning and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on Figure 5.1 Effects of IUGR due to twinning and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on Figure 5.2 adiponectin mRNA expression in (A) omental and (B) subcutaneous fat in the young Figure 5.3 Relationships between plasma adiponectin concentration at 11 d of age Figure 5.4 Relationships between neonatal fractional weight growth rate and (A) average plasma adiponectin from birth to 16 d of age and (B) omental fat adiponectin mRNA expression......167 Figure 5.5 Relationships between in vitro insulin secretion at (A) basal 0mM glucose, (B) stimulated 1.1mM glucose and (C) stimulated 11.1mM glucose and plasma adiponectin at 6 d of age......170 Figure 5.6 Relationships between (A) absolute β -cell mass and (B) relative β -cell mass and plasma adiponectin at 11 d of age, and between (C) absolute β -cell mass and

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am very grateful to have met and worked with numerous people, without whom I believe this thesis could not have been written.

First of all, I would like to say thank you to all my supervisors, Professor Julie Owens, Dr Kathy Gatford and Dr Miles De Blasio, for their excellent guidance, support and encouragement throughout my whole candidature. I am eternally grateful to Julie for bringing me into her lab, the memories will always be with me till the end. Thank you for your exceptional expertise and knowledge, and your share of jokes, which are always the best as there are no words to describe them. I am so honoured to learn and work with you, thank you very much. Kathy, I am so thankful for the very decision that you made in accepting my honours application, which allowed me to take my first step into this research world and the JAO lab. I am much honoured to have worked and learnt from you, there are so many things I learnt from you that this page of acknowledgement alone does not suffice in describing them all. Miles, like most of the PhD students in the JAO lab, I also considered you as a mentor as well as a big brother of the lab. I am very grateful to all of your help and knowledge.

I would also want to thank Ms Lyn Harland for all technical help especially in regards to pancreas RNA extraction and islet isolations, and your expertise in primer sequencing and cloning. Thanks also to Ms Patricia Grant, for all the paper works and applications, without you, I would probably still be stuck in the madness of forms and paperwork. And, most grateful thank you to my beloved sister in research, Ms Saidatul Mohammed, for assisting me in many aspects of the experiments and working together for our PhD. Thank you also to Mr Simon Morretta and Ms Tasma How, for helping with sheep *in vivo* experiments and post-mortem. Thank you to the rest of JAO lab members, for keeping me positive and hopeful every day. Special thank you to Ms Ezani Mohammed Jamil and Mr Vincent Chu, for our special friendship and unforgettable memories. Thank you also to Mr Himawan Harryanto for constantly helping me when I had no one else to ask. And thank you to the rest of the lab members, Ms Wee-Ching Kong, Mrs Tulika Sundanathan, Mr Hong Liu, Mr. Gary Heinemann and Ms Amy Wooldridge, for making JAO lab more fun than ever. Lastly but not last, the rest of School of Paediatrics and Reproductive Health (SPRH), thank you for the help and exceptional encouragement.

Thank you to the University of Adelaide for giving me the scholarship and Professor Julie Owens and Dr Kathy Gatford, for additional scholarship, of which I believe, without these financial supports, I would not be able to complete my candidature.

Special thanks to my lovely friends to whom I have known for the past four years in Adelaide. Kak Alin, Kak Kay, Kak Shifa', Kak Nik, Intan, Ummu, Nasruna, Baitul Abrar, Zahratul Afia, Zahratul Hamra' and the rest (long list here!); thank you for supporting me and feeding me, I love the foods from you all.

Lastly, to my beloved parents, Sulaiman Yusoff and Inonushiah Abu Bakar, I am so grateful for everything. There is no word to describe how much both of you are to me, and I hope I can return all of these cares, love and supports. To my younger siblings, Zaharah and Faris, thanks for keeping up with this weird sister of yours, I love both of you so much.

STATEMENT OF ORIGINALITY AND AUTHENTICITY

I certify that this work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text. In addition, I certify that no part of this work will, in the future, be used in a submission for any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution without the prior approval of the University of Adelaide and where applicable, any partner institution responsible for the joint-award of this degree. I give consent to this copy of my thesis when deposited in the University Library, being made available for loan and photocopying, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968. The author acknowledges that copyright of published works contained within this thesis resides with the copyright holder(s) of those works. I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library catalogue and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

Signed,

Siti Aishah Sulaiman

Date: 18/12/2014

TABLE OF ABBREVIATIONS AND BIOCHEMICAL NAMES

ACTB	Beta cytoskeletal actin / β-actin
ADIPOQ	Adiponectin
ADP: ATP	Adenosine diphosphate: Adenosine triphosphate ratio
AGR	Absolute growth rate
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
arb. unit	Arbitrary unit
BMI	Body mass index
BUVL	Bilateral uterine artery ligation
CACNA1D	L-Type voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ channel subunit
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CON	Control group
CpG island	Cytosine-Guanine base pairing rich regions
CRL	Crown-rump length
CSIRO	Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation
Ct	Cycle threshold
CUG	Catch-up growth
DAB	3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNMT	DNA methyltransferase
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
DPP-IV	Enzyme dipeptidyl peptidase IV
FGR	Fractional growth rate
FOXA2	Forkhead box protein A2

GCK	Glucokinase
GIR	Glucose infusion rate
GLP1	Glucagon-like-peptide 1
HAT	Histone acetyltranferase
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
HEC	Hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic clamps
HMT	Histone methyltransferase
HOMA-IR	Homeostasis model, calculation of insulin sensitivity
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
IGF1	Insulin-like growth factor 1
IGF1R	Type 1 insulin-like growth factor receptor
IGF2	Insulin-like growth factor 2
IGF2R	Type 2 insulin-like growth factor receptor
IMVS	Institute Medical and Veterinary Science, Adelaide, Australia
INS	Insulin
INSR	Insulin receptor
IUGR	Intrauterine growth restriction
IUGR+Ex-4	IUGR lambs treated with exendin-4 as neonates
IUGR+Veh	IUGR lambs treated with vehicle as neonates
IVGTT	Intravenous glucose tolerance test
KCNJ11	A subunit of ATP-sensitive K^+ channel
KRB/BSA	Krebs Ringer buffer supplemented with bovine serum albumin
LB-Broth	Luria-Bertani broth
miRNA/miR	Micro ribonucleic acid, microRNA
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid

MTPN	Myotrophin
NADH	Reduced form of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NSW	New South Wales
OCT	Optimum cutting temperature embedding substrate
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDX1	Pancreatic duodenal homeobox-1
PIK3CB	PI-3-kinase, catalytic subunit beta
PIK3R1	PI-3-kinase, regulatory subunit 1
PR	Placental restriction
QC	Quality control
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RT PCR	Real Time PCR
SA	South Australia
S.C.	Subcutaneous
SGA	Small for gestational age
SLC2A2	Glucose transporter 2/Glut2
SLC2A4	Glucose transporter 4 / Glut4
T2D	Type 2 Diabetes
TCA cycle	Tricarboxylic acid cycle,
USA	United States of America
V	Voltage
V _d	Volume density

PUBLISHED PEER REVIEWED JOURNAL ARTICLE AND CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS ARISING FROM THIS THESIS

Neonatal exendin-4 reduces growth, fat deposition and glucose tolerance during treatment in the intrauterine growth-restricted lamb

Kathryn L Gatford^{1,3}, Siti A Sulaiman^{1,3}, Saidatul N B Mohammad¹, Miles J De Blasio¹, M Lyn Harland¹, Rebecca A Simmons², Julie A Owens¹

¹Research Centre for Early Origins of Health and Disease, Robinson Institute, and School of Paediatrics and Reproductive Health, University of Adelaide, SA 5005, Australia.

²Department of Paediatrics, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, USA.

³KLG and SAS are equal joint first authors.

PLOS ONE journal, 2013, volume 8, issue 2, page e56553. (Attached in Appendix)

Neonatal exendin-4 intervention treatment normalises islet insulin secretion and expression of its molecular determinants in the intrauterine growth restricted lambs

Siti A Sulaiman, Kathryn L Gatford, Miles J De Blasio, Saidatul N Mohammad, Julie A Owens.

August 2011: Faculty of Health Sciences 2011 Postgraduate Research Conference, Adelaide, Australia. (Poster Presentation by Siti A Sulaiman)

September 2011: *ESA/APEG Annual Scientific Meeting*, Perth, Australia. (Oral presentation by Siti A Sulaiman)

November 2011: 7th Asia Pacific Congress in Maternal Fetal Medicine, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. (Poster presentation by Siti A Sulaiman) Neonatal exendin-4 treatment in the twin IUGR lamb normalises *in vitro* islet insulin secretion and expression of its molecular determinants

Siti A Sulaiman, Kathryn L Gatford, Miles J De Blasio, Saidatul N Mohammad, Julie A Owens.

February 2011: *Fetal Neonatal Workshop of Australia and New Zealand*, Hobart, Australia. (Oral presentation by Kathryn L Gatford)

Neonatal Exendin-4 Treatment Increases β -cell Mass and Alters Islet Gene Expression in the IUGR Lamb

SA Sulaiman, KL Gatford, SN Mohammad, ML Harland, MJ De Blasio, RA Simmons, JS Robinson, JA Owens

September 2010: *ESA/SRB Scientific Meeting*, Sydney, Australia (Oral presentation by SA Sulaiman)

Neonatal exendin-4 treatment increases insulin secretion, beta-cell mass and decreases fat deposition in the IUGR lamb

Siti A Sulaiman, Kathryn L Gatford, Saidatul N Mohammad, M Lyn Harland, Miles J De Blasio, Rebecca A Simmons, Julie A Owens

June 2010: ASMR SA Scientific Meeting, Adelaide, Australia. (Poster presentation by Siti A Sulaiman)

Intervention strategies against programming of diabetes following IUGR

KL Gatford, SN Mohammad, SA Sulaiman, ML Harland, MJ De Blasio, AL Fowden, JS Robinson, JA Owens

2010: *PSANZ Scientific Meeting*, Wellington, New Zealand. (Oral presentation by KL Gatford)

Effects of exendin-4 on the growth-restricted twin lamb

KL Gatford, SA Sulaiman, MJ De Blasio, TA How, ML Harland, SN Mohammad, JA Owens

2009: PSANZ Scientific Meeting, Darwin, Australia. (Oral presentation by KL Gatford)

ABSTRACT

Low birth weight or intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) consistently predict increased risk of Type 2 diabetes (T2D) through impairment of glucose tolerance, insulin resistance and inadequate insulin secretion in humans (1, 2), as well as in many experimental studies in other species (3, 4). IUGR due to insufficient supply of fetal nutrients, decreased oxygen supply and elevated exposure to stress hormones are thought to 'program' the impairment of β -cell mass, function and plasticity which then contributes to development of diabetes later in life, as observed in humans (5-7) and animals (4, 8). Interestingly, administration of the glucagon-like-peptide 1 (GLP1) analogue exendin-4 to neonatal IUGR rats normalised subsequent β -cell mass and insulin secretion and prevented later development of T2D (9), thus providing a possible intervention strategy to prevent T2D following IUGR. However, there are differences in the timing of pancreatic and β -cell development between species and therefore in the developmental stages during exposure to IUGR and neonatal interventions. In humans and sheep, most pancreatic and β -cell development occurs before birth (10-17). In contrast, rodents undergo later development of β -cells than sheep or humans, with the majority of pancreatic remodelling occurred at postnatal ages (18-20). It is therefore necessary to test the efficacy of neonatal exendin-4 treatment in animal models such as sheep that share similar profile of pancreatic development and growth with humans (9, 21). Therefore, this thesis will address the effects of IUGR on β-cell mass and function, expression of their molecular determinants, as well as epigenetic modifications, and the possible involvement of altered circulating adiponectin abundance and expression in adipose tissue in the young lamb from birth to 16 d of age. The efficacy of neonatal exendin-4 treatment as a postnatal intervention to prevent these adverse effects of IUGR on metabolic outcomes will also be assessed.

Here, natural twin pregnancies were used as a model of IUGR in progeny and unrestricted singleton lambs as the controls. In each twin set, sibling twin lambs with high and low birth weights were alternately allocated to either vehicle or exendin-4 treatment. Effects of IUGR due to twinning and of neonatal exendin-4 treatment of the twin lambs on neonatal growth, pancreatic β -cell *in vivo* and *in vitro* insulin secretory function, β -cell mass and islet expression of key regulatory genes including microRNAs, epigenetic regulators, and adiponectin, and on adiponectin abundance were analysed.

IUGR due to twinning reduced size at birth and increased neonatal growth, without altering insulin sensitivity, in vivo insulin action, \beta-cell mass or islet mRNA expression of β -cell mass molecular determinants when compared to CON lambs. However, in vitro glucose-stimulated insulin secretion was increased in the IUGR twin lamb relative to controls (+420%, P = 0.081), consistent with up-regulation of islet mRNA expression of GCK in this group (+80%, P = 0.017), thus suggesting upregulated β -cell function at this age. Interestingly, IUGR twin lambs also had increased islet mRNA expression of DNMT3B relative to CON lambs (+96%, P = 0.027), which is responsible for de novo DNA methylation (22, 23). Islet mRNA expression of GCK was positively correlated with that of DNMT3B in the IUGR twin group, suggesting that altered islet GCK mRNA expression and β -cell function after IUGR may occur in part via epigenetic changes that may persist throughout life. In conjunction with enhanced β-cell function, up-regulation of adiponectin mRNA expression in omental fat (+72%, P = 0.008) and increased circulating adiponectin levels (P = 0.012) were also observed in the IUGR twin lamb group. Omental adiponectin mRNA expression and circulating adiponectin correlated positively with insulin secretion and β -cell mass

in combined control and IUGR twin lamb groups, suggesting that this adipokine may play a role in regulating neonatal insulin secretion.

Daily exendin-4 treatment of IUGR twin lambs during neonatal life prevented accelerated neonatal growth or catch up growth (CUG) and fat accumulation (-57%, P < 0.001), and normalised in vitro insulin secretion and GCK and DNMT3B mRNA expression in their islets, relative to vehicle-treated IUGR twins. This may retain adaptive capacity of β -cell function for later life. Glucose tolerance of twin IUGR lambs was impaired during exendin-4 treatment (+156%, P = 0.003) reflecting decreased insulin sensitivity (-46%, P = 0.002) in this group, despite having normal in vivo insulin secretion. This may be due to central actions of exendin-4 to inhibit food intake and insulin sensitivity (24-26). B-cell mass in IUGR twin lambs treated with exendin-4 tended to be higher than in their IUGR counterparts (+28%, P = 0.083), and consistent with this, islet mRNA expression of IGF1 and IGF2R was increased in this group (+62%, P = 0.058 and +63%, P = 0.005 respectively) when compared to controls. Moreover, in the IUGR+Ex-4 lambs, islet mRNA expression of PDX1 correlated positively with that of IGF1R, while IGF1 mRNA expression correlated positively with β -cell volume density, which may suggest hyperplastic effects of the IGF axis on β -cell mass during exendin-4 treatment. Despite the profound reduction in visceral fat mass induced by neonatal exendin-4 treatment, circulating adiponectin concentrations were not reduced in exendin-4-treated lambs, possibly due to upregulation of adiponectin expression in subcutaneous fat in these animals (+91%, P = 0.007). Nevertheless, the reduction in fat accumulation and normalised in vitro β -cell action of IUGR lambs during neonatal exendin-4 treatment suggest that neonatal exendin-4 might have beneficial effects on insulin-regulated glucose homeostasis in later life. These outcomes also demonstrate the biological activity of exendin-4 for the

first time in the sheep, at least in the context of individuals who had undergone growthrestriction before birth.

In conclusion, IUGR due to twinning induced CUG, early life up-regulation of in vitro β -cell insulin secretion and islet expression of its determinant, GCK, but did not alter in vivo insulin action, glucose tolerance or β -cell mass in young lambs at 16 d of age. These metabolic and molecular changes may be partly mediated by increases in circulating adiponectin and its expression in omental fat, as part of an adipose tissue response during neonatal fat deposition. Consistent with our hypothesis, neonatal exendin-4 treatment prevented this IUGR-induced CUG and decreased visceral fat deposition, increased 2nd phase insulin secretion in vivo, normalised in vitro insulin secretion and islet expression of its determinant, GCK, at the end of treatment in the IUGR twin lambs. Although exendin-4 treatment only tended to increase β-cell mass in young IUGR lamb, the up-regulation of islet expression of β -cell mass determinants after 16 days of exendin-4 treatment may suggest beneficial effects of exendin-4 to subsequently expand β -cell mass. This may protect the exendin-4-treated IUGR individual from a need to increase β -cell function, and preserve the capacity of β -cells for later plasticity of insulin secretion in response to the development of insulin resistance with ageing. Hence, a long term investigation is required to address how these changes following IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment at 16 d of age will affect β -cell function and mass and insulin action and their regulation in the IUGR sheep to adulthood.

CHAPTER 1

1 CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 OVERVIEW

Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is one of the major metabolic diseases, with worldwide prevalence of approximately 380 million people, and its prevalence is predicted to increase two-fold by 2035 (27). A previous study of 80-year-old Swedish men revealed that low birth weight (< 3000g) accounted for 18% of diabetes prevalence in the population (28). Consistent with this, low birth weight or intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) predict increased risk of T2D through impairment of glucose tolerance, insulin resistance and inadequate insulin secretion in humans (1, 2), as well as in animal studies (3, 4). Since insulin secretion varies inversely with insulin sensitivity to maintain adequate insulin certain (29), the failure of β -cells to up-regulate insulin secretion to compensate for the insulin resistance in T2D (30), suggests that there are some defects in β -cell mass and function and their adaptation following IUGR. This indicates that during IUGR, early life environment factors including limited oxygen and nutrient availability that restrict fetal growth may program β -cell mass, function and insulin action in later life.

A common cause of poor fetal growth, or IUGR, that restricts fetal supplies of oxygen and nutrients is impaired placental growth and/or function (31). In the sheep, surgically-induced restriction of placental growth (PR) from before mating produces low birth weight offspring and these PR lambs have impaired insulin sensitivity and blunted basal and glucose-stimulated insulin action at 1 year of age (8, 32). Impaired β -cell function is the primary cause of this inadequate insulin secretion, which occurs despite increases in β -cell mass in these 1 year old PR offspring (8). Similarly, experimentally-induced PR late in pregnancy in the rats produces progeny with low birth weight and normal insulin action at 1 week of age, but who later develop diabetes

as 26 weeks olds (3, 4). Impaired β -cell function with later reduction in β -cell mass are also implicated as causing the decreased postnatal insulin secretion of these PR rat progeny (3, 4). Importantly, in these PR rat progeny, expression of *PDX1*, a master regulator of pancreatic β -cell mass and function, becomes much lower than that in controls with postnatal aging in association with loss of β -cell function and β -cell mass (9, 21, 33). Moreover, *PDX1* expression is epigenetically down-regulated in PR rat progeny (21), which suggests that epigenetic programming of the developing β -cell during IUGR programs later β -cell mass and function possibly by silencing expression of *PDX1*. Thus, substrate and nutrient deprivation to the fetus due to IUGR and poor placental growth may in part induce epigenetic changes to the important genes that persist and maintain altered expression throughout life. Interestingly, administration of the GLP1 analogue exendin-4 to neonatal PR rats normalised subsequent β -cell mass and insulin secretion and prevented later development of T2D (9) and this was at least partially due to normalisation of *PDX1* expression (21).

Application of exendin-4 as an intervention strategy following IUGR to prevent development of T2D in humans requires additional investigation to these studies in the PR rat, since there are differences in the timing of pancreatic and β -cell development between species. In humans and sheep, most pancreatic development takes place before birth, with β -cells present as early as at 0.25 of gestation (10-17). In contrast, rodents undergo later development of β -cells than sheep or humans, with the majority of pancreatic remodelling occurring at postnatal ages (18-20). Thus, despite the positive outcomes of neonatal exendin-4 treatment in IUGR rats (9, 21), evaluation of exendin-4 treatment as a potential intervention to prevent development of T2D following IUGR in humans also requires evaluation of this intervention in animal models such sheep, that share similar timing of pancreatic development and growth as humans. Therefore, this

chapter will review the effects of IUGR on T2D and its determinants, insulin secretion and sensitivity, and describe β -cell mass and function and their key regulatory molecular determinants. Finally, I will discuss epigenetic modifications and adiponectin production, and how these may regulate insulin secretion, and its adaptation and plasticity following IUGR, and their contributions to development of T2D. The role of exendin-4 as a potential postnatal intervention strategy to prevent these adverse effects of IUGR on β -cell mass and function will also be discussed.

1.2 PREVALENCE OF TYPE 2 DIABETES (T2D)

Currently, the worldwide prevalence of T2D is approximately 380 million people and it is estimated to increase to 592 million people by 2035 (27). In Australia alone, more than 1.1 million people or 3.9% of the population, are reported to have T2D, with the same number again currently undiagnosed or in the early stages of diabetes (34). Critically, diabetes is also reported to be one of the top 10 leading causes of death in Australia, accounting for 2.9% of the total deaths in 2012, an increase from 2.8% in 2007, and 2.6% in 2003 (35), thus indicating a rise of this epidemic disease burden in the Australian population. The increasing prevalence of T2D in Australia is a major economic burden on the health budget. In 2008-2009, \$1.5 billion was spent on diabetes in Australia (36) while \$548 billion was spent worldwide in the management of the disease (27). Moreover, T2D has been recognised as one of the main causes of heart and renal diseases, stroke, foot ulceration, gangrene and also visual impairment up to and including blindness (37). Developing effective measures to slow this epidemic has therefore become a national and international priority.

1.3 T2D AND INSULIN ACTION

T2D is a result of impaired insulin action, due to the failure of insulin secretion to increase appropriately in response to increasing demand or insulin resistance (29). Pancreatic endocrine β -cells produce and secrete insulin to act on skeletal muscle and adipocytes, stimulating these tissues and cells to increase their glucose uptake from the blood and thus reducing the blood glucose level (29). Insulin also acts on the liver where it suppresses gluconeogenesis as well as promoting glucose storage as glycogen (29). Normally, insulin secretion varies inversely with insulin sensitivity to maintain adequate insulin action (Figure 1.1, 29). However, in T2D, insulin secretion fails to upregulate adequately to compensate for insulin resistance (30), which suggests that there are defects in β -cell mass and function and their adaptability or plasticity in T2D.



Figure 1.1 Hyperbolic relationship between insulin sensitivity and insulin secretion, modified from (29).

 β -cells normally adjust their insulin secretion for different levels of insulin sensitivity to maintain adequate insulin action in a hyperbolic relationship (black line). However, in the case of diabetes, insulin secretion fails to up-regulate adequately to compensate for insulin resistance (grey line).

1.4 SIZE AT BIRTH AND T2D

IUGR refers to poor fetal growth due to restricted nutrients and oxygen supply during gestation, which prevents the fetus from achieving its growth potential (38). Since human studies often lack direct measures of fetal growth, many studies use small for gestational age (SGA), defined as having a birth weight less than 10th percentile at a given gestational age (39), as a surrogate marker of IUGR, while some studies that lack gestational age data have used low birth weight as an indicator of IUGR. In a study of 64-year-old men, those who were lighter at birth had poorer glucose tolerance, and increased fasting plasma glucose and insulin, which are indicators of insulin resistance (40). Subsequently, systematic reviews have confirmed these associations between increased risks of impaired glucose tolerance and diabetes and lower birth weights in humans (1, 2, 41), independent of gestational length (42). This effect is significant, as low birth weight (< 3000 g) accounted for 18% of the diabetes prevalence in 80-yearold Swedish men, and their risk of diabetes decreased by 53% for every 1 kg increase in their birth weight (28). As fetal growth rates and size are substantially dependent on nutrients and oxygen supply during gestation, these associations between IUGR and later T2D may reflect the effects of an adverse early life environment on development of β -cell function, mass and their adaptation in later life (43).

1.5 EARLY LIFE ORIGINS OF IMPAIRED INSULIN ACTION

Hales and Barker (1992) proposed the 'Thrifty phenotype hypothesis' or 'Fetal origins of adult disease hypothesis' whereby prenatal deprivation causes the fetus to adapt to survive by slowing growth and preserving critical organs and tissues at the expense of others, including the β -cells in the pancreas that make insulin and the organs that respond to insulin (44). This process is also referred to as 'fetal programming of

adult disease', when these insults occur at critical stages of development and initiate changes that then persist throughout life (44, 45, reviewed by, 46, 47). These fetal survival adaptations however, become detrimental when postnatal nutrition is greater than that of the nutritional environment that occurred prenatally (48).

Although the term 'programming' describes the process of an insult at critical stages of development that induces changes which persist throughout life, the term 'developmental plasticity' is more appropriate to describe this process in context of biological and metabolic consequences (reviewed by, 46, 47). The formal definition of 'developmental plasticity' is the ability of a single genotype to produce more than one alternative form of structure, physiological state or behaviour in response to environmental conditions (47). Thus, Bateson and colleagues (2004) proposed that individuals who have poor nutrition in early life and develop a small-sized phenotype, the expected adult life outcomes may be variable (48). However, they are predicted to be worse when the postnatal environment has far greater nutritional availability than that experienced prenatally (48). This general model is in agreement with the 'thrifty phenotype hypothesis', whereby the prenatal fetal adaptation may induce adverse consequences in the offspring when there is a relative excess in postnatal nutrition (reviewed by, 46, 47). Nevertheless, it is important for evolutionary and reproductive survival that fetal adaptations in the prenatal environment occur, and not all of those responses to the prenatal environment are predictive of postnatal outcomes (46). It is also unknown whether these responses are 'adaptive' or 'predictive', but they did result in the programming of decreased functional capacity (46). The fact that T2D emerges in IUGR individuals with impaired insulin secretion and the onset of insulin resistance is in adulthood suggests that restored or excess nutrition after birth may expose any defects in insulin action following IUGR (49).

To assess the relative contributions of insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity to impaired insulin action in low birth weight or IUGR individuals, a systematic review of 48 studies revealed that low birth weight consistently predicted insulin resistance or reduced insulin sensitivity (17 out of 22 studies). These include studies where insulin sensitivity was measured indirectly using calculation of insulin sensitivity or directly "gold-standard technique" to insulin sensitivity; using the measure the hyperinsulinaemic-euglycaemic clamp (HEC, 1). One example is a study that assessed insulin sensitivity using the HEC in 28 SGA 9-year-old prepubertal children, compared to 22 born appropriate for gestational age (AGA) children, in which SGA children were insulin resistant when compared to AGA children, although they did have normal insulin action (50). In a younger cohort of 55 SGA and 13 AGA children from birth to 3 years of age, an indirect calculation of insulin sensitivity using the homeostasis model (HOMA-IR) was used (7). In this study (7), SGA neonates were initially more insulin sensitive immediately after birth, but then developed insulin resistance and reduced insulin action by 1 year of age when compared to the AGA group. Despite the differences in the measurement of insulin sensitivity methods, both studies reported that insulin resistance emerges during childhood (7).

In contrast to the positive relationship between birth weight and insulin sensitivity, at least after the first year of life, the relationships between insulin secretion and low birth weight identified in the systematic review were less consistent, with negative (16 studies), positive (6 studies) or no association (7 studies) variously reported (1). These variable findings may reflect effects of both demand and capacity on insulin secretion. Thus, lower plasma insulin may be due to either high insulin sensitivity (in which case it is adequate to meet demand) or β -cell secretory dysfunction (when low insulin may reflect insufficient secretion relative to demand), and measures
of basal or stimulated insulin secretion do not differentiate appropriate from inadequate insulin secretion. An accurate measurement of insulin secretion therefore requires independent measures of insulin secretion and sensitivity, so that insulin secretion can be calculated relative to the sensitivity, and this is known as insulin disposition (29).

Limited studies of insulin disposition after IUGR are available, and these suggest that insulin disposition is impaired after IUGR. For example, in one study comparing 20 SGA and 20 AGA 19 year-old Caucasian men, insulin secretion was measured by intravenous glucose tolerance test (IVGTT) and insulin sensitivity by HEC (6). In this study, SGA men had normal insulin sensitivity and insulin secretion when compared to AGA men (6). When insulin secretion was a expressed relative to insulin sensitivity, however, insulin disposition was 30% lower in SGA men compared to AGA men (6). This suggests that insulin secretion is impaired following IUGR and that this impairment can be present before insulin resistance emerges. In contrast, the authors of a second study which compared 26 SGA and 25 AGA 25 year-old young adults, which used the same techniques to independently measure insulin secretion and sensitivity, reported that the SGA young adults had normal insulin disposition, despite being insulin resistant (5). This suggests that a β -cell compensatory increase of insulin secretion may have occurred to maintain normal insulin action in the SGA group (5).

The effect of IUGR on insulin disposition has also been studied in children. One study compared between 28 SGA and 22 AGA 9 year-old Caucasian children, and also used the same techniques as the adult studies described above to independently measure insulin secretion and sensitivity (50). In this study, SGA children had normal insulin secretion and disposition when compared to AGA children, despite being insulin resistant (50). In a younger cohort of 55 SGA and 13 AGA children studied from birth to 3 years of age, insulin secretion was also measured by IVGTT and insulin sensitivity

by HOMA-IR (7). In this study, SGA neonates were initially more insulin sensitive than AGA neonates immediately after birth, but developed insulin resistance by 1 year of age (7). Consequently, these SGA children had lower insulin disposition compared to the AGA group by 3 years of age (7). These contradictory results from two studies in children may reflect their methodological differences in measuring insulin sensitivity, but may also be due to the early postnatal catch-up growth (CUG) that the younger cohort of SGA children exhibited (7) to a greater extent than the older cohort. Therefore, reduced insulin disposition in younger cohort (7) may reflect a greater postnatal challenge to insulin secretory capacity of increased nutrient intake and growth. Long-term increased demand for insulin secretion due to increased nutrient intake can exhaust insulin secretory capacity, and depending on its extent, may interact with prenatal programming of impairment to cause insulin secretory deficits to emerge at varying times in early life (43, 51). IUGR may also cause defects in β -cell function (52) and/or impair the capacity to increase β -cell function and mass in response to insulin resistance (53). The nature of the precise defects induced by IUGR is unclear, as is their molecular and cellular basis, but there are several known processes that may be affected including reduced β -cell function and mass due to reduced expression of their molecular determinants (43).

1.6 DETERMINANTS OF β -CELL FUNCTION, MASS AND PLASTICITY

1.6.1 Regulation of β-cell function, mass and plasticity

The endocrine β -cells of the pancreas are able to vary the total capacity for insulin secretion (termed plasticity) in response to insulin demand through two routes, either by changing the number or size (mass) of β -cells or by altering intrinsic β -cell insulin secretory function, including glucose sensing (44). β -cell mass can be increased

by neogenesis (formation of new β -cells), replication (division of existing β -cells) or hypertrophy (increase in size of existing β -cells), or reduced by apoptosis (Figure 1.2). A range of transcription and growth factors regulate these processes and with insulinlike growth factor-2 (*IGF2*, 54, 55) and pancreatic duodenal homeobox-1 (*PDX1*, 55, 56, 57) in particular having major roles in regulation of β -cell mass. In addition to PDX1 and IGF2, β -cell mass can be increased by other regulatory factors, such as insulin (*INS*) and its receptor (*INSR*, 58) and insulin-substrate 2 (*IRS2*, 59) and RAC- β serine/threonine protein kinase (*AKT2*, 60).



Figure 1.2 Regulation of β -cell mass and its molecular determinants.

 \rightarrow indicates positive regulation and \perp , indicates inhibition. IGF2 = insulin-like growth factor-2, PDX1 = pancreatic duodenal homeobox-1, IRS2 = insulin-substrate 2 and AKT2 = RAC- β serine/threonine protein kinase. Regulation of β -cell function is determined by glucose uptake and metabolism, and activation of downstream pathways that result in insulin secretion (Figure 1.3). Glucose is transported into the β -cell by glucose transporter 2 (*SLC2A2*), and is phosphorylated by glucokinase (*GCK*, 61). Then, a series of metabolic steps in the cytoplasm and mitochondria increase the ADP:ATP ratio in cytoplasm, leading to membrane depolarisation and opening of calcium channels which in turn promotes exocytosis of insulin containing vesicles (61). Because *PDX1* directly up-regulates β cell expression of *INS* (62), *SLC2A2* (63) and *GCK* (64), increases in *PDX1* expression can effectively up-regulate insulin secretion, and decreased *PDX1* expression after IUGR, shown to date in the PR rat (21), is likely to impair β -cell function. Other mediators such as *KCNJ11* (a subunit of the ATP-sensitive K⁺ channel) and *CACNA1D* (a subunit of the L-Type voltage-gated Ca⁺² channel) are also important to β -cell function as their gene expressions strongly correlated with impaired β -cell secretory function in an ovine model of IUGR (8).



Figure 1.3 Regulation of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in pancreatic β cells, adapted from (61).

indicates movement of molecules, \rightarrow indicates positive regulation and \perp , indicates inhibition, *SLC2A2* = glucose transporter 2 gene, *GCK* = glucokinase gene, *INS* = insulin gene, KCNJ11 = a subunit of the ATP-sensitive K⁺ channel, CACNA1D = a subunit of the L-Type voltage-gated Ca⁺² channel, NADH = Reduced form of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide, TCA cycle = Tricarboxylic acid cycle, ADP = Adenosine diphosphate, ATP = Adenosine triphosphate.

1.6.2 PDX1

PDX1 is a transcription factor which acts prenatally and postnatally as a master regulator of pancreatic and β -cell development and function (56). Homozygous PDX1 knockout (PDX1^{-/-}) mice exhibit an absence of pancreatic development during gestation and these mice die a few days after birth (65), which indicates that PDX1 is essential for prenatal β -cell development. Heterozygous *PDX1* knockout mice (*PDX1*^{+/-}) are viable, but have an impairment in plasticity of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion compared to PDX1^{+/+} mice, despite having normal fasting glucose, insulin content and β -cell mass (66). This was demonstrated by cross breeding $PDX1^{+/-}$ mice with insulin resistant mice $(GLUT4^{+/-})$ to assess the β -cell response in the presence of insulin resistance (66). PDX1^{+/-}GLUT4^{+/-} progeny had impaired in vivo glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and glucose tolerance with progressive increases in fasting blood glucose with ageing, despite an increased β -cell mass when compared to control mice and mice heterozygous for only one of the two defects (66). These results indicate that a deficiency of *PDX1* expression leads to failure of compensatory increases in β -cell secretory function in response to insulin demand or resistance, although β -cell mass did increase when challenged (66). In a study with multiple cross-breeding of heterozygous $PDX1^{+/-}$ mice with different types of insulin resistant mice, the SLC2A2 protein was almost completely absent from the islets of all mice that only carried a single allele for PDX1 (67). This suggests that a deficiency of PDX1 may at least in part impair glucose-stimulated insulin secretion via down-regulation of SLC2A2. Moreover, PDX1 directly regulates expression of INS (62) and GCK (64), both determinants of insulin secretion by β -cells. Together these studies show that *PDX1* expression is not only important for regulating prenatal β -cell development and growth, but it is also important for postnatal β -cell maintenance and adaptation.

This capacity of the pancreas and β -cell to adapt to changes in insulin demand is critical in maintaining insulin action. Understanding how these processes and their underlying molecular determinants can be influenced by substrate deprivation and IUGR before birth is required. In addition to potential changes in the processes regulating plasticity, there is also limited evidence that severe IUGR reduces the β -cell mass at birth in humans. In a study of 6 IUGR compared to 10 AGA infants, IUGR infants had smaller islets and a reduced percentage of insulin producing β -cells in the pancreas when compared to the AGA group (68). Similar effects of IUGR on β -cell mass have been reported in other species. Experimentally-induced IUGR in sheep reduced pancreatic mass in late gestation fetuses (143 days gestational age), and fetal weight correlated positively with absolute β -cell mass (8). In rats, IUGR offspring from placentally-restricted pregnancies had progressive reduction in β -cell mass with ageing relative to offspring from control pregnancies (4), consistent with their progressive silencing of PDX1 expression, leading to onset of frank diabetes by adulthood (21, 33). As yet, however, how IUGR causes impairment of β -cell mass, function and their molecular determinants requires further and more extensive verification.

1.6.3 MicroRNA

Recently, microRNAs (miRNA) have been recognised as a new class of molecular regulators of β -cell development and insulin secretion. MicroRNAs are short single-stranded non-coding RNAs (18-22 nucleotides in length) which are able to negatively regulate gene expression by binding to complementary sites in the target messenger RNA (mRNA) at the 3' untranslated regions (69). MicroRNAs are synthesised in the nucleus and exported out to the cytoplasm where the enzyme Dicer cuts the double-stranded miRNAs into single-stranded miRNA (Figure 1.4, 70). One

strand of the miRNAs is incorporated into a complex with the Argonaute 2 protein to form a RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC). The RISC complex binds to the target mRNA and can lead to two different outcomes. A perfect complementary binding between miRNA and its target mRNA will lead to mRNA degradation, while 'incomplete matching' binding will lead to translational repression of the mRNA (70). Since one miRNA can target many genes (71), the idea of miRNAs forming coordinated regulatory networks (72, 73) to stimulate changes in expression of multiple genes is promising and may explain their regulatory role.



Figure 1.4 Bio-synthesis of microRNAs, adapted from (70).

indicates molecular process and \rightarrow indicates enzyme action, RISC = RNAinduced silencing complex.

Several miRNAs have been shown to be important in β -cell development and function. One of these miRNAs is miRNA-124a (miR-124a), which is abundantly expressed in islets (74) and targets FOXA2, a transcriptional activator of the PDX1 gene (75). Over-expression of miR-124a in insulin-producing cell lines suppressed FOXA2 expression and subsequently reduced the mRNA expression of its downstream targets, PDX1 and INS (75). Another miRNA that is also abundantly expressed in islets is miRNA-375 (miR-375), which down-regulates mRNA expression of the Myotrophin (MTPN) gene required for exocytosis of insulin vesicles (76, 77). A third miRNA candidate regulator of β -cell development and function is miRNA-7 (miR-7), which is also highly expressed in endocrine islets (77). Inhibition of miR-7 using antisense miRNA in mice embryos reduced insulin synthesis and β -cell number in newborn pups, suggesting that this miRNA is important for pancreatic development (78). Importantly, these mice develop impaired glucose tolerance postnatally (78), which suggests that suppression of miR-7 in early life has permanent effects to lead to these adverse effects postnatally. Whether gene expression of these miRNAs is altered following IUGR and contributes to any change in *PDX1* expression as part of the development of diabetes is still unknown, however, and therefore requires further investigation.

1.6.4 Epigenetic regulation of β-cell mass and function

Programming of β -cell development in early life by restriction of placental growth and substrate supply to the fetus, leading to functional impairment later in life, may occur in part via epigenetic changes that persist and maintain altered gene expression throughout life. Epigenetics describes processes including the modification of chromosomes and associated structures that change gene expression without altering the nucleotide sequence of DNA (79-81). These epigenetic modifications can be stable

and heritable from one cell generation to the next (79). Epigenetic modifications explain the variability of gene expression between different cell types even though each shares the same genome (80, 81). Within chromosomes, DNA strands are looped around histone protein complexes to form nucleosomes, which are the base units of chromatin (Figure 1.5, 82, 83). These nucleosomes are usually closely packed together (heterochromatin) and chromatin state determines the state of gene expression. A loosely packed chromatin (euchromatin) provides an accessible region for transcription factors to bind to DNA and initiate gene expression (84, 85). Thus any mechanisms that can change the state of nucleosome packing will change gene expression.



Figure 1.5 Schematic diagram of gene expression regulation by epigenetic mechanisms, adapted from (85-87).

Reversible epigenetics modifications on chromatin change its state from heterochromatin (closed) to euchromatin (open), through the actions of enzymes such acetyltransferase (HAT), histone deacetylase (HDAC) and histone histone as methyltransferase (HMT). Methylation of DNA sequences on cytosine-guanine base pairing rich regions (CpG islands) is facilitated by DNA methyltransferase (DNMTs) enzymes which promote binding of methyl binding domain (MBD) proteins to further silences the genes. \iff , indicates reversible process and \land , indicates enzyme action.

There are many types of epigenetic marks, however, the best characterised are histone protein modifications by acetylation and methylation and DNA methylation (85-87). Acetylation of histone proteins usually occurs at the ε -amine group of the Nterminal tails of H3K and H4K proteins, and is regulated by the histone acetyltransferase (HAT) enzyme that adds acetyl groups and by histone deacetylase (HDAC) enzymes that remove them (Figure 1.5, 85, 86, 87). Acetylation of histone loosens the structure of nucleosomes (promotes a euchromatin state) and thus provides an accessible area of the DNA for transcription factors to initiate gene expression (85-87). Conversely, removal of the acetyl groups on histone proteins favours the formation of heterochromatin and silences the gene (85-87). In contrast to histone acetylation, methylation of histone proteins has variable effects on the status of the genes depending on the location of methylation on the histone proteins (Figure 1.5, 85). Transfer of mono-(me1), di-(me2) and tri-(me3) methyl groups to lysine (K) in different locations within the histone proteins by the histone methyltransferase (HMT) promote either euchromatin or heterochromatin status (85, 88). For example, mono- or di-methylation of histone 3 residue K 4 (H3K4me1 or H3K4me2) are markers for euchromatin, whereas mono-methylation of histone 3 residue K 9 (H3K9me1) is a marker of heterochromatin (88). These combinations of histone modifications are often referred to as the histone codes and describe the position and type of the modification at differing histone proteins and their amino acid residues (86, 87).

DNA methylation involves the transfer of a methyl group by DNA methyltransferase enzymes (DNMTs) to a cytosine base of the DNA adjacent to a guanosine base (CpG site), and usually occurs in cytosine-guanine base pairing rich regions (CpG islands, 89, 90). There are 3 known DNMTs (22, 91), which are DNA methyltransferase 1 enzyme (DNMT1), DNA methyltransferase 3A (DNMT3A) and

3B (DNMT3B). DNMT1 maintains methylation patterns during cell replication (22, 91) and is primarily involved during DNA repair and maintenance (reviewed by, 23, 92, 93). DNMT3A and DNMT3B cause *de novo* methylation to establish and maintain genomic methylation patterns (22, 23) and thus determine DNA methylation status of the genes throughout life. Methylation of the CpG island is usually tissue-specific and reflects the status of specific genes; either transcriptionally active or repressed (89, 90). Highly methylated CpG islands usually promote the binding of methyl-CpG-binding domain protein (MBD) and block the binding of transcriptional activators, thus silencing gene expression (86, 87), while low methylation levels in CpG islands allows association of the promoter with gene transcriptional activators and actives gene expression (Figure 1.5, 94).

DNA methylation involves the transfer of a methyl group by DNA methyltransferase enzymes (DNMTs) to a cytosine base of the DNA adjacent to a guanosine base (CpG site), and usually occurs in cytosine-guanine base pairing rich regions (CpG islands, 89, 90). There are 3 known DNMTs (22, 91); DNA methyltransferase 1 enzyme (DNMT1), DNA methyltransferase 3A (DNMT3A) and 3B (DNMT3B). DNMT1 maintains methylation patterns during cell replication (22, 91) and is primarily involved during DNA repair and maintenance (reviewed by, 23, 92, 93). DNMT3A and DNMT3B cause de novo methylation to establish and maintain genomic methylation patterns (22, 23) and thus determine DNA methylation status of the genes throughout life. Methylation of the CpG island is usually tissue-specific and reflects the status of specific genes; either transcriptionally active or repressed (89, 90). Highly methylated CpG islands usually promote the binding of methyl-CpG-binding domain protein (MBD) and block the binding of transcriptional activators, thus silencing gene expression (86, 87), while low methylation levels in CpG islands allow

association of the promoter with gene transcriptional activators and activates gene expression (Figure 1.5, 94).

DNA methylation and histone modifications can be affected by nutrient availability during gestation and may be involved in β -cell growth, development and function. In mice, supplementing diets of females with methyl donors before and during pregnancy permanently increased the methylation status of the axin fused gene in the offspring (95). This led to a change in phenotype, because methylation of axin fused gene in offspring correlated negatively with the kinkiness of their tails (95). This suggests that nutrient availability during prenatal life can induce epigenetic changes in the gene and lead to a different phenotype later in life; a concept termed epigenetic programming. Thus, epigenetic state and expression of genes that are involved in β -cell growth, development and function might be altered due to the reduction of maternal nutrient and oxygen supply leading to IUGR, and epigenetic programming might underlie effects of IUGR on β -cell growth, development and function. Consistent with this theory, in experimentally-induced IUGR rats IUGR triggered progressive epigenetic silencing of the PDX1 promoter region leading to onset of diabetes (21). A restricted environment during late gestation in these rats reduced histone acetylation by HDAC, promoting tighter packing of the chromatin and thus blocking transcription, associated with a 50% reduction in PDX1 expression at birth (21). After birth, the continuing loss of histone acetylation promoted the methylation of histone proteins which progressively further suppressed PDX1 expression. By adulthood, DNA methylation had occurred, which caused permanently reduced PDX1 expression (21). To what extent IUGR could lead to permanent changes in epigenetic status of β -cell genes in non-rodent species including humans is still unknown, and requires investigation.

1.6.5 Adiponectin regulation of β-cell mass and function

Adiponectin is a hormone secreted by adipose tissues which modulates metabolism, including insulin sensitivity and adiposity (96, 97). Adiponectin promotes insulin sensitivity by stimulating fatty acid oxidation and glucose uptake into muscle and liver (98, 99). Adiponectin is present in cord blood (100, 101) and is produced by the placenta and fetus (102, 103), with its concentration higher in cord blood and newborns compared to adults in humans (101, 104). Adiponectin can be detected in the serum and plasma in multiple forms including in a full complex globular form, andless complex forms as high, medium or low molecular weight adiponectin (105). In previous epidemiological studies low adiponectin concentrations are associated with increased risks of cardiovascular diseases such as diabetes (106-108) and obesity (109). More specifically, the high molecular weight form of adiponectin in the plasma is correlated positively with glucose tolerance in humans (110).

The impact of IUGR on adiponectin levels in early postnatal life is unclear. In a study of 20 SGA and 20 AGA newborn humans, both groups had similar plasma adiponectin concentrations in neonatal blood (100). Similarly, plasma adiponectin concentration in cord blood was similar between SGA and AGA newborns in a larger cohort of 50 SGA and 50 AGA individuals (111). Conversely, two other studies in similar (49 SGA and 41 AGA) or smaller (28 IUGR and 34 AGA) cohorts of neonates have reported that plasma adiponectin concentrations were lower in the SGA groups (112, 113). These discrepancies in the findings may be due to the facts that all the above studies did not consistently classify IUGR, with some defining SGA as having birth weight below the 3rd percentile (100, 113, 114) or 10th percentile (112), or having birth weight less than 2.5 kg (111). Subsequently, plasma adiponectin was reduced in SGA children aged 6-8 years old together and these SGA children had greater visceral

adiposity and insulin resistance compared to AGA children (115, 116). Plasma adiponectin varies inversely with weight gain and body fat mass in non-obese children (117) and adults (106). Therefore, adiponectin deficiency in IUGR neonates and young children may be a predisposing factor for later development of visceral adiposity in life. Interestingly, in a study of SGA prepubertal children, serum adiponectin was increased in lean SGA children compared to lean AGA children (118). In the same study, overweight SGA children had reduced serum adiponectin and were more insulin resistant than to lean SGA (118), consistent with the inhibition of adiponectin production in response to increasing weight or fat mass as seen in normal individuals (109). Therefore, adiponectin deficiency in early life and in childhood may predict the risk of adiposity which in turn contributes to development of insulin resistance and increased risk of T2D following IUGR.

In addition to potential effects via adiposity, adiponectin directly up-regulates insulin secretion and action. Treating mouse islets with adiponectin stimulated insulin secretion via increasing exocytosis of insulin granules as well as enhancing *INS* mRNA expression (119). Similarly, incubating mouse islets *in vitro* with two doses of adiponectin (2.5 and 5 ug.ml⁻¹) together with glucose for 1 h increased glucosestimulated insulin secretion when compared to islets incubated in glucose alone (120). In the same study, incubation of mouse islets *in vitro* with 3 doses of adiponectin (2.5, 5 and 10 ug.ml⁻¹) for 24 h increased mRNA expression of *PDX1* (120), which may suggest that *PDX1* is a target molecule or pathway for induction of insulin secretion by adiponectin in β -cells. In islets from insulin-resistant mice, adiponectin inhibited insulin secretion at low concentrations of glucose and stimulated insulin secretion at high glucose concentrations (121). This suggests that adiponectin action on β -cells is influenced by glucose levels and the presence of insulin resistance. Together these findings imply that adiponectin is not just involved in insulin resistance and adiposity, but may also play role in regulating insulin secretion, and reduced adiponectin abundance may therefore contribute to the impairment in β -cell function following IUGR.

1.7 EFFECTS OF EXPERIMENTAL IUGR DUE TO RESTRICTED PLACENTAL FUNCTION ON INSULIN ACTION

Poor placental growth or function is one of the most common causes of human IUGR in developed countries (122). The placenta is an organ that connects mother and fetus, delivering the essential components for fetal growth, from maternal to fetal blood. Restriction of placental growth and function impairs delivery of nutrients and oxygen to the fetus, which then leads to IUGR (reviewed by, 123). Experimental models of restricted placental function (PR) have therefore been used to explore effects of IUGR on insulin action in progeny.

Several of the earliest studies in animal models of PR assessed the effects of PR in rats on the development of diabetes in the offspring in later life. In these studies, PR was induced in rats by bilateral uterine artery ligation (BUVL) in the mother on day 19 of gestation (term 22 days) to restrict oxygen and nutrient supply to fetuses in late pregnancy (4, 124). The severity of PR effects on the fetuses depends on their proximity to the ligation sites (124). Progeny that survived and were included in postnatal studies have therefore experienced varying levels of growth restriction in the gestation, which is reflected on their birth weight and size. Fetal consequences of PR-induced growth restriction for Sprague-Dawley rats included reduced plasma glucose, oxygen and insulin concentrations with evidence of acidosis (125, 126), consistent with effects of IUGR on nutrient and hormone concentrations in human fetuses (127, 128).

Sprague-Dawley PR rat progeny were smaller and lighter at birth, but gained more weight after weaning and eventually surpassed control progeny in body weight (4). With aging, these Sprague-Dawley PR progeny became obese and developed diabetes with progressive development of impaired glucose tolerance and insulin secretion (4). Importantly, this impaired insulin secretion was present in neonates and worsened with ageing (4), indicating that β -cell secretory defects were present early in postnatal life following IUGR. In contrast, PR did not induce obesity or insulin resistance in Wistar-Kyoto adult rats, despite the progeny also having lighter birth weights and impaired glucose-stimulated insulin secretion compared to progeny of control pregnancies (129, reviewed by, 130, 131). The reasons for these differences in the metabolic effects of PR between the two rat strains are unclear, although possibilities include genetic susceptibility to the prenatal challenge and differences in litter sizes and use of cross-fostering between studies (130-133).

PR can also be experimentally induced in sheep and leads to similar metabolic consequences as occur after human IUGR. In sheep, the majority of visible endometrial caruncles (attachment sites) in the uterus are surgically removed before pregnancy to induce PR (134, 135). These sites allow the embryo to attach to the uterus and form the placenta (134, 135). Surgical reduction in the number of placental attachment sites restricts placental growth and causes restriction of nutrient and oxygen delivery to the fetus and its subsequent growth (134, 135). These PR fetal sheep had lower plasma glucose and evidence of hypoxia and acidosis (136-140) consistent with effects on the fetus of PR in rats (125, 126) and IUGR in humans (127, 128). Moreover, the PR fetal sheep has impaired glucose or arginine-stimulated insulin secretion (at 120 and 140 gestational age respectively), but no change in insulin sensitivity or insulin disposition (140). In small sheep fetuses that have less β -cell mass, enhanced glucose-stimulated

insulin disposition is observed with normal insulin sensitivity (8, 140), indicating that an increase in β -cell function occurs to compensate for the low number of β -cells. These findings suggest that PR and IUGR can induce changes in insulin secretion and β -cell function, which are present in prenatal life. In young IUGR lambs, in the presence of catch up growth following IUGR, basal but not maximal insulin disposition was negatively correlated with birth weight, (8, 32, 141), which further suggests an enhancement of β -cell function in the basal state as a compensatory mechanism to enhance insulin action after IUGR in growing lambs. With aging, lower basal and maximal insulin disposition was observed in IUGR adult sheep, even though there was a compensatory increase in β -cell mass (8, 32). This indicates that β -cell function failed to respond to the increase in insulin demand, due to developing insulin resistance in adulthood in PR sheep.

Intriguingly, twin pregnancies in sheep can also be used as a natural model of IUGR due to competition for placental implantation sites which results in moderate prenatal deprivation of oxygen and nutrients, and consequently caused lower birth weight in comparison to singleton sheep (142, 143). Similar to IUGR/PR effects, twinning in sheep reduced insulin, IGFs and amino acids supply to the fetuses (143). However, limited studies of postnatal glucose control and insulin action in twin lambs are available. One study of twin lambs characterised lighter twins and heavier twins according to their birth weight and found that lighter twins had greater glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity but slower growth compared to heavier twins at 6-month-old (144). These metabolic differences were however absent by 1 year of age when their body weights were similar between the groups (144). In a different study, the authors compared twin lambs to singleton lambs and showed that twin lambs had normal glucose tolerance, insulin sensitivity in comparison to singleton.

lambs at 10 months of age (145). Importantly in this study (145), weight gain during growth was positively associated with insulin secretion from birth to weaning, and negatively associated with insulin secretion from weaning to 10 months of age in all lamb groups, similar to previously observed relationships in PR lambs (8, 32, 141). These moderate implications of IUGR due to twinning on postnatal glucose control and insulin action in the twin lambs and adults are influenced by the weight gain in first few months of life in these twins (145). It is possible that competition for milk supply restricts postnatal catch-up growth and at least partially protects twins from the adverse metabolic effects of IUGR coupled with accelerated neonatal growth. It is therefore possible that if milk availability is increased for twin lambs, more substantial effects of IUGR on postnatal growth and insulin action may be evident.

Although both of these experimental models (rat and sheep) give insight into how PR may program the development of metabolic disease in later life, there are important differences in the timing of pancreatic and β -cell development between species. In humans, sheep and pig, the first insulin-positive cells are detected in fetuses at about 25% of term gestation and islets are present in mid-gestation (10-14). β -cell functional maturation and pancreatic remodelling, in which β -cells mature from a fetal to adult-type phenotype, mainly occurs before birth in humans and sheep (10-14). This maturation of β -cells involves the shift in β -cell insulin secretion from being responsive to amino acids such as arginine, to being more glucose-responsive (16). In contrast, the rat pancreas develops later in gestation compared to humans and sheep, with the first insulin positive cells able to be detected at ~60% of gestation and pancreatic remodelling occurring at ~10-17 d postnatal age (16, 18-20). These differences in the timing of pancreatic and β -cell functional maturation between humans, sheep and rats may contribute to different outcomes of PR and IUGR between species. PR and IUGR are likely to impose greater effects on the β -cell or pancreas and its determinants when the insults occur at critical developmental periods during gestation, and may not affect processes that happen postnatally in rodents.

1.8 SEX SPECIFIC IUGR EFFECTS ON POSTNATAL INSULIN SECRETION AND ACTION

Previous studies in humans (146-148) and in other species (32, 149) have reported that there are sex-specific effects on perinatal programming of growth, metabolic and cardiovascular outcomes including insulin secretion and action, in which males are more susceptible to these IUGR effects compared to females. One example is a study of 20 year-old young adults, where IUGR men had lower insulin sensitivity compared to control men, but there was no difference in insulin sensitivity between control and IUGR women (146). Similarly, in animal studies of IUGR rats induced by protein restriction during gestation, adult IUGR males had greater insulin response to glucose when compared to control males at 20 weeks of age, indicative of insulin resistance (149), with no differences in females. In an older cohort of these IUGR rats, at 11 months of age, IUGR males but not females were less glucose tolerant when compared to control groups (150). Similar outcomes are also observed in adult PR sheep at 1 year of age, where adult PR males had normal insulin sensitivity but impaired insulin action compared to control males, and adult PR females were more insulin sensitive but had normal insulin action (32). Importantly, these sex-specific IUGR effects in PR sheep are absent in young lambs at 45 d of age (141), in which the glucose tolerance, insulin sensitivity, secretion and action outcomes of PR did not differ between sexes (141). In young lambs at 21 d of age, females were fatter than males, with no effect of PR on relative fat mass (151). Adiponectin expression did not differ between PR and control or between sexes at this age, although some sex-specific effects of PR on fat were evident, as $PPAR\gamma$ and leptin expression in perirenal fat in males only (151). In general, these studies suggest that effects of PR on metabolic outcomes including insulin action and adiponectin expression are not sex-specific in neonatal life.

1.9 NEONATAL EXENDIN-4 AS AN INTERVENTION AFTER IUGR

Understanding the factors that regulate expression of PDX1 has led to development of experimental intervention strategies aiming to prevent development of diabetes after IUGR. Glucagon-like-peptide-1 (GLP1) is a hormone secreted by enteroendocrine cells of the gut as part of the insulin secretory response after meal ingestion, and its receptor is expressed by β -cells (152-154). In vitro incubation with GLP1 (10 nM) together with glucose for 1 h in the insulin-producing rat cell line RIN 1046-38 increased glucose-stimulated insulin production when compared to cells incubated with glucose alone (155). Longer in vitro GLP1 incubation (24 h) increased mRNA expression of INS and biosynthesis of INS protein in insulin-producing cell lines of mice (156) and rats (157). Importantly, in vitro incubation with GLP1 in rat insulin-producing cell lines (RIN 1046-38) increased mRNA expression of PDX1 as early as 1 h after incubation and by 2 h, PDX1 protein level was higher than in controls (158). This suggests that GLP1 promotes INS gene expression and insulin secretion and this may be in part via PDX1 (Figure 1.6). In rats GLP1 treatment in vivo increased β cell neogenesis (159) and β -cell replication (159-161), and decreased β -cell apoptosis (161), thus suggesting that GLP1 can increase β -cell mass (Figure 1.6). In diabetic humans, intravenous infusion of GLP1 increased insulin secretion and decreased fasting glucose and glucagon secretion as well as decreasing gastric emptying

(reviewed by, 153, 162, 163) however, subcutaneous injection of GLP1 only transiently increased insulin secretion and decreased plasma glucose (reviewed by, 153, 164). This is partly due to short half-life of GLP1, which is 1.5 - 2 min in human plasma *in vitro*, due to cleavage of GLP1 by the enzyme dipeptidyl peptidase IV (DPP-IV), which removes the two N-terminal amino acids residue and inactivates the peptide (165). Long life analogues of GLP1 including exendin-4 have therefore been developed as therapeutics for treating T2D.



Figure 1.6 Potential pathways for action of GLP1 to stimulate or increase β -cell mass via *PDX1*, modified from (154).

->, indicates more complex regulation and intermediates of MEK pathway, \rightarrow , indicates direct regulation, and \perp , indicates inhibition.

Exendin-4 was first isolated from Heloderma suspectum, known as the Gila Monster, and is resistant to DPP-IV degradation, making it a long lasting analogue of GLP1 (166). The half-life of exendin-4 is ~ 9 h maximum in human plasma in vitro due to its capacity to form a compact secondary structure that prevents access of DPP-IV to degradation sites (167). Experimentally, in vivo exendin-4 treatment increases PDX1 mRNA expression in mice (168) and rats (9), stimulates in vivo β -cell function (glucose-stimulated insulin secretion) in rats (9, 169), and increases β -cell mass in rats (9, 169). Exendin-4 also induces the differentiation of human duct lines to endocrine cells in vitro (170), thus imitating the functional effects of GLP1. Interestingly, in vivo exendin-4 treatment during neonatal life prevents development of diabetes in experimentally-induced IUGR rats (9). In this study (9), Sprague-Dawley strain of pregnant females had BUVL surgery at 19 d of gestation (term = 22 d) to experimentally induce PR of offspring. At birth, some PR rat offspring were treated with 1 nM exendin-4/kg of body weight s.c once daily for 6 days without any alteration to nutrition (9). PR rat offspring not given exendin-4 treatment had a progressive development of T2D with impaired glucose tolerance as young as 2 weeks of age, and had high fasting glucose, loss of β -cell mass and PDX1 expression at 3 months of age (9). In contrast, PR rat offspring that had neonatal exendin-4 treatment had normal glucose tolerance at 2weeks of age, and this rescue persisted to adulthood, when these exendin-4-treated PR offspring had normal glucose control, β -cell mass and PDX1 expression, similar to non-PR control offspring (9). Importantly, this prevention of diabetes was partially due to the restoration of PDX1 expression (9) by exendin-4 treatment, by reversing neonatal epigenetic changes and preventing their progression to DNA methylation at the PDX1 promoter (21, 33). This effectiveness of neonatal exendin-4 provides a significant possible intervention to restore the modification or

epigenetic programming of β -cell by IUGR. However, to what extent exendin-4 treatment can be applicable for humans to prevent development of T2D following IUGR is unknown. Answering this question requires this intervention to be tested in an animal model that has similar timing of pancreatic development as humans, such as the sheep.

1.10 SUMMARY

Programming of pancreatic β -cell mass and function following IUGR may occur via multiple mechanisms or pathways. These pathways include altered regulation of molecular determinants of β -cell mass and function as well as epigenetic regulation of these determinants that either reduce or increase their expression. Moreover, external regulation by adipocytes via adiponectin may also alter β -cell mass and function after IUGR. Increased postnatal nutrition and growth after IUGR may expose the impairments of insulin secretion and its plasticity in response to increased insulin demand and insulin resistance. Together, these defects contribute to an increased risk of developing T2D in adulthood in IUGR individuals. Neonatal eexendin-4 treatment in PR rats restored insulin action and prevented the development of T2D postnatally in this experimental model of IUGR. However, further development and evaluation of the potential efficacy of the exendin-4 intervention for humans requires this treatment to be tested in animal models that share similar timing of pancreatic development and growth as humans.

1.11 HYPOTHESIS AND AIMS

1.11.1 Hypothesis

IUGR due to twinning impairs insulin action, β -cell mass and function as well as gene expression of their key regulatory molecular determinants, and a neonatal intervention with the GLP1 analogue exendin-4 will restore these outcomes in the twin IUGR sheep.

1.11.2 General Aim

To investigate the mechanistic basis of impaired β -cell function and plasticity following IUGR due to twinning, and the efficacy of an intervention, neonatal treatment with the GLP1 analogue exendin-4 to overcome these in the twin IUGR sheep.

1.11.2.1 Aim 1

To determine whether IUGR due to twinning alters islet expression of key functional genes including those for microRNAs and epigenetic machinery that may regulate β -cell function and mass in neonatal lambs, and whether neonatal treatment of twin IUGR lambs with the GLP1 analogue exendin-4 can reverse these effects of IUGR.

1.11.2.2 Aim 2

To determine whether IUGR due to twinning alters islet expression of key functional genes including microRNAs and epigenetic mechanism that regulates β -cell function and mass in the neonatal lambs, and whether neonatal treatment of the lambs with the GLP1 analogue, exendin-4 can reverse these effects of IUGR.

1.11.2.3 Aim 3

To determine whether IUGR due to twinning alters adiponectin gene expression and circulating adiponectin concentrations, and their relationships with *in vivo* and *in vitro* β -cell function and β -cell mass in neonatal lambs, and whether neonatal treatment of twin IUGR lambs with the GLP1 analogue exendin-4 can normalise these outcomes after IUGR.

1.12 SIGNIFICANCE

This study will be the first to characterise the mechanistic basis of how poor growth before birth leads to impaired insulin action specifically via β -cell function and mass in a species in which the pancreas is mature at birth. The changes in the expression of the key regulatory molecular determinants of β -cell function and mass including microRNA and epigenetic mechanisms after IUGR will contribute to the understanding of how the postnatal effects of IUGR persist into adulthood. This study will also evaluate the efficacy and the underlying mechanisms for neonatal exendin-4 treatment as an intervention to prevent T2D following IUGR, for the first time in a species that shares similar timing of pancreatic β -cell development as humans.

CHAPTER 2

2 CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

In this study, natural twin pregnancies were used as the model of placental restriction to induce IUGR, and unrestricted singleton lambs as the control group. In each twin set, sibling twin lambs with heavier and lighter birth weights were alternately allocated to either vehicle or exendin-4 treatment (Figure 2.1). All procedures in this study were approved by the University of Adelaide Animal Experimentation and Ethics Committee (Animal Ethics Approval Number: M-084-2007) and complied with the *Australia code of practice for the care and use of animals for scientific purposes* (171). Animals, treatment, growth measurements, *in vivo* and *in vitro* insulin action and β -cell mass methods have been published (172).



Figure 2.1 Schematic flow diagram and timeline of *in vivo* studies.

Aim 1: In vivo insulin-regulated glucose metabolism and in vitro insulin secretion

- Glucose tolerance at 14 d and insulin sensitivity test at 12 d of age
- β -cell mass and *in vitro* β -cell function at 16 d of age

Aim 2: Molecular and epigenetic determination – islet mRNA gene expression of key molecular determinants of β -cell function and mass, and of epigenetics regulatory machinery

Aim 3: Adiponectin expression and circulating levels, and their relationships with insulin secretion, β -cell function and mass.

2.2 ANIMALS AND TREATMENTS

2.2.1 Animals

Australian Merino ewes underwent a timed-mating program, and singleton and twin-bearing pregnancies were confirmed by ultrasound scanning at 60 days of gestation (G60). From G120 of gestational age, ewes were transferred to individual floor pens in animal holding rooms with a 12 h: 12 h light/dark lighting cycle, and fed lucerne chaff ad libitum, with water available ad libitum. Delivery occurred naturally at term and the lambs were housed in floor pens with their mothers throughout the study and allowed to suckle freely, with access to their mother's feed and water, except during experimental protocols as described later. In order to minimise the potential for limitation of neonatal growth by milk availability in twin progeny, we provided a protein supplement on a per body weight basis and calculated to increase protein availability by 25% above that available from milk in ewes suckling twin lambs (173-175) during this period of maximal catch-up growth in IUGR lambs (176). Lambs were supplemented with whey protein (Resource Beneprotein instant protein powder, Nestle) given orally in two equal feeds (at 0900 - 1000 h and 1600 - 1700 h), commencing at 1.25 g.kg⁻¹.d⁻¹ on 4 d of age and increasing to 5 g.kg⁻¹.d⁻¹ on and after 7 d of age. This supplement should have removed protein constraints due to competition for maternal milk supply, but may have changed dietary composition towards a higher protein content than would be seen in lambs suckling milk alone. Nevertheless, because the

supplement dose was calculated on a per body weight basis we expect that all lambs would have a similar nutrient composition in their total intakes. Unfortunately, for logistical reasons, it was not possible to measure lamb milk intake and feeding behaviour during the present study. Future studies should consider including these measures and alternate supplementary approaches including provision of whole milk or supplements with a similar balance of nutrients as would be obtained in sheep's milk.

2.2.2 Treatments

Ewes delivered 23 lambs, which included 7 singleton lambs (CON) and 8 sets of twin lambs. In each twin set, sibling twin lambs with heavier and lighter birth weights were alternately allocated to IUGR-Vehicle (IUGR+Veh) and IUGR-Exendin-4 (IUGR+Ex-4) groups. From 1 d of age, singleton lambs (CON, n = 7, Male = 3, Female = 4) and IUGR twin lambs (IUGR+Veh, n = 8, Male = 6, Female = 2) were injected s.c. daily with vehicle (0.5% methanol in 0.9% saline s.c.) and twin IUGR lambs (IUGR+Ex-4, n = 8, Male = 6, Female = 2) were injected s.c. daily with exendin-4 (1 nmol.kg⁻¹ s.c., Bachem, Buberndorf, Germany). This dose of exendin-4 treatment was the same as that used in a previous study in PR and control rats (9). Exendin-4 was prepared as a 5 nM stock in 0.5% methanol and 0.9% saline, and stored at -20°C in single use aliquots (1 mL), which were thawed immediately prior to injection. For logistical reasons, and as we were interested in neonatal exendin-4 primarily as an intervention for use after IUGR, we did not include control lambs treated with exendin-4 in the present study. In control rats, neonatal exendin-4 treatment did not change β cell mass, insulin secretion or action postnatally (9), thus indicating a specific action of exendin-4 after IUGR.

2.2.3 Measurement of size at birth and postnatal growth rates

Lambs were weighed at birth and then every 2 d throughout the study. Body weight, crown-rump length (CRL), shoulder height, lengths of tibia, metatarsal, radius/ulna and metacarpal bones, skull width and length, abdominal circumference, hind limb circumference (knee joint), hind limb circumference (between knee and hip), radius/ulna circumference and lower thoracic circumference were measured as described previously (141). Each of parameters was measured in duplicate for each age and then averaged. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight/CRL² (kg.cm⁻²). For each lambs, the absolute growth rate (AGR) was calculated by linear regression as the slope of the relationship between age and each size parameter (141). The fractional growth rate (FGR) was calculated as AGR divided by parameter size at birth (141).

2.2.4 Insertion of vascular catheters

At 4 \pm 1 d of age, catheters (1.52 mm OD x 0.86 mm ID, Biocorp Australia, Victoria, Australia) were inserted into the lambs' right femoral artery and vein under general anaesthesia, induced and maintained by Fluothane inhalation anaesthetic (Independent Veterinary Supplies, South Australia, Australia) as previously described (141). All lambs received an intramuscular injection of sedative and analgesic (Xylazil, 0.05 mLkg⁻¹, Lyppards, Victoria, Australia) before the surgery and an intramuscular injection of antibiotic (1 mL of Norocillin SA injection, Lyppards, Victoria, Australia) after the surgery and then daily for 3 d post-surgery. Catheter patency was maintained by flushing the catheters with heparinised saline (500 IU.mL⁻¹) daily for 3 d after surgery and then every second d.

2.2.5 Post-mortem and tissue collection

At 16 ± 1 d of age, lambs (CON, n = 7, IUGR+Veh, n = 8 and IUGR+Ex-4, n = 8) were humanely killed by an overdose of sodium pentobarbitone (Pentobarbitone sodium Lethabarb, Lyppards, Victoria, Australia). Organs (liver and pancreas), muscles (semitendinosus, gastrocnemius, soleus, tibialis, extensor digitorum longus, biceps femoris, vastus lateralis, biceps), and dissectable visceral fat depots (left and right perirenal fat, left and right retroperitoneal fat and omental fat) were dissected and weighed for each lamb as previously described (141). Muscle and visceral fat weights were calculated as the sum of weights of these muscles and fat depots, respectively (141). A sample of each organ was fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and 2 samples frozen in liquid nitrogen, and fat depots were placed in OCT compound (ProSciTech Pty Ltd, NSW, Australia) and frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C for later analysis.

2.3 IN VIVO INSULIN ACTION

2.3.1 Immunohistochemical analysis of pancreas morphology

2.3.1.1 Staining of insulin-positive cells

Pancreas samples (CON, n = 7, IUGR+Veh, n = 8 and IUGR+Ex-4, n = 8) were fixed overnight in 4% paraformaldehyde and then washed 3 times in Phosphate buffered saline, PBS (Dulbeccos $Mg^{2+}Ca^{2+}$ free) over 3 d before storing in 70% ethanol at 4°C. Tissues were embedded in paraffin and then cut (5 µm-thickness) using a Leica rotary microtome (Leica Microsystems, Illinois, USA), placed on slides (Superfrost Plus Slides, Menzel Glaser, Germany) and immuno-stained to detect insulin-positive cells as described previously (8). Briefly, each section was incubated with guinea pig anti-porcine insulin (DAKO Cytomation, Glostrup, Denmark) at 1:150 dilution as primary antibody, then goat biotin-conjugated F(ab) fragment of anti guinea pig IgG (Rockland Immunochemicals, Pennsylvania, USA) at 1:400 dilution as secondary
antibody, and finally, insulin-positive cells were visualised with 3,3'-Diaminobenzidine (DAB) Fast (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, USA). Negative controls were incubated using the same procedure without the addition of primary antiserum. The insulin-positive cells were stained brown.

2.3.1.2 Morphometric analysis

Morphometric analyses were done with minor modifications of a previously published method (8). Briefly, each stained slide was visualised and captured at 40x resolution using NanoZoomer (Hamamatsu Co., Shizuoka, Japan). Random-systematic sampling was used to select 20 fields of view per section using NDPview software (Hamamatsu Co., Shizuoka, Japan), and this sample size was calculated to give a SEM less than 10%. Cell volume density (V_d) was quantitated by point-counting (204 points/field, V_d equals the number of insulin-positive cells as a proportion of test points on pancreas), and counting numbers of islets, small islets (<5 β -cells), and β -cells per islet in each field (0.293 mm²/ field), using ImageJ software (USA). β -cell mass was calculated by multiplying V_d by pancreas mass.

2.3.2 Assessment of the insulin axis

2.3.2.1 In vivo insulin sensitivity

At 12 d \pm 1 of age, hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic clamps (HEC) were performed to measure insulin sensitivity of whole-body glucose metabolism as previously described (177). Briefly, lambs (CON, n = 7, IUGR+Veh, n = 8 and IUGR+Ex-4, n = 8) were fasted for 3 hours prior to the experiment with access to water *ad libitum*. Human insulin (2 mU.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹, Actrapid, Novo Nordisk A/S, Denmark) was infused continuously via venous catheter and arterial blood was sampled (0.2 mL) every 5 min for 120 min. Larger (2 mL) blood samples were collected before (-10, -5 and 0 min from start of insulin infusion) and at 15 min intervals in the last hour of the clamp (60, 75, 90, 105 and 120 min from start of insulin infusion), centrifuged and plasma stored for later measurement of plasma insulin. Blood glucose at each time point was measured using a HemoCue glucometer (HemoCue AB, Angelholm, Sweden). At 15 min after the start of insulin infusion, an intravenous infusion of glucose (25% dextrose, Baxter Health Care, NSW, Australia) was commenced at an initial rate of 2 mg.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹. The glucose infusion rate (GIR) was then adjusted every 5 min based on blood glucose concentrations, to restore and maintain euglycaemia calculated as the average of fasting blood glucose concentrations measured at -10, -5 and 0 min from the start of the insulin infusion. Steady-state plasma insulin concentration was calculated as the average plasma insulin in the 2nd h of the HEC and the insulin sensitivity of glucose metabolism was calculated as the steady-state glucose infusion rate (glucose infusion rate averaged across the 2nd h of the HEC), divided by the steady-state plasma insulin concentration (177).

2.3.2.2 In vivo glucose tolerance, insulin secretion and action

At 14 ± 1 d of age, an intravenous glucose tolerance test (IVGTT) was performed as previously described (177) to measure insulin secretion and *in vivo* glucose tolerance. Lambs (CON, n = 7, IUGR+Veh, n = 8 and IUGR+Ex-4, n = 8) were fasted for 3 h prior to the experiment with access to water *ad libitum*. Basal plasma glucose and insulin were calculated as the means of concentrations in samples collected 10 min, 5 min and 0 min before the administration of glucose. At 0 min, 0.25 g of glucose (as 25% dextrose, Baxter Health Care, NSW, Australia) per kg of bodyweight was administered as a bolus intravenously. Blood (2 mL) was sampled at every 5 min for the first 30 min, then every 10 min for the next 70 min, every 20 min for the next 80 min and then 30 min later until 210 min after the administration of glucose (177). Blood samples were centrifuged, and plasma collected for subsequent measurement of glucose and insulin concentrations. Indices of glucose tolerance and insulin secretion were calculated as described previously (177). Basal post-hepatic insulin delivery rate was calculated as the fasting plasma insulin concentration before commencement of the IVGTT, multiplied by the MCR for insulin from the HEC (177). Maximal post-hepatic insulin delivery rate was calculated as the maximum plasma insulin concentration during the IVGTT, multiplied by the MCR for insulin from the HEC (177). Basal and maximal insulin disposition indices were calculated by multiplying insulin sensitivity by measures of post-hepatic insulin delivery rate in the basal and glucose-stimulated states, respectively (177).

2.3.2.3 Analysis of plasma hormones and metabolites

Blood samples were centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C to collect plasma for subsequent measurements. Plasma insulin concentrations were measured in duplicate by a double-antibody, solid phase radioimmunoassay using a commercially available kit (Human insulin-specific RIA, HI-14K, Linco Research Inc., St Charles, MO, USA). Cross-reactivity of this assay is 100% with human insulin and 62% with bovine insulin (manufacturer's information) and would be expected to be similar for ovine and bovine given the 97% homology between bovine and ovine insulin protein sequences. The intra-assay coefficients of variation (CV) for the insulin assay were 7.2% and 5.3%, and inter-assay CV were 7.0% and 19.6% for QC samples containing 9.9 and 35.9 mU.L⁻¹ insulin respectively (n = 10 assays). Plasma glucose concentrations were measured in duplicate by colorimetric enzymatic analysis on a Hitachi 912 automated metabolic analyser using Roche/Hitachi Glucose/HK kits (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany).

2.3.3 In vivo assessment of pancreatic β -cell function

Measurement of *in vivo* pancreatic β -cell function was determined by dividing measures of insulin action of total, 1st phase and 2nd phase glucose-stimulated insulin secretion, basal and stimulated insulin disposition by absolute β -cell mass and also by relative β -cell mass (β -cell mass as a percentage of bodyweight at post-mortem), to assess the β -cell functional secretory capacity in response to *in vivo* glucose stimulation (8).

2.4 IN VITRO ASSESSMENT OF PANCREATIC ISLET FUNCTION

2.4.1 Isolation and purification of pancreatic islets

Pancreatic islet isolation and purification were performed with a modification of previously described methods (178). Lamb pancreas (CON, n = 7, IUGR+Veh, n = 8and IUGR+Ex-4, n = 8) was dissected, weighed and a large sample (~80% of total pancreas) quickly placed in ice cold Krebs-Ringer buffer, KRB (Sigma-Aldrich, NSW, Australia) with glucose. Cold pancreas were removed from buffer and rapidly homogenised with a scalpel blade, then 2.5 g of homogenised pancreatic tissue was incubated at 35°C for 40 min with gentle shaking with 25 mL of collagenase solution (20 mg of collagenase (Sigma C9697) and 10 mg of DNAse (Sigma DN-25) dissolved in 50 ml of KRB without glucose, Sigma-Aldrich, NSW, Australia). The solution was then centrifuged at 50 g for 2 min at 4°C and supernatant was discarded. Cell pellets were resuspended with KRB supplemented with 0.5 g of bovine serum albumin, KRB/BSA solution (Sigma-Aldrich, NSW, Australia) to stop the collagenase reaction. Aliquots (4 x 1 mL) were centrifuged and pellets were snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for later RNA isolation. Additional aliquots (0.3 mL) were diluted with KRB/BSA (Sigma-Aldrich, NSW, Australia) and added to cytospin slides for later staining for insulin (refer 2.3.1.1). Other aliquots (2 mL) were cultured overnight at

37°C in 95% O₂/5% CO₂ in 4 mL of RPMI 1640 media (Sigma-Aldrich, NSW, Australia). Pancreatic islet cultures were then washed with KRB/BSA (without glucose) (Sigma-Aldrich, NSW, Australia) and handpicked to obtain islets >100 μ m in diameter for *in vitro* insulin secretion analysis (refer 2.4.2), with purity of islet isolations confirmed by immunostaining of islet aliquots as previously described (178).

2.4.2 In vitro insulin secretion

Static islet incubation and experiments were performed as previously described (172,178). Briefly, for each animal and incubation condition, 0.25 mL of KRB/BSA/Forskolin solution (4 µl of 100 µM Forskolin in 20 mL of KRB/BSA solution and equilibrated with 95%O₂-5% CO₂) was added into 1.5 ml tubes in triplicates. Ten handpicked islets were added into each 1.5 mL tubes. Static incubations were performed at 37°C for 1 h in 1.5 mL tubes containing either 0, 1.1, 11.1 mM glucose, or 15 mM KCl, or 11.1 mM glucose plus 5 mM lysine, 11.1 mM glucose plus 5 mM arginine, 1.1 mM glucose plus 10 mM leucine, or 11.1 mM glucose plus 10 µM epinephrine, and also at 0°C for 1 h with 11.1 mM glucose. Islets were then centrifuged, supernatant collected for insulin analysis and DNA was ethanol-extracted from pellets quantified by PicoGreen dsDNA Quantification kit (Invitrogen, and Victoria, Australia). In vitro insulin secretion for each replicate was calculated as insulin concentration divided by DNA concentration. In vitro data for an animal was included in analyses provided that the insulin secretion in the incubations with KCl (test of maximal release) was greater than those obtained from incubations with epinephrine or 0°C (inhibitory quality controls). Due to technical difficulties with some at preparations, in vitro insulin secretion data was obtained successfully for 5 CON, 5 IUGR+Veh and 6 IUGR+Ex-4 lambs.

2.5 PANCREATIC ISLET GENE EXPRESSION

2.5.1 Pancreatic islet RNA extraction

Lamb pancreatic islet RNA (CON, n = 6, IUGR+Veh, n = 8 and IUGR+Ex-4, n = 8) was extracted from 1 mL of isolated islets (refer 2.4.1) using miRNAeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Victoria, Australia) according to the manufacturer's recommendations. RNA was eluted using RNase free water and stored at -80°C for later analysis.

2.5.2 RNA quantity and quality assessments

The quantity and purity of RNA in the sample was determined using a Nanodrop Spectrophotometer. Samples were considered to be sufficiently pure if the ratio of $OD_{260}:OD_{280}$ was > 1.7. The quantity of RNA was calculated using the following equation: $OD_{260} \times 40 \times Dilution$ factor = RNA concentration (µg.mL⁻¹). RNA integrity was further confirmed by gel electrophoresis in 1% Agarose gels (Progen Biosciences, Brisbane, Australia) and visualisation of 18S and 28S ribosomal sub-units as follows. Each sample (5 µL) was mixed with 2 µL of loading buffer and run with pre-stained 1% Agarose (Progen Biosciences, Brisbane, Australia) gel with 0.5 mg.mL⁻¹ Ethidium Bromide (Sigma-Aldrich, NSW, Australia) for 45 min at 90 V. RNA size marker, SPPI/EcoRI (GeneWorks, SA, Australia) was used to determine each product size. Bands were viewed under ultraviolet light and photographed using a digital camera (DC120, Kodak, Eastman, Rochester, USA). Sample with a 28S:18S ratio of approximately 2:1 was considered acceptable, and any degraded RNA sample was re-extracted.

2.5.3 DNAse treatment

RNA samples were DNAse-treated to remove DNA contamination using Turbo DNA-free ambion kit (Life Technologies, Victoria, Australia) with few modifications from the manufacturer's recommendation. Briefly, aliquots of 10 μ L containing 10 μ g of RNA was mixed with 2 μ L of 10X Turbo DNAse I buffer and 1 μ L of DNAse I and incubated at 37°C for 30 min. DNAse inactivation reagent (2.5 μ L) was added, mixed by flicking and incubated at room temperature for 2 min with occasional flicking. Samples were centrifuged at 10 000 g for 2 min at room temperature and supernatants were transferred to new tubes (DNAse-treated RNA). Samples were then measured for quantity and quality (refer to 2.5.2).

2.5.4 Reverse transcription

DNAse-treated RNA samples were reverse-transcribed using Applied Biosystems Conventional Thermocycler 9700 (Applied Biosystem, Warrington, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For each reverse transcription reaction, two negative controls were used; one was the RNA negative control where no RNA was added and the other was the MasterMix Negative control where no Mastermix was added. Samples were then stored at -20°C for later analysis.

2.5.5 Primer design

Using Primer Express 2.0 Software (Applied Biosystems, California, USA) and GenBank DNA and mRNA sequences, oligonucleotide primers for sheep were designed within the mature peptide region using ovine or bovine sequence where possible (Table 2.1 and 2.2). Primers were designed such that the generated amplicon overlapped an exon-intron boundary, based on previously published gene sequences for most genes (8), and based on predicted gene boundaries for *PIK3CB*, *PIK3R1*, *DNMT1*, *DNMT3A* and *DNMT3B* genes. Desalted purity primers were constructed by Sigma Genosys (Sigma Genosys, NSW, Australia) and Invitrogen (Invitrogen, Victoria, Australia).

Table 2.1Primer details and sequences used for quantitative Real Time PCR of islet gene expression.

Gene	Function	Species	Predicted amplicon	Forward primer sequence $5' \rightarrow 3'$	Reverse primer sequence $5' \rightarrow 3'$	GenBank accession No.
ACTB	B-actin, reference gene	Ovine	157	atgtaccctggcatcgca	atccacatctgctggaaggtgg	U39357.1
PDX1	β -cell master regulator	Bovine	97	cagageeeggaggagaacaag	cctggagatgtastttgttgaaaagg	XM583722
IGF1	Regulates β -cell mass	Ovine	64	getteeggagetgtgatetg	gacttggcggccttgaga	NM001009774
IGF2	Regulates β -cell mass and function	Ovine	84	ggcggggagctggtggaca	tcggtttatgcggctggatggt	M89788
IGF1R	Regulates β-cell mass	Ovine	104	aagaaccatgcctgcagaagg	ggattctcaggttctggccatt	AY162434
IGF2R	Regulates β-cell mass	Ovine	90	atgaagetggactacaggcatca	getegeegteeteagttte	AF327649
INS	Regulates β -cell mass and function	Ovine	199	gagagcgcggcttcttctac	gcgggccaggtctagttaca	U00659.1
INSR	Regulates β -cell mass and function	Ovine	74	gettegaggetgeaceat	ageteagetgeeaggttgtt	AY157728
GCK	Rate limiting for glycosis	Bovine	115	aagaccacgcaccagatgtactc	cttcatctgatgcttatccaggaa	XM_868629
SLC2A2	Controls glucose uptake into β -cells	Ovine	134	cgaaattgggaccatctcacat	caccgatagcacccctgagt	AJ318925
CACNA1D	Subunit of voltage-gated Ca ²⁺ channel	Bovine	65	ttggcaagctgcaatcga	ggtgcggaggtgctcatagt	XM876930
KCNJ11	Subunit of ATP-sensitive K^+ channel	Human	107	gatgccaacagcccactctac	ggtgatgccctggtttc	NM000525
РІКЗСВ	β catalytic subunit of PI-3-kinase	Bovine	114	ggagagtagaatatgtgtttggt	atggcaaccatctcctgttcat	XM613754
PIK3R1	Regulatory subunit 1 of PI-3-kinase	Bovine	69	cttcaaaaactgaagcagacagtga	ggtgcgaactgctctgcaa	NM174575
DNMT1	Maintains DNA methylation patterns	Ovine	145	gcaagccccccaaacc	gccctgtgcaaaataagatgtg	NM001009473
DNMT3A	Provides de novo DNA methylation	Bovine	129	gggagagggtgccactga	ggattcgatgttggtctccttc	AY271298
DNMT3B	Provides de novo DNA methylation	Bovine	149	aatacgtggcctccgaagtg	ggcttccaccaatcaccaagt	NM181813

2.5.6 Quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction

2.5.6.1 Preparation of cDNA

Amplification of cDNA was carried out using the primers for the gene of interest, Platinum Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen, Victoria, Australia) and an Applied Biosystems Conventional Thermocycler 9700 (Applied Biosystem, Warrington, UK) as previously described (8). Briefly, 5 µL of cDNA was mixed with a PCR master mix of 20 µL containing 2.5 µL of 10X buffer, 0.75 µL of MgCl₂ (50mM), 0.5 μ L of dNTPs (10 nM), 0.125 μ L of *Taq* Polymerase (5 IU. μ L⁻¹), 0.5 μ L each of forward and reverse primers (25 µM) and 15 µL of molecular grade water. Samples were run at PCR conditions of 94°C for 15 min, and 35 cycles (94°C for 30 seconds, 55°C for 30 seconds, 72°C for 1 min, and 72°C for 7 min). PCR products were then confirmed as producing a single product by gel electrophoresis in a 2% Agarose gel for 45 min at 85 V, and visualisation to confirm production of a single band of the expected size (refer 2.5.2 for gel details) with pUC19 (GeneWorks, SA, Australia) used as a size marker.

2.5.6.2 Cloning reaction and plasmid standard extraction

Confirmed PCR product was cloned into StrataClone PCR Cloning Kit (Integrated Sciences, NSW, Australia) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 2 μ L of PCR product was mixed gently with 3 μ L of StrataClone cloning buffer and 1 μ L of VectorMix amp/kan and incubated at room temperature for 5 min to allow the ligation of PCR product into vector plasmid. One μ L of this ligation mixture was then mixed gently into thawed StrataClone SoloPack Competent Cells and incubated at 4°C for 20 min. Transformation of the competent cells was induced by heat-shock at 42°C at 45 seconds and followed by cooling at 4°C for 2 min. Then, 250

µL of Luria-Bertani, LB broth (10 g of Sodium chloride, 10 g of Tryptone, 5 g of yeast extract dissolved in deionised water up to 1L of final volume) was added to the transformation mixture and incubated at 37°C for 1 h with mixing at 200 rpm horizontally for competent cells to recover and grow. Hundred µL of the transformation mixture was sterile-plated in LB plus Ampicilin agar plate with 40 µL of 2% 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-inodlyl-β-D-galactopyranoside, X-gal (Sigma Aldrich, NSW, Australia) and incubated overnight at 37°C. At least 5 successful transformed white colonies per plate were selected and cultured in LB broth with Ampicillin (3 mL) overnight at 37°C with shaking (200 rpm, half-horizontally). To determine the correct colonies with the appropriate size inserts (plasmid and cDNA insert), 5 µL of each culture was mixed with 20 µL of PCR master mix (refer 2.5.6.1) with addition of M13 universal reverse and forward primers and run at same PCR conditions (refer 2.5.6.1). Plasmids that contained the correct cDNA insert were isolated from competent cells using NucleoSpin Plasmid (Macherey Nagel, Duren, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Clean plasmid DNA was quantitated using a NanoDrop Spectrophotometer (refer 2.5.2) and stored at -20°C.

2.5.6.3 Sequencing of cDNA inserts

Successful isolation of clean plasmid DNA for each gene of interest (refer 2.5.6.2) was further confirmed by sequencing of cDNA inserts using Applied Biosystems Big Dye Terminator version 3.1 (Life Technologies, Victoria, Australia). Briefly, 10 μ L aliquots containing 1 μ L of Big Dye, 2.5 μ L of dilution buffer, 2.8 μ M of primers, 4 μ L of clean plasmid DNA and 1.5 μ L of molecular grade water were run at PCR conditions of 96°C for 30 seconds, and 30 cycles (96°C for 10 seconds, 50°C for 5 seconds, 60°C for 4 min) on an Applied Biosystems Conventional Thermocycler 9700

(Applied Biosystem, Warrington, UK). Isopropanol (80 μ L of 75%) was added to the samples which were incubated at room temperature for 15 min and centrifuged at 12000 *g* for 20 min at room temperature prior to discarding of supernatant. Isopropanol (250 μ L of 75%) was added again and samples were centrifuged at 12000 *g* for 20 min at room temperature with supernatants being discarded. The cell pellet was allowed to air dry at 90 °C for 1 min. Samples were then transported to the IMVS (SA, Australia) for sequencing with an Applied Biosystems 3730. Sequencing results were analysed by Chromas Software Version 2.33 (Technelysium Pty Ltd, Brisbane, Australia) and Genbank sequences. Samples that were 98-100% similar to the published sequence of the gene of interest at Genbank sequences were stored at -20°C and subsequently used as the Real Time PCR standards.

2.5.6.4 Real Time PCR

Quantitative Real Time PCR (RT PCR) was performed on a Corbett RotorGene Real Time PCR 6000 (Corbett Life Sciences, San Francisco, USA) using 5 Prime MasterMix **SyBR** Rox (Ouantum Scientific. NSW. Australia) according to manufacturer's recommendations. Briefly, each Real Time PCR tube contained 5 µL of sample cDNA and 15 µL of PCR reaction mix (9 µL of 2.5 X RealMasterMix SyBR solution, 5.6 µL of molecular grade water, 0.2 µL each of forward and reverse primers). Real Time PCR reaction was held at 95°C for 2 min, followed by 40 cycles of (95°C for 15 seconds, melting at 72-95°C for 1 second, 60°C for 45 seconds). Each sample was analysed in triplicate and each RT PCR plate included appropriate plasmid standards for the gene of interest, ranging from 1 µg to 1 pg per reaction tube, a water control and 2 types of negative cDNA control (refer 2.5.4).

2.5.6.5 Optimisation of Real Time PCR reactions

The optimum concentrations of primers were determined by preliminary experiments with serial dilutions of primer pairs and the gene standard dilutions. A primer concentration of 12.5 µM was selected as it was the lowest primer concentration at which the cycle threshold (Ct) of the standard dilutions versus the log known concentration of the standards formed a linear plot with efficiency range from 0.95-1.15 and was different from water and negative control templates. The ACTB gene was selected as the reference gene for normalisation of pancreatic islet gene expression as its expression did not differ between treatment groups. The optimum cDNA dilution for each primer pair was determined in preliminary experiments with a range of cDNA concentrations. The cDNA concentration at which the Ct increase was linear and most different from the water and negative control was selected. It was determined that a 1 in 10 dilution was required for the reference gene, ACTB and 1 in 5 dilution was used for analysis of all other genes. The absence of primer dimers and alternative PCR products in the PCR products was confirmed by the presence of a single dissociation peak (melting curve) and confirmed by gel electrophoresis and visualisation on a 2% agarose gel (refer 2.5.2 for gel) for 45 min at 85 V and pUC19 (GeneWorks, SA, Australia) were used as a size marker.

2.5.6.6 Quantification of pancreatic mRNA levels

Green fluorescence was measured at the end of each cycle (excitation wavelength of 490 nm and an emission channel of 605 to 610 nm) and after 40 cycles, a profile of fluorescence versus the cycle number was obtained. A fluorescence threshold was determined by the linear exponential phase of amplification of the known standard dilutions when the efficiency of the reaction falls into the range of 0.95-1.15. The cycle

number at which the amplification of the product crossed this threshold was determined and designated as the cycle threshold (Ct). These Ct values were used to determine the absolute expression of the amplified PCR product using the linear equation of the standard curve in each reaction and multiplied by the dilution factor before averaging the values for sample triplicates. The relative expression of the gene of interest was determined by normalising the absolute expression of that gene to the expression of the reference gene, *ACTB*. The expression of *ACTB* did not differ between the treatment groups.

2.6 PANCREATIC ISLET MICRORNA EXPRESSION

2.6.1 Pancreatic microRNA extraction, quantity and quality assessments

MicroRNA was extracted together with RNA using the miRNAeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Victoria, Australia) according to manufacturer's recommendation as described above (refer 2.5.1). The quality and quantity assessments were performed together with those for RNA (refer 2.5.2).

2.6.2 Exiqon microarray labelling

RNA labelling for Exiqon Microarrays using T4 RNA ligase (New England Biolabs Inc., Massachusetts, USA) were performed as previously described (179). Six μ L of aliquots of 3 μ g pancreatic islet RNA were mixed with 3 μ L of labelling mix containing 1 μ L of 10X Iglori buffer (1 mM ATP, 500 mM HEPES (pH 7.8), 35 mM DTT, 200 mM MgCl₂, 100 mg/ml BSA), 1 μ L of 100% DMSO, and 1 μ L of Cy3 (5'phosphate-cytidyl-uridyl-Cy3-3', 500 ng. μ L⁻¹) or Cy5 (5'-phosphate-cytidyl-uridyl-Cy5-3', 500 ng. μ L⁻¹) dye (Trilink Biotechnologies, San Diego, USA). One μ L of T4 RNA ligase (20000 IU.mL⁻¹, New England Biolabs Inc., Massachusetts, USA) was then added to the mixture. Samples were then incubated for 2 h at 4°C in the dark. The labelling reaction was stopped and RNA was precipitated using 46 μ L of Stop solution containing of 40 μ L of DEPC-treated molecular grade water, 5 μ L of 3 M sodium acetate (pH 5.2) and 1 μ L of glycogen (20 mg.mL⁻¹). Ethanol (150 μ L of 100%) was added and samples were vigorously vortexed and allowed to sit at room temperature for 10 min. Samples were then centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C, and the supernatant was discarded. The RNA pellet was mixed with 150 μ L of 75% ethanol and centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C, and the supernatant was allowed to air dry briefly at 65°C before being dissolved in 25 μ L of 1X hybridisation buffer (Exiqon, Vedbaek, Denmark).

2.6.3 Exiqon microarray hybridisation

All hybridisation samples were performed on an Exiqon miRNA array version 11 specific for human samples. Each microarray consists of 1700 antisense microRNA probes (miRCURY microRNA Array probe set, Exiqon, Vedbaek, Denmark), printed in triplicate on microarray slides (Corning, Massachusetts, USA) with a VersArray ChipWriter Pro system (BioRad, California, USA) using tungsten pins (PointTech, La Aurora de Heredia, Costa Rica). The antisense probes were designed from the miRNA sequences annotated in Sanger sequence miRBase library v11. Each array contained 12 positive control probes (U6-snRNA, an antisense sequence of U6-small nuclear spliceosomal RNA 1 to 12), and 7 negative control probes (hsa_negative_control 1 to 7, synthetic sequences that share no known homology with any mammalian microRNAs). A dye swap design was implemented to remove the effect of dye bias (180), with RNA from each treatment group labelled as described previously (179). Hybridisation buffer used to reconstitute RNA contained labelled RNA that was mixed to the matching RNA paired samples with the opposite fluorescent dye to the treatment group. Pancreatic islet microRNA was analysed between treatment groups of same sex for the effect of IUGR (CON *cf.* IUGR+Veh) and effect of exendin-4 treatment (IUGR+Veh *cf.* IUGR+Ex-4).

Before the hybridisation process, the position of the microarray was scored with a diamond cutter and the array was blocked in hot molecular grade water for 30 seconds, and allowed to spin-dry for 5 min at 500 rpm. The hybridisation buffer containing the labelled RNA was heated at 95°C for 3 min and loaded (25 µL) to the array in Corning hybridization chambers. Seventeen µL of 4X salt buffer (Exigon, Vedbaek, Denmark) was added to each chamber and microarrays were incubated overnight at 60°C in the dark. Microarray slides were then washed once with prewarmed Buffer A (5 mL of 20X salt buffer, 44 mL of DEPC-treated molecular grade water) at 60°C, and 1 mL of 10% detergent solution (Exigon, Vedbaek, Denmark) for 2 min, two washes with Buffer B (2.5 mL of 20X salt buffer and 47.5 mL of DEPCtreated molecular grade water) for 2 min at room temperature and 1 wash with Buffer C (0.5 mL of 20X salt buffer and 49.5 mL of DEPC-treated molecular grade water) for 2 min at room temperature. Microaray slides were then dried by centrifuging at 1000 rpm for 5 min and scanned at 10 µm resolution with a GenePix 4000B Scanner (Molecular Devices, California, USA) using photomultiplier tube settings to balance the channel histograms.

2.6.4 Exiqon miRNA data analysis

All Exiqon Microarray data were extracted with GenePix Pro 6.0 (Molecular Devices, California, USA) which was used to produce scanned images for each array. The foreground and background pixel intensities were extracted from the scanned images and processed with Spot v.3 plugin (CSIRO, SA, Australia) using R software

(The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria). Mean intensities were log² transformed to produce a single Cy5/Cy3 ratio for each probe on the microarray. The ratio values were normalised and the replicate arrays were normalised to each other to give similar ranges of miRNA expression values and raw P-values. Raw P-values were then adjusted using the Benjamin-Hochberg method (181) to control for false discovery rate. Adjusted P-values below 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

2.7 ANALYSIS OF ADIPONECTIN ABUNDANCE AND EXPRESSION

2.7.1 Plasma adiponectin abundance

Although there is a diurnal variation of adiponectin concentration in humans (182), plasma adiponectin concentrations do not vary diurnally in horses (183). Because of this and limitations on blood volume that could be taken from each lamb, we measured adiponectin in only a single sample from each sheep at a given age, and all samples were collected at similar times of day (0800h – 1000h). Routine blood samples were taken at birth (within 24 h after birth) and at 6, 11 and 15 d of ages in non-fasted lambs and were centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C to collect plasma for subsequent measurements. Plasma adiponectin levels were measured using a commercially available sheep adiponectin (ADIPOQ) ELISA kit (MyBioSource, California, USA). The minimum detectable concentration was 3.13 ng.mL⁻¹ and the intra- and inter- assay coefficients of variation for the ELISA assay were 1.9% and 2.3% respectively. Due to loss of CON samples, data for plasma adiponectin concentrations was successfully obtained for 3 CON, 8 IUGR+Veh and 8 IUGR+Ex-4 lambs.

2.7.2 Adipose tissue RNA extraction, quantity and quality assessments

RNA was extracted from omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues (CON, n =6, IUGR+Veh, n = 8 and IUGR+Ex-4, n = 8) using a Precellys[®]24 Lyse machine (Bertin Technologies, Montigny le Bretonneux, France) and a modified Trizol-based approach for adipose tissues (8, 184). For every 0.1 g of adipose tissue, 1 mL of Trizol (Invitrogen, Victoria, Australia) was added and samples were homogenized with 0.58 g of 1.4 mm ceramic beads (Bertin Technologies, Montigny le Bretonneux, France) with Precellys[®]24 at 3000 rpm (2 cycles x 10 seconds with 10 second interval) at 4°C. Samples were then incubated for 5 min on ice to allow complete dissociation of nucleoprotein complexes. Chloroform (0.2 mL) was added; samples were vigorously shaken for 15 seconds and again incubated on ice for 3 min, before centrifuging for 30 min at 12000 g at 4 °C. The aqueous phase was transferred to new collection tubes and mixed by inversion with 0.5 mL of isopropyl alcohol. Samples were allowed to precipitate overnight at -20°C, and then centrifuged at 12000 g for 40 min at 4°C to pellet the RNA. The supernatant was removed and the RNA pellet was washed twice with 1 mL of 75% ethanol and re-pelleted by centrifugation at 12000 g for 30 min at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the RNA pellet was allowed to air dry for 15 min and then was dissolved in 25 µL of molecular grade water and stored at -80°C for later analysis. The quality and quantity assessments of omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue RNA samples were performed as described previously for pancreatic islet RNA (refer 2.5.2).

2.7.3 DNAse treatment and cDNA synthesis

Omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues RNA samples were DNAse-treated to remove contamination with DNA using Turbo DNA-free ambion kit (Life Technologies, Victoria, Australia). Briefly, aliquots of 10 μ L containing 10 μ g of RNA was mixed with 2 μ L of 10X Turbo DNAse I buffer and 1 μ L of DNAse I and incubated at 37°C for 30 min. DNAse inactivation reagent (2.5 μ L) was added, mixed and incubated at room temperature for 2 min with occasional mixing. Samples were centrifuged at 10000 *g* for 2 min at room temperature and supernatants were transferred to new tubes (DNAse-treated RNA). Samples were then measured for quantity and quality (refer to 2.5.2). DNAse-treated RNA samples were reverse-transcribed to cDNA using an Applied Biosystems Conventional Thermocycler 9700 (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. For each reverse transcription reaction, two negative controls were used; one was the RNA negative control where no RNA was added. Samples were stored at -20°C for later analysis.

2.7.4 Adiponectin gene expression

Adiponectin cDNA was amplified using previously published bovine primer sequences (185), listed in Table 2.2, and Platinum *Taq* DNA polymerase (Invitrogen, Victoria, Australia) and Applied Biosystems Conventional Thermocycler 9700 (Applied Biosystems, Warrington, UK) (refer 2.5.6.1). Adiponectin cDNA was cloned into StrataClone PCR Cloning Kit (Intergrated Sciences, NSW, Australia) to generate Real Time PCR standards as previously described (refer 2.5.6.2 to 2.5.6.3).

Gene	Species	Predicted	Primer sequence $5' \rightarrow 3'$	GenBank
		amplicon		accession
		size (bp)		No.
β-actin,	Ovine	157	Forward : atgtaccctggcatcgca	U39357.1
ACTB			Reverse : atccacatctgctggaaggtgg	
Adiponectin	Bovine	203	Forward : ctggagagaagggagagaaag	NM174742
ADIPOQ			Reverse : tgggtacattgggaacagtg	

Table 2.2Primer sequences used for Real Time PCR for adiponectinexpression in omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues.

2.7.5 Quantification of adiponectin mRNA

The expression of adiponectin mRNA in omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues was measured by Real Time PCR (refer 2.5.8) using 1 in 5 dilution of cDNA (refer 2.5.9). The relative expression of adiponectin gene was determined by normalising the absolute expression of adiponectin gene to the expression of the reference gene, *ACTB*. The expression of *ACTB* did not differ between treatment groups.

2.8 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Data for non-repeated measures on each animal were analysed by the mixed models procedure in SPSS for effects of treatment (fixed effect) and including dams as a random (block) effect in the model to account for common maternal environment in twins. Where treatment effects or trends were apparent (P < 0.1), means were compared by the LSD method, based on a *priori* questions to determine: 1. effects of IUGR (CON *cf.* IUGR+Veh groups), 2. effects of exendin-4 in IUGR lambs (IUGR+Veh *cf.*

IUGR+Ex-4 groups), and 3. whether exendin-4 restored outcomes in IUGR lambs to control levels (CON cf. IUGR+Ex-4 groups). Neonatal growth patterns, glucose and insulin concentrations, and insulin: glucose ratios overall, and during the 1st (0-30 min) and 2nd phases (30-210 min) of insulin secretion during the IVGTT were analysed by repeated measures ANOVA for effects of treatment (between factor), time (within factor) and interactions, and including dams as a random (block) effect in the model to account for common maternal environment in twins. Glucose-stimulated in vitro insulin secretion was analysed by repeated measures ANOVA for effects of treatment (between factor), glucose concentration (within factor) and interactions. Stimulation and inhibition of *in vitro* insulin secretion were analysed using repeated measures ANOVA for effects of treatment (between factor), stimulation (within factor, 11.1 mM glucose cf. KCl) or inhibition (within factor, 11.1 mM glucose cf. epinephrine and control at 0°C) and interactions, and by mixed model analysis as described above for incubations with individual secretagogues. Plasma adiponectin measured at multiple ages was analysed by repeated measures ANOVA for effects of treatment (between factor), age (within factor) and interactions, and including dams as a random (block) effect in the model to account for common maternal environment in twins. Relationships between in vivo measures, in vitro measures, gene expression and other outcomes were analysed by Pearson's correlation. Due to limited numbers of females in each treatment group, it was not possible to analyse outcomes on a sex-specific basis or to include sex as a factor in models. In our previous studies of PR lambs at similar ages, postnatal β -cell mass and function, insulin secretion and action did not differ between sexes in the first month of life (32).

CHAPTER 3

STATEMENT OF AUTHORSHIP

Title of Paper	Neonatal Exendin-4 Reduces Growth, Fat Deposition and				
	Glucose Tolerance During Treatment in the Intrauterine				
	Growth-Restricted Lamb				
Publication Status	Published				
Publication Details	Gatford, K.L.*, Sulaiman, S.A.*, Mohammad, S.N.B., De				
	Blasio, M. J., Harland, M. L., Simmons, R.A., Owens, J. A.				
	(2013). Neonatal Exendin-4 Reduces Growth, Fat Deposition				
	and Glucose Tolerance During Treatment in the Intrauterine				
	Growth-Restricted Lamb. PLOS One, 8 (2): e56533				
	*Equal joint first authors				

Author Contributions

By signing the Statement of Authorship, each author certifies that their stated contribution is accurate and that permission is granted for the publication to be included in the candidate's thesis.

Siti Aishah Sulaiman			
Assisted with or performed in vivo and	l in vitro e	xperiments including	
surgery, glucose tolerance tests and hyp	perinsulin	aemic clamps and islet	
insulin secretion studies. Analysed plas	sma sampl	les for insulin and	
performed all immunohistochemical staining and counting of pancreas			
sections. Conducted statistical analysis of data and contributed to data			
interpretation, wrote first draft of manuscript. Edited manuscript and			
approved final version for submission.			
[]	Date	- adjes	
		20/8/14	
	Siti Aishah Sulaiman Assisted with or performed in vivo and surgery, glucose tolerance tests and hy insulin secretion studies. Analysed pla performed all immunohistochemical st sections. Conducted statistical analysis interpretation, wrote first draft of many approved final version for submission.	Siti Aishah Sulaiman Assisted with or performed in vivo and in vitro e surgery, glucose tolerance tests and hyperinsulin insulin secretion studies. Analysed plasma sampl performed all immunohistochemical staining and sections. Conducted statistical analysis of data ar interpretation, wrote first draft of manuscript. Ed approved final version for submission. Date	

Name of Co - Author	Kathryn L. Gatford			
Contribution to the	Obtained external grant funding for project, designed and managed			
paper	study, performed catheterisation surgeries and assisted with in vivo			
	experiments. Trained students in required techniques, including data			
	analysis and contributed to data interpretation and first draft of			
	manuscript. Wrote final manuscript version with input from all			
	coauthors. Approved final version for submission.			
Signature		Date	21/08/14	

Name of Co - Author	Saidatul N B Mohammad			
Contribution to the paper	Assisted with in vivo and in vitro experiments including surgery, glucose tolerance tests and hyperinsulinaemic clamps and islet insulin secretion studies and insulin analyses. Edited manuscript and approved			
	final version for submission			
Signature	Date 1/09/14			

Name of Co - Author	Miles J. De Blasio			
Contribution to the	Performed catheterisation surgeries and assisted with in vivo			
paper	experiments. Performed analysis of plasma metabolites. Edited			
	manuscript and approved final version for submission.			
Signature	~	Date	21/08/2014	

Name of Co - Author	M. Lyn Harland				
Contribution to the	Trained students in techniques required for in vitro experiments and				
paper	assisted with these protocols. Edited manuscript and approved final				
	version for submission.				
Signature	Date 21/08/2014				

Name of Co - Author	Rebecca A. Simmons		
Contribution to the	Contributed to experimental design and funding application. Edited		
paper	manuscript and approved final version for submission.		
Signature	Date		9-10-2014

Name of Co - Author	Julie A. Owens			
Contribution to the	Contributed to experimental design and funding application. Assisted in			
paper	data analysis and interpretation. Edi	ted manusc	ript and approved final	
	version for submission.			
Signature	-	Date	9/12/14	

3 CHAPTER 3 IN VIVO AND IN VITRO OUTCOMES

3.1 ABSTRACT

Background: IUGR increases the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) in later life, due to reduced insulin sensitivity and impaired adaptation of insulin secretion. In IUGR rats, development of T2DM can be prevented by neonatal administration of the GLP1 analogue exendin-4. We therefore investigated effects of neonatal exendin-4 administration on insulin action and β -cell mass and function in the IUGR neonate in the sheep, a species with a more developed pancreas at birth.

Methods: Twin IUGR lambs were injected s.c. daily with vehicle (IUGR+Veh, n=8) or exendin-4 (1 nmol.kg⁻¹, IUGR+Ex-4, n=8), and singleton control lambs were injected with vehicle (CON, n=7), from d 1 to 16 of age. Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity were measured *in vivo* during treatment (d 12-14). Body compositions, β -cell mass and *in vitro* insulin secretion of isolated pancreatic islets were measured at d 16.

Principal Findings: IUGR+Veh did not alter *in vivo* insulin secretion or insulin sensitivity or β -cell mass, but, increased glucose-stimulated insulin secretion *in vitro*. Exendin-4 treatment of the IUGR lamb impaired glucose tolerance *in vivo*, reflecting reduced insulin sensitivity, and normalised glucose-stimulated insulin secretion *in vitro*. Exendin-4 also reduced neonatal growth and visceral fat accumulation in IUGR lambs, known risk factors for later T2DM.

Conclusions: Neonatal exendin-4 induces changes in IUGR lambs that might improve later insulin action. Whether these effects of exendin-4 lead to improved insulin action in adult life after IUGR in the sheep, as in the PR rat, requires further investigation.

3.2 INTRODUCTION

Small size at birth or intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) consistently predicts increased risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) in human studies (1, 2), including independent of gestation length (42). This relationship is consistent and significant, with ~18% of the lifetime risk of T2DM accounted for by poor growth before birth (28). Impaired insulin sensitivity and inadequate insulin secretion are each implicated as contributing to this increased risk of T2DM in the IUGR human (1, 6, 7, 50).

Poor fetal growth commonly reflects restricted fetal supply of oxygen and nutrients due to impaired placental growth and/or function (31). In the sheep, surgically-induced restriction of placental growth (PR) from before mating, and small size at birth, increase insulin sensitivity in early neonatal life in association with catchup growth and increased fat deposition (141, 176). PR nevertheless impairs glucosestimulated insulin disposition before weaning at 1 month of age, and this progresses to impaired and insulin sensitivity blunted basal and glucose-stimulated insulin disposition in young adult males at 1 year of age (8, 32). Impaired β -cell function is the primary cause of this inadequate insulin secretion, which occurs despite increases in β cell mass in 1-year-old males (8). Similarly, PR late in pregnancy in rats produces progeny with normal circulating glucose and insulin levels at 1 week of age, but mild fasting hyperglycaemia and hyperinsulinaemia at 7-10 weeks and frank diabetes by 26 weeks (3, 4). Impaired β -cell function with later reduction in β -cell mass is also implicated in decreased insulin secretion in the PR rat postnatally (3, 4). Excitingly, administration of the GLP1 analogue exendin-4 to neonatal PR rats normalised subsequent β -cell mass and insulin secretion and prevented later development of T2DM (9). Prevention of T2DM by neonatal exendin-4 treatment in PR rats is at least partially due to induction and normalisation of expression of the transcription factor PDX1 (9,

33), which regulates β -cell function as well as adaptive increases in β -cell mass (66, 67), and is epigenetically down-regulated in PR rat progeny (21).

The timing of pancreatic development and maturation of β -cell function, and therefore developmental stages of exposure to IUGR and neonatal interventions, differs between species. In humans and sheep, most pancreatic development takes place before birth, with β -cells present by 0.25 gestation, islets present in mid-gestation and substantial remodelling to a mature endocrine pancreas by near term (10-13). In both species, β -cell function is present and matures from mid-gestation onwards (14-17). This functional maturation in humans and sheep may be driven in part by their prepartum surge in cortisol. In contrast, rodents undergo later development of β -cells than sheep or humans, with β -cells first appearing in late gestation (0.6) and pancreatic remodelling at ~10-17 d postnatal age (18-20). Neonatal surges in corticosterone and β cell maturation in rodents are marked by increased expression of key molecular determinants of glucose-induced insulin secretion coupling (186) and mitochondrial enzymes of the NADH shuttle, essential for stimulation of insulin secretion by oxidative metabolism (187). Exendin-4 may in part be effective in preventing PR programming of reduced β -cell mass and function in rodents, because it occurs before and during such maturation. In the present study, we have therefore treated neonatal IUGR sheep with exendin-4 and assessed whether it is able to induce changes in growth, insulin action and β -cell mass and function after IUGR in a species in which the pancreas undergoes most maturation before birth.

3.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.3.1 Ethics statement

All procedures in this study were approved by the University of Adelaide Animal Experimentation and Ethics Committee (approval M-84-2007) and complied with the Australian code of practice for the care and use of animals for scientific purposes (171).

3.3.2 Animal, treatments and surgery

Australian Merino ewes underwent a timed-mating program, and pregnancies were confirmed by ultrasound scanning at ~60 d gestational age (term ~ 150 d). Delivery occurred naturally at term and the lambs were housed in floor pens with their mothers throughout the study and allowed to suckle freely, with access to their mother's feed and water, except during experimental protocols as described below. Natural twinning was used to induce IUGR. Sibling twin lambs were injected with vehicle (0.5% methanol in 0.9% saline s.c., IUGR+Veh) or exendin-4 (1 nmol.kg⁻¹ s.c., IUGR+Ex-4, n = 8), with the first twin pair randomly allocated to treatments and then the heavier and lighter birth weight twin alternately allocated in order to balance birth weights between the two treatments. Exendin-4 (Bachem, Buberndorf, Germany) was prepared as a 5 nM stock in 0.5% methanol and 0.9% saline, and stored at -20°C in single use aliquots, which were thawed immediately prior to injection. Singleton lambs were injected daily with vehicle (CON, n = 7). All lambs (singletons and twins) were supplemented with whey protein (Resource Beneprotein instant protein powder, Nestle, Australia) given orally in two equal feeds (at 0900 - 1000 h and 1600 - 1700 h), commencing at 1.25 $g.kg^{-1}.d^{-1}$ on d 4 and increasing to 5 $g.kg^{-1}.d^{-1}$ on and after d 7. Feeding this supplement during this period of maximal catch-up growth in IUGR lambs (176) was intended to minimise the potential for limitation of neonatal growth by milk availability in twins (174) by providing $\sim 25\%$ of the protein expected to be available through milk, and allowing lambs to self-regulate their milk intake to appetite. On d 4, catheters were inserted into the lamb's femoral artery and vein under general anaesthesia, induced and maintained by fluothane inhalation anaesthetic, as described

previously (176). Basal blood samples were collected from arterial catheters every second morning before supplement feeding. Lambs were weighed at birth and then every 2 d throughout the study. Lamb size was measured at birth and then every 4 d, and absolute (AGR) and fractional (FGR) growth rates from birth to d 16 fitted by linear regression (176).

3.3.3 In vivo measures of insulin secretion, sensitivity, and action.

Glucose tolerance and glucose-stimulated insulin secretion were measured during an intravenous glucose tolerance test (IVGTT) at d 14, and indices of glucose tolerance and insulin secretion calculated as described previously (32, 176, 177). The sensitivity glucose whole body insulin of metabolism was measured by hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic clamp at d 12 (177). Insulin sensitivity_{glucose}, the metabolic clearance rate (MCR) of insulin, basal and maximal post-hepatic insulin delivery rates, and basal and maximal insulin disposition indices (IDI) were calculated as described previously (177).

3.3.4 Analysis of plasma insulin and metabolites.

Plasma insulin concentrations were measured in duplicate by a double antibody, solid phase radioimmunoassay using a commercially available kit (Human insulin-specific RIA, HI-14K, Linco Research Inc., St Charles, MO, USA), which has 100% cross-reactivity with ovine insulin. The intra-assay coefficients of variation (CV) for the insulin assay were 7.2% and 5.3%, and inter-assay CV were 7.0% and 19.6% for QC samples containing 9.9 and 35.9 mU.L⁻¹ insulin respectively (n=10 assays). Plasma glucose concentrations were measured by colorimetric enzymatic analysis on a Hitachi 912 automated metabolic analyser using Roche/Hitachi Glucose/HK kits (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany).

3.3.5 Post-mortem

Lambs were euthanized by overdose of sodium pentobarbitone at d 16. Organs (liver, kidneys, lungs, heart), muscles (semitendinosus, gastrocnemius, soleus, tibialis, extensor digitorum longus, biceps femoris, vastus lateralis, biceps), and dissectable fat depots (left and right perirenal fat, left and right retroperitoneal fat and omental fat) were dissected and weighed for each lamb. Dissected muscle and visceral fat weights were calculated as the sum of weights of these muscles and fat depots, respectively.

3.3.6 Pancreas and islet isolation and morphometric analysis

Each pancreas was rapidly dissected and weighed. Representative mixed aliquots were fixed for 48 h in 4% paraformaldehyde before embedding in paraffin wax. One section per block was immune-stained to detect insulin-positive cells, and morphometric analysis of β -cells was performed as described previously, in 20 fields of view per sheep selected by random-systematic sampling (8). Measures of *in vivo* β -cell function were calculated by dividing total, 1st phase and 2nd phase glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and basal and maximal IDI by β -cell mass. Pancreatic islets were obtained by collagenase digestion of pancreas at 35°C for 40 min, washing and handpicking of islets >100 μ m in diameter, with purity confirmed by immunostaining of aliquots as previously described (178). Islet aliquots were cultured overnight at 37°C in 95% O₂/5% CO₂ in RPMI 1640 media (Sigma Aldrich, Sydney, Australia).

3.3.7 *In vitro* β-cell secretion and responses

Static islet incubation and experiments were performed as previously described (178). Briefly, for each animal and incubation condition, triplicate preparations of 10 islets were handpicked into 1.5 mL tubes. Static incubations were performed at 37°C for 1 h in KRB/BSA/Forskolin media containing 0, 1.1, 11.1 mM glucose, or 15 mM

KCl, or 11.1 glucose plus 5mM Lysine, 11.1 glucose plus 5mM Arginine, 1.1 glucose plus 10mM Leucine, 11.1 glucose plus 10µM Epinephrine, or at 0°C for 1 h in KRB/BSA/Forskolin media containing 11.1 glucose. Islets were then centrifuged, supernatant collected for insulin analysis and DNA was ethanol-extracted from pellets and quantified by PicoGreen dsDNA Quantification kit (Invitrogen, Melbourne, Australia). *In vitro* insulin secretion for each replicate was calculated as insulin concentration divided by DNA concentration. *In vitro* data for an animal was included in analyses provided that insulin secretion in incubations with KCl (test of maximal release) was greater than those obtained from incubations with epinephrine or at 0°C (inhibitory quality controls). Due to technical difficulties with some preparations, *in vitro* insulin secretion data was obtained successfully for 5 CON, 5 IUGR+Veh and 6 IUGR+Ex-4 lambs.

3.3.8 Statistical analysis

Data for non-repeated measures on each animal were analysed by the mixed models procedure of SPSS for effects of treatment (fixed effect) and including dam as a random (block) effect in the model to account for common maternal environment in twins. Where treatment effects or trends were apparent (P < 0.1), we then compared means by the LSD method, based on a priori questions to determine: 1. effects of IUGR (CON *cf.* IUGR+Veh groups), 2. effects of exendin-4 in IUGR lambs (IUGR+Veh *cf.* IUGR+Ex-4 groups), and 3. to assess whether exendin-4 restored values to those of controls (CON *cf.* IUGR+Ex-4 groups). We also confirmed these comparisons between IUGR+Veh and IUGR+Ex-4 groups using a paired t-test to compare twin siblings, and the significance of this test was consistent with that for LSD comparisons for all measures (data not shown). Neonatal growth patterns and glucose, insulin and insulin:glucose ratios overall and during 1st phase (0-30 min) and 2nd phase (30-210

min) of insulin secretion during the IVGTT were analysed by repeated measures for effects of treatment (between factor), time (within factor) and interactions, and including dam as a random (block) effect in the model to account for common maternal environment in twins. Glucose-stimulated in vitro insulin secretion was analysed by repeated measures for effects of treatment (between factor), glucose concentration (within factor) and interactions. Stimulation and inhibition of in vitro insulin secretion were analysed using repeated measures models for effects of treatment (between factor), stimulation (within factor, 11.1 mM glucose or KCl) or inhibition (within factor, 11.1 mM glucose or epinephrine) and interactions, and by mixed model as described above for incubations with individual secretagogues.

3.4 **RESULTS**

3.4.1 Size at birth, neonatal growth and body composition

Lamb weight, abdominal circumference and body mass index at birth were reduced in twin lambs (all IUGR groups) compared to singleton lambs (each P<0.001, Table 3.1). Absolute and fractional growth rates for weight and abdominal circumference, and absolute but not fractional growth rate for shoulder height, differed with treatment (Table 3.1). IUGR+Veh lambs had higher FGR for weight and abdominal circumference than CON lambs (P = 0.022 and P = 0.001 respectively), and by d 16, there was no difference in weight between these two groups (Figure 3.1A). In control and IUGR+Veh lambs, FGR for weight increased as birth weight decreased (combined: R = -0.700, P = 0.002, n = 15; Figure 3.1B), whereas in IUGR+Ex4 lambs, neonatal FGR was not related to birth weight (P > 0.3; Figure 3.1B). Neonatal exendin-4 treatment reduced neonatal growth rates (Table 1) including for weight (AGR_{weight}, -35%, P < 0.001), linear growth (AGR_{shoulder height}, -20%, P = 0.031), and organ growth (AGR_{abdominal circumference}, -30%, P = 0.007), and this group were lighter than CON and IUGR+Veh lambs at d16 (Figure 3.1). Neonatal exendin-4 reduced body weight (-18%, P = 0.016) and relative visceral fat mass (-57%, P < 0.001) at post-mortem compared to IUGR+Veh lambs (Table 3.1). IUGR+Ex-4 lambs had lower absolute liver weights than CON (-28%, P = 0.001) or IUGR+Veh (-25%, P = 0.009) lambs, and lower relative liver weights (as a proportion of body weight) than IUGR+Veh lambs (-9%, P = 0.021). Absolute summed muscle mass was lower in IUGR+Veh lambs (-3.7%, P = 0.017) relative to CON, and was decreased by exendin-4 treatment relative to CON (-27%, P < 0.001) and IUGR+Veh (-25%, P = 0.004) groups. Relative summed muscle weight also tended to be lower in IUGR+Veh (-7.6%, P = 0.093) and was lower in IUGR+Ex-4 (-9.5%, P = 0.019) compared to CON lambs (Table 3.1).

Chapter 3

Table 3.1Effect of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on size at birth, postnatal growth and body composition in young lambs.

Neonatal growth rates are from d 0 to 16. NS: P > 0.1, * different from CON (P < 0.05), ^ different from IUGR+Veh (P < 0.05).

	CON	IUGR+Veh	IUGR+Ex-4	Significance (treatment effect)
Number of animals	7	8	8	
Size at birth				
Birth weight (kg)	6.01 ± 0.21	$4.82\pm0.17*$	$4.84\pm0.15^*$	< 0.001
Crown rump length (cm)	56.3 ± 1.4	54.6 ± 1.1	55.1 ± 1.1	NS
Shoulder height (cm)	44.0 ± 0.7	$40.1\pm0.8*$	$40.9\pm0.7*$	0.008
Abdominal circumference (cm)	40.1 ± 0.4	$35.1\pm0.9*$	$36.1\pm0.6*$	< 0.001
Body mass index (kg.m ⁻²)	19.2 ± 1.1	$16.3\pm0.8*$	$16.0\pm0.7*$	0.040
Neonatal Growth				
AGR _{weight} (g.day ⁻¹)	309 ± 29	327 ± 14	211 ± 17*^	0.001
FGR _{weight} (%.day ⁻¹)	5.17 ± 0.48	6.86 ± 0.39	$4.35\pm0.32^{\text{A}}$	0.001
AGR _{shoulder height} (cm.day ⁻¹)	0.390 ± 0.027	$0.507 \pm 0.037 *$	$0.403\pm0.038^{\text{A}}$	0.030
FGR _{shoulder height} (%.day ⁻¹)	0.89 ± 0.06	1.17 ± 0.19	1.00 ± 0.11	NS
AGR _{abdominal circumference} (cm.day ⁻¹)	0.473 ± 0.075	$0.782 \pm 0.042 *$	$0.544\pm0.048^{\text{A}}$	0.002
$FGR_{abdominal circumference}$ (%.day ⁻¹)	1.18 ± 0.19	$2.25\pm0.17*$	$1.52\pm0.15^{\text{A}}$	0.001
Postmortem (d 16)				
Body weight (kg)	11.0 ± 0.5	10.1 ± 0.3	$8.33 \pm 0.25 *^{10}$	< 0.001
Total liver weight (g)	296 ± 19	285 ± 17	$214 \pm 7*$	0.002
Total liver weight (% of body weight)	2.70 ± 0.10	2.82 ± 0.14	$2.57\pm0.07^{\star}$	NS
Summed muscle mass (g)	265 ± 13	$228\pm8^{*}$	$183 \pm 9^{*}$	< 0.001
Summed muscle mass (% of body weight)	2.42 ± 0.07	2.26 ± 0.04	$2.19\pm0.08*$	0.055
Visceral fat (g)	132 ± 19	118 ± 11	$41.7 \pm 6.3^{*}$	< 0.001
Visceral fat (% of body weight)	1.19 ± 0.17	1.16 ± 0.09	$0.495 \pm 0.062 ^{*}$	< 0.001



Figure 3.1 Effect of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on (A) lamb growth and (B) relationships between birth weight and neonatal fractional growth rate.

CON (white circle) and IUGR+Veh (black circle) lambs were treated once daily with vehicle (0.5 % methanol in saline s.c.) and IUGR+Ex-4 (grey square) lambs were treated once daily with exendin-4 (1 nmol.kg⁻¹ s.c.). Data in Figure 1A are means \pm SEM, and data in Figure 1B are individual animal outcomes. * different from CON (P < 0.05), ^ different from IUGR+Veh (P < 0.05).

3.4.2 Insulin secretion, sensitivity and action

Fasting glucose and insulin levels, glucose tolerance and overall, 1st phase and 2nd phase insulin secretion in vivo were similar in IUGR+Veh and CON lambs (each P > 0.1, Table 3.2), Fasting plasma glucose (d 14) was reduced in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs compared to CON (-10%, P = 0.022) and IUGR+Veh lambs (-9%, P = 0.019, Table 3.2). Conversely, glucose tolerance was impaired (increased glucose AUC) in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs overall (+132%, +156% respectively), during first phase insulin secretion (+41%, +57%), and during second phase insulin secretion compared to CON and IUGR+Veh lambs (each $P \le 0.02$, Table 3.2). Across the whole of the IVGTT, and within the 1st phase of insulin secretion, plasma glucose (Figure 3.2) changed with time (each P < 0.001). Fasting plasma glucose in fasting samples was lower in IUGR+Ex4 than in IUGR+Veh lambs (P < 0.001), and tended to be lower in IUGR+Ex4 than in CON lambs (P = 0.091). Conversely, plasma glucose during the 1^{st} phase of insulin secretion was higher in IUGR+Ex4 than in IUGR+Veh lambs (P < 0.001), and plasma glucose during the 2^{nd} phase of insulin secretion did not differ between groups (P > 0.3). The pattern of change in plasma glucose with time differed between groups overall (P < 0.001) and during the 1^{st} phase of insulin secretion (P = 0.003). Fasting plasma insulin in absolute terms and relative to glucose, and insulin secretion (assessed relative to the glucose stimulus as AUC insulin/AUC glucose) did not differ between the groups (Table 3.2 and Figure 3.2). Plasma insulin (Figure 3.2) changed with time throughout the IVGTT (P < 0.001), and within 1^{st} (P < 0.001) and 2^{nd} phase (P = 0.008) of insulin response. The ratio of plasma insulin to glucose (Figure 3.2), an index of insulin secretion, similarly changed with time throughout the IVGTT (P<0.001), and within 1^{st} (P = 0.015) and 2^{nd} phase (P = 0.005) of insulin response. Plasma insulin concentrations and the ratio of plasma insulin to glucose ratios during the IVGTT
(Figure 3.2) were higher in IUGR+Ex4 than in IUGR+Veh lambs overall (each P < 0.001) and during the 2nd phase of insulin secretion (each P < 0.001), and did not differ between other treatment groups. IUGR+Ex-4 lambs had lower insulin sensitivity compared to CON (-44%, P = 0.004) and IUGR+Veh lambs (-46%, P = 0.002, Table 3.2). Basal and maximal insulin disposition indices did not differ between groups (Table 3.2).

3.4.3 Pancreas morphology and β -cell function

Absolute and relative pancreas weights, and numbers of β -cells per islet, β -cell volume density and absolute β -cell mass did not differ with treatment (Table 3.3). β -cell mass relative to body weight was greater in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs than CON lambs (+36%, P = 0.039, Table 3.3). IUGR+Ex-4 lambs also tended to have higher relative β -cell mass than IUGR+Veh lambs (+28%, P = 0.083, Table 3.3). Measures of β -cell function did not differ between treatments (Table 3.3).

Table 3.2Effect of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on insulin secretion and action in young lambs.

Glucose and insulin AUC were measured during an IVGTT (0.25 g glucose.kg⁻¹) at d 14. 1st and 2nd phase values for insulin and glucose were measured from 0-30 and from 30-210 min after glucose administration, respectively. Insulin sensitivity was measured during a hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic clamp (2 mU insulin.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹) at d 12. NS: P > 0.1, * different from CON (P < 0.05), ^ different from IUGR+Veh (P < 0.05).

	CON	IUGR+Veh	IUGR+Ex-4	Significance (treatment effect)
Number of animals	7	8	8	
Fasting				
Plasma glucose (mmol.L ⁻¹)	6.47 ± 0.26	6.40 ± 0.11	5.81 ± 0.12*^	0.008
Plasma insulin (mU.L ⁻¹)	20.4 ± 6.0	15.4 ± 2.2	16.4 ± 2.2	NS
Plasma insulin:glucose (mU.mmol ⁻¹)	3.30 ± 1.11	2.40 ± 0.35	2.83 ± 0.38	NS
AUC glucose (mmol.min. L^{-1})				
Total	62 ± 6	56 ± 3	143 ± 28*^	0.003
1 st phase	60.9 ± 5.4	54.8 ± 2.9	86.2 ± 5.7*^	< 0.001
2 nd phase	1 ± 1	1 ± 1	$57 \pm 24*^{10}$	0.017
AUC insulin (mU.min. L^{-1})				
Total	587 ± 184	590 ± 181	863 ± 178	NS
1 st phase	499 ± 133	579 ± 180	650 ± 128	NS
2 nd phase	88 ± 61	12 ± 6	213 ± 119	NS
AUC insulin: AUC glucose (mU.mmol ⁻¹)				
Total	10.8 ± 4.3	10.9 ± 3.6	7.6 ± 1.9	NS
1 st phase	8.9 ± 2.8	10.7 ± 3.5	7.8 ± 1.6	NS
2 nd phase	26.5 ± 25.9	0.3 ± 0.3	9.6 ± 2.8	NS
Insulin sensitivity (mg.L.mU ⁻¹ .kg ⁻¹ .min ⁻¹)	0.097 ± 0.010	0.100 ± 0.011	$0.047 \pm 0.009 *^{10}$	0.003
Basal IDI (mg.mL.k g^{-2} .min ⁻²)	69.7 ± 31.2	39.5 ± 5.5	28.4 ± 10.0	NS
Maximal IDI (mg.mL.kg ⁻² .min ⁻²)	138 ± 28	119 ± 27	97 ± 37	NS





CON (white circle, n = 7), IUGR+Veh (black circle, n = 8) and IUGR+Ex-4 (grey square, n = 8). Data are means \pm SEM. * different from CON (P < 0.05).

Chapter 3

Table 3.3 Effect of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on pancreas morphology and β-cell function.

NS: P > 0.1, * different from CON (P < 0.05).

	CON (7)	IUGR+Veh (8)	IUGR+Ex-4 (8)	Significance (treatment effect)
Pancreas morphology				
Pancreas weight (g)	10.8 ± 1.5	8.53 ± 0.93	7.90 ± 0.55	NS
Pancreas (% of body weight)	0.103 ± 0.019	$0.085 \ \pm 0.009$	0.096 ± 0.007	NS
β -cell volume density	0.033 ± 0.005	0.040 ± 0.003	0.049 ± 0.007	NS
β-cell mass (g)	0.326 ± 0.038	0.345 ± 0.054	0.387 ± 0.055	NS
β -cell mass (% of body weight)	0.0030 ± 0.0004	0.0034 ± 0.0005	$0.0047 \pm 0.0006 *$	0.070
Islet density (no.mm ⁻²)	66.3 ± 9.7	76.9 ± 10.3	91.6 ± 10.5	NS
β-cells/islets	10.9 ± 1.4	10.5 ± 1.3	12.9 ± 1.3	NS
% of islets with $<5 \beta$ -cells	27.7 ± 6.3	23.8 ± 6.4	31.3 ± 6.7	NS
β-cell function				
Insulin secretion (AUC ins) per β -cell mass (mU.min.L ⁻¹ .g ⁻¹)	1682 ± 413	1944 ± 588	2190 ± 286	NS
Basal IDI per β -cell mass (mg.mL.kg ⁻² .min ⁻² .g ⁻¹)	187 ± 60	129 ± 25	85.4 ± 26.5	NS
Max IDI per β -cell mass (mg.mL.kg ⁻² .min ⁻² .g ⁻¹)	441 ± 85	389 ± 89	269 ± 94	NS

3.4.4 *In vitro* β-cell secretory function

(Figure 3.3) increased with Islet insulin secretion increasing glucose concentration between 0 and 11.1 mM overall (P = 0.006). Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion tended to be higher overall in IUGR+Veh compared to CON lambs (+420%, P = 0.081), did not differ between IUGR+Ex4 lambs and CON lambs (P = 0.9) and tended to be higher in IUGR+Veh lambs than in IUGR+Ex4 lambs (+20%, P = 0.087). At the highest glucose concentration (11.1 mM), IUGR+Veh lambs had higher insulin secretion than CON lambs (+66%, P = 0.046) and tended to have higher insulin secretion than IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (+58%, P = 0.066 respectively, Figure 3.3). Within each group of lambs, in vitro insulin secretion at 11.1 mM glucose was between 1.6 and 2-fold higher than that at 0 mM glucose (Figure 3.3). In vitro insulin secretion was similar from islets incubated with 15mM KCl or 11.1 mM glucose (P > 0.5), and the response to KCl was similar between treatments (P > 0.8). In vitro insulin secretion was suppressed by epinephrine treatment compared to glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (-62%, P = 0.001). Suppression of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion by epinephrine was greater in IUGR+Veh than CON lambs in absolute terms (-173 cf. -47 µU insulin/µgDNA, P=0.044), but not as a proportion of insulin secretion in the absence of epinephrine (-28.8% cf. -7.8%, P=0.274). Epinephrine suppression of glucosestimulated insulin secretion was similar in islets from IUGR-Ex4 to that in other groups (P>0.1 for each). Lysine-, arginine- and leucine-stimulated in vitro islet insulin secretion did not differ between treatment groups (each P > 0.3, data not shown).



Figure 3.3 Effect of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on *in vitro* insulin secretion from isolated islets in response to glucose and potassium chloride.

CON (white bar, n = 5), IUGR+Veh (black bar, n = 5) and IUGR+Ex-4 (grey bar, n = 5)

6). Data are means \pm SEM. Specific contrasts: * P < 0.05, # P < 0.10.

3.5 DISCUSSION

In the present study, twin IUGR lambs caught up in weight by 16 d of age, and had normal in vivo insulin action in their second week of life, with similar β -cell mass to singleton control lambs. Glucose-stimulated in vitro insulin secretion was increased in the IUGR twin lamb relative to controls, suggesting up-regulated β -cell function at this age. Daily exendin-4 treatment of twin IUGR lambs during neonatal life prevented catch-up growth and fat accumulation, and normalised in vitro insulin secretion from their islets, relative to untreated IUGR twins, which may retain adaptive capacity for later life. Glucose tolerance of IUGR lambs was impaired during exendin-4 treatment however, reflecting decreased insulin sensitivity and occurred despite greater in vivo insulin secretion. This may be due to central actions of exendin-4 to inhibit food intake and insulin sensitivity (24-26). Nevertheless, the reduction in fat accumulation and normalised β -cell action in vitro of IUGR lambs suggest that neonatal exendin-4 might have beneficial effects on insulin-regulated glucose homeostasis in later life. These outcomes also demonstrate the biological activity of exendin-4 for the first time in the sheep, at least in the context of individuals who had undergone growth-restriction before birth.

We found similar growth and metabolic responses to IUGR induced by twinning in this study to those seen previously after IUGR induced by restriction of placental growth and function (PR) in sheep. Like the PR lamb, the twin IUGR lambs in the present study experienced accelerated neonatal catch-up growth, achieving a normal body weight by 16 d of age in this study and by 30 d of age in our studies in PR lambs (141). Accelerated fat deposition occurs during accelerated neonatal growth, and in humans catch-up growth is a risk factor for later obesity (188). PR lambs have fat stores proportionate to their reduced body weight in late gestation (189), and similar to our twin lambs at 16 days in the present study, fat mass relative to body weight is similar in PR and CON lambs at 21 days despite their catch up growth (151). By 43 days of age, however, the accelerated fat deposition results in greater visceral fat in PR lambs than their control counterparts (141). Small size at birth in humans consistently induces insulin resistance in adults and adolescents (1), but this is preceded by enhanced insulin sensitivity in neonates, which reverses to resistance in association with catch-up growth in the first few years of life (7). There is similar evidence of a reversal from insulin sensitivity to insulin resistance in the lamb following IUGR induced by restriction of placental growth and function (PR). The young PR lamb at 21 days of age has increased expression of insulin receptors and insulin signalling molecules in skeletal muscle (190), although in vivo insulin action was not measured. At 30 days, glucose tolerance of PR lambs is normal, despite decreased insulin action caused by falls in both in vivo insulin secretion and insulin sensitivity (141, 191). The latter reflects decreased expression of insulin-signalling pathways in skeletal muscle (191). Impaired glucose tolerance and elevated fasting glucose emerge by 1 year of age in IUGR sheep (140). The normal insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance seen here in the twin IUGR lamb may therefore reflect the beginnings of the reversal from insulin sensitivity to insulin resistance occurring during the neonatal catch-up growth they are experiencing at this age.

Neither IUGR nor neonatal exendin-4 treatment in IUGR lambs altered relative β -cell mass at 16 days in the present study, consistent with the lack of effect of PR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on β -cell mass in young postnatal rats at 2 weeks of age (9). In the rat, reduced β -cell mass after IUGR emerges by 3 months of age in young adults, and neonatal exendin-4 treatment normalises adult β -cell mass at this age in this model (9). We hypothesise that these beneficial effects of exendin-4 treatment after IUGR might also emerge with ageing in the sheep. This lack of an immediate response may also reflect the collection of pancreas soon after completion of exendin-4 treatment here and in PR rats. Previous rodent studies have reported increased β -cell replication after similar exendin-4 treatment durations, but differences in β -cell mass are sometimes not apparent until several weeks later (reviewed by 153, 192). Many of the actions of exendin-4 and GLP1 on insulin secretion are mediated via stimulation of PDX1 expression, a transcription factor important for regulation of β -cell mass as well as function, and which is required for plasticity of β -cell mass and function to increase insulin secretion in response to demand. In the PR rat, prevention of later diabetes following neonatal exendin-4 treatment reflects reversal of epigenetic changes induced by PR in the PDX1 promoter by late gestation, that normally worsen with age and lead to decreased *PDX1* expression, loss of β -cell function and subsequent loss of β -cell mass postnatally (9, 21, 33). Intriguingly, although neonatal exendin-4 induces epigenetic changes such as increased acetylation and lysine 4 trimethylation at histone H3 in control as well as PR rat juveniles, it only increases *PDX1* expression and β -cell mass and improves glucose tolerance in the PR progeny (9, 21, 33). Indeed, the PDX1 promotor becomes methylated and hence partially silenced by adulthood in untreated PR rat progeny, but not in control progeny regardless of exendin-4 treatment, which implies that the levels of histone 3 acetylation and lysine 4 trimethylation in untreated control progeny is already sufficient to prevent later promoter methylation (33). We do not yet know whether neonatal exendin-4 treatment will affect outcomes in control sheep progeny, as the aim of the present study was to evaluate its efficacy only in the context of IUGR. Whether neonatal exendin-4 acts similarly in the IUGR lamb as in the PR rat, by reversing epigenetic changes in the PDX1 promotor and improves adult β cell mass and function to delay or prevent the subsequent loss of insulin secretory

capacity observed after IUGR in young adult male sheep (32) remains to be determined, and will require separate animal cohorts with long-term follow-up of functional and molecular outcomes.

In this study, the decrease in fasting plasma glucose (~9%) and more sustained insulin secretion during exendin-4 treatment in the IUGR neonatal lamb compared to untreated IUGR siblings were generally consistent with responses to exendin-4 in rodents and humans. Medium- to long-term exendin-4 treatment in human T2DM patients (daily 5-10 µg injections for 30 and 82 weeks) (193-195), in the obese diabetic db/db mouse (1 nmol.kg⁻¹.d⁻¹ as daily injections for 14 days) (196), and in the obese *ob/ob* mouse (20 μ g.kg⁻¹.d⁻¹, ~ 5 nmol.kg⁻¹.d⁻¹ as twice daily injections for 60 days) (197) reduces fasting blood glucose as well as HbA1c, a marker of chronic hyperglycaemia. Earlier studies in humans also demonstrated acute decreases in fasting and post-prandial glucose concentrations after a single exendin-4 dose and after 5 days of twice daily injections with 5 µg exendin-4 (198). Infusions with GLP1 and chronic exendin-4 treatment enhance post-prandial and glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in human patients with T2DM, including restoration of 1st phase insulin secretion response to glucose, and sustained elevation of 2nd phase insulin secretion in T2DM patients (198-200). In the diabetic rat, four weeks of twice-daily exendin-4 injections (105 pmol.kg⁻¹) increased 1st and 2nd phase insulin secretion during a hyperglycaemic clamp (201). Whilst we similarly observed increases in second phase insulin secretion in IUGR lambs during exendin-4 treatment, their first phase insulin secretion was unchanged. This apparent difference may be because first phase insulin secretion is normal in the IUGR lamb at this age, whereas previous reports of increased first phase insulin responses after exendin-4 or GLP1 treatment have all been in the context of diabetes, when first phase secretion is impaired. The effects of exendin-4 on insulin secretion in IUGR sheep AFTER cessation of treatment remain to be investigated.

We performed *in vitro* testing to measure intrinsic β -cell function independent of systemic input from endocrine and nervous systems (178). In this study, IUGR neonatal lambs had enhanced *in vitro* glucose-stimulated insulin secretion, or β -cell hyper-secretion relative to control lambs, which occurs in obese individuals, as well as early in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes (202-204). Interestingly, exendin-4 treatment of IUGR lambs abolished this *in vitro* insulin hyper-secretion from isolated islets, suggesting some normalisation of intrinsic β -cell function and its determinants. Together with increased β -cell mass, this suggests that neonatal exendin-4 may improve insulin secretory capacity after IUGR.

In contrast with the improved insulin sensitivity seen after chronic GLP1 or exendin-4 treatment in human patients with extreme obesity (205) or T2DM (206), insulin sensitivity was profoundly decreased on the 11^{th} day of exendin-4 treatment in neonatal IUGR lambs, relative to their untreated IUGR twins. In studies of exendin-4 action in rodents, direct measures and calculated indices of insulin sensitivity have either been increased (197, 201, 207), or not altered (196), immediately following or during chronic (2 – 9 weeks) exendin-4 treatment. We propose that the differential effects of exendin-4 on insulin sensitivity may depend on whether the latter is assessed during treatment or after, whether the subjects are obese and on their developmental stage and growth rate. Exendin-4 reduced weight gain in the IUGR lambs in the present study, consistent with its actions including decreased food and caloric intake, reduced gastric emptying and induced weight loss or slowed weight gain in mice and rats (208, 209) and in adolescent and adult humans (193-195, 205, 210-212). It appears that restricted nutrition reduces insulin sensitivity in growing animals, possibly partly due to

reduced mass of insulin-responsive tissues, whereas in older or obese animals the net effect of restricted feeding and consequently reduced fatness is to increase insulin sensitivity. Thus, feed restriction increases insulin-stimulated glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity in adult sheep (213), but decreases insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in muscle of young growing pigs (214). In mice, exendin-4 can cross the blood-brain barrier (215), and acts centrally to suppress femoral blood flow and whole body insulin sensitivity, via the GLP-1 receptor and activation of PKC-8 signalling pathways in the hypothalamus (24, 25), suggesting an additional mechanism for decreased peripheral insulin sensitivity during exendin-4 treatment. As a consequence of their reduced insulin sensitivity, and despite the increased 2nd phase insulin secretion that maintained insulin disposition, glucose tolerance was impaired in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs compared to IUGR+Veh and CON lambs. This contrasts with improved glucose tolerance observed 24 h after completion of medium- to long-term exendin-4 treatment in mature rats (197, 200, 201, 207), during continued long-term exendin-4 treatment in β -cell depleted rats (201), and acutely in T2DM human patients (200). In some of these studies, the improved glucose tolerance during or after exendin-4 treatment reflects marked improvement of deficient insulin secretion due to stimulation of β -cell regeneration (201) or up-regulation of β -cell function in T2DM patients (200). Long-term exendin-4 treatment increases insulin sensitivity in obese humans, genetically-obese rodents and diabetic humans and rodents, measured either during or 16-24 h after completion of treatment (197, 205, 207, 216). Improved whole-body insulin sensitivity is probably also due to improvements in hepatic insulin sensitivity, with lower post-prandial endogenous glucose production after or during exendin-4 treatment (217). To our knowledge, this is the first study of the effects of exendin-4 on insulin action treatment in young growing animals.

The profound reduction in visceral fat deposition after IUGR in response to exendin-4 is also of particular potential importance for later glucose homeostasis, given that obesity and particularly visceral fat deposition are strong risk factors for impaired glucose tolerance and T2DM (218, 219). In the PR rat, neonatal exendin-4 reduces later weight gain in conjunction with prevention of later diabetes, and this may particularly reduce the risk of T2DM in IUGR subjects (9), since catch-up growth after IUGR is a risk factor for T2DM and for adult obesity (188, 220). Intriguingly, neonatal exendin-4 treatment abolished the negative relationship between birth weight and fractional growth rate in IUGR lambs in the current study. In contrast to its metabolic effects, exendin-4 reduced adult size in both control and PR rat progeny (9). This suggests that exendin-4 may act in part, but not only, via the pathway/s responsible for catch-up after IUGR, which include neonatal hyperphagia, elevated insulin sensitivity and increased abundance of thyroid hormones in IUGR lambs (141, 176, 221). Longer-term evaluations of growth and composition after cessation of exendin-4 are needed to determine whether this decrease in central adiposity persists in the IUGR sheep.

3.6 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, neonatal exendin-4 treatment increased 2nd phase insulin secretion *in vivo*, normalised *in vitro* insulin secretion and decreased visceral fat at the end of treatment in the IUGR lamb. Neonatal exendin-4 treatment also improves insulin secretion and glucose tolerance in adolescent and adult rat progeny following IUGR, preventing development of diabetes in these animals (9), although the effects during treatment were not measured in the latter study. Investigation of the long-term effects of neonatal exendin-4 on glucose homeostasis and insulin action in the IUGR lamb into adulthood should be a priority for the future.

CHAPTER 4

4 CHAPTER 4 EFFECT OF IUGR DUE TO TWINNING AND NEONATAL EXENDIN-4 TREATMENT ON MOLECULAR DETERMINANTS OF β-CELL FUNCTION AND MASS IN YOUNG LAMBS

4.1 INTRODUCTION

Intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) increases the risk of type 2 diabetes (T2D) in later life, due to impaired insulin sensitivity and inadequate insulin secretion or action (1, 2). In a study of 19-year-old Caucasian men, reduced insulin action was observed in IUGR men despite no evidence of insulin resistance (6), which indicates that impaired insulin secretion can be present before insulin resistance emerges following IUGR. In experimentally-induced IUGR, reduced insulin secretion was evident in PR rats from 2 weeks of age and followed by reduced β-cell mass, impaired glucose tolerance and insulin action at 3 months of age (4). Importantly, administration of the GLP1 analogue, exendin-4, to neonatal PR rats normalised subsequent β -cell mass and insulin secretion and prevented later development of T2D (9). Because fetal growth is substantially determined by substrate availability, IUGR and prenatal nutrient deprivation causes the fetus to adapt and survive by slowing growth and preserving critical organs at the expense of others (44). Restored nutrition after birth following IUGR may expose any defects in insulin action programmed by IUGR (49). Understanding how these processes and their underlying molecular determinants are influenced by nutrient deprivation and IUGR before birth is needed to develop effective interventions.

Altered expression of molecular determinants of β -cell mass and function following IUGR contributes to risk of impaired insulin action and diabetes in later life. *PDX1* is a master regulator of β -cell growth and development as well as β -cell postnatal adaptation (54, 222) and directly regulates expression of insulin (INS, 62), glucose transporter 2, (SLC2A2, 63) and glucokinase (GCK, 64), which are determinants of insulin secretion by β -cells. In PR-induced IUGR rats, impaired insulin secretion and loss of β -cell mass are partly due to reduced expression of PDX1 (4), which is epigenetically down-regulated (21). Moreover, heterozygous PDX1 knockout mice have attenuated in vivo glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (66) and this PDX1 deficiency causes impaired glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and glucose tolerance in response to insulin resistance (66). This indicates that deficiency of PDX1 expression leads to failure of compensatory increases in β -cell function, especially insulin secretion, in response to insulin demand or resistance. Other molecular regulators of βcell function may also be programmed by IUGR. In experimentally-induced IUGR sheep, β -cell function and insulin secretion was impaired in adult male IUGR sheep, and gene expression of an L-type voltage-gated Ca^{+2} channel subunit (CACNA1D) was reduced in IUGR young lambs (8). Importantly, β -cell function in the young IUGR lambs correlated positively with CACNA1D mRNA expression (8), suggesting that CACNA1D may be critical in regulating β -cell function and insulin secretion. Another potential regulatory mechanism for altered gene regulation of β -cell mass and function is through microRNAs (miRNA), which are short single-stranded non-coding RNAs (18-22 nucleotides in length) that can regulate gene expression by binding to target messenger mRNA (69). Several miRNAs regulate \beta-cell development and function, including miRNA-124a (miR-124a) which targets FOXA2, a transcriptional activator of the PDX1 gene (75), miRNA-375 (miR-375) which down-regulates mRNA expression of the Myotrophin (MTPN) gene required for exocytosis of insulin vesicles (76) and miRNA-7 (miR-7). Suppression of miR-7 expression by antisense miRNA in mice embryos leads to reduced insulin synthesis and β -cell numbers in newborn pups, and

these mice developed impaired glucose tolerance postnatally (78). Whether IUGR alters gene expression of miRNAs or other determinants of β -cell mass and function is unknown, and thus requires further investigation to determine whether this is a mechanism for impaired insulin secretion or action following IUGR.

IUGR due to twinning in sheep increased catch up growth in young lambs from birth to 16 d of age, whilst neonatal exendin-4 treatment prevented catch-up growth and halved visceral fat mass at 16 d of age (Chapter 3, 172). Exendin-4 treated IUGR lambs had proportionally less lean mass than control lambs, but did not differ in lean mass compared to vehicle-treated IUGR twin lambs (Chapter 3, 172). Although we did not observe any effect of IUGR due to twinning on in vivo β-cell function and mass, IUGR increased in vitro glucose-stimulated insulin secretion from islets isolated from 16 dold lambs (Chapter 3, 172). This in vitro insulin hyper-secretion after IUGR was abolished by neonatal exendin-4 treatment (Chapter 3, 172). In the present study, we therefore measured expression of key molecular determinants of β -cell mass and function in the same cohort of animals; PDX1, IGF1 and IGF2 and their receptors, INS and its receptor, GCK, SLC2A2, CACNA1D, KCNJ11 and insulin signalling molecules (PIK3CB and PIK3R1). We also investigated expression of key regulatory microRNAs (miR-7, miR-375, miR-124a) and expression of epigenetic machinery enzymes (DNMT1, DNMT3A, DNMT3B). We hypothesised that IUGR would up-regulate islet expression of key determinants of β -cell function but not determinants of β -cell mass at 16 d of age, consistent with observed effects of IUGR in these young lambs (Chapter 3, 172). We further hypothesised that neonatal exendin-4 treatment would normalise expression of these key determinants of β -cell function. We also hypothesised that expression of these molecular regulators following IUGR and exendin-4 treatment would correlate with in vivo and in vitro outcomes.

4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

4.2.1 Animals and treatments.

Animals and treatments are described more fully in Section 2.2.1 and 2.2.2 of Chapter 2 and 3 (172). In brief, ewes underwent a timed-mating program with ultrasound scanning performed at G60 to confirm singleton or twin pregnancies. Delivery occurred naturally at term and lambs were allocated to 3 treatment groups, singleton lambs with vehicle treatment, CON (n = 7), and twin lambs. Within each set of twins, sibling twin lambs were alternately allocated to vehicle treatment, IUGR+Veh (n = 8) or exendin-4 treatment, IUGR+Ex-4 (n = 8). Vehicle (0.5% methanol in 0.9\%) saline) and exendin-4 (1 nmol.kg⁻¹ in vehicle, Bachem, Buberndorf, Germany) were injected s.c. daily from d 1 to d 16 of age. All lambs (singletons and twins) were supplemented with whey protein (Resource Beneprotein instant protein powder, Nestle, Australia) given orally in two equal feeds (at 0900 - 1000 h and 1600 - 1700 h), commencing at 1.25 g.kg⁻¹.d⁻¹ on d 4 and increasing to 5 g.kg⁻¹.d⁻¹ on and after d 7. Feeding this supplement during this period of maximal catch-up growth in IUGR lambs (176) was intended to minimise the potential for limitation of neonatal growth by milk availability in twins (174) by providing ~25% of the protein expected to be available through milk, and allowing lambs to self-regulate their milk intake to appetite.

4.2.2 Post-mortem, pancreatic islet RNA and microRNA extraction and their quality and quantity assessments

Post-mortem, pancreatic islets RNA and microRNA extraction and their quantity and quality assessments are described in full in Sections 2.2.5, 2.5.1, 2.5.2, and 2.6.1 of Chapter 2. Due to technical difficulties with one preparation, RNA samples were obtained successfully for 6 CON, 8 IUGR+Veh and 8 IUGR+Ex-4 lambs.

Methods for Real Time PCR (RT PCR) of target gene mRNA are described fully in Sections 2.5.4 to 2.5.6 in Chapter 2. In this study, we measured mRNA expression of key molecular determinants of β -cell mass (*PDX1*, *IGF1*, *IGF2*, *IGF1R*, *IGF2R*, *INS*, *INSR*), β -cell function and insulin signalling (*PDX1*, *INS*, *INSR*, *GCK*, *SLC2A2*, *CACNA1D*, *KCNJ11*, *PIK3CB* and *PIK3R1*), and other regulators (epigenetic machinery enzymes: *DNMT1*, *DNMT3A*, *DNMT3B*). Analysis of islet microRNA expression (miR-7, miR-375 and miR-124a) was as described in full in Sections 2.6 in Chapter 2. Pairwise array comparisons were made between CON lambs *cf*. IUGR+Veh lambs to assess the effect of IUGR and between IUGR+Veh lambs *cf*. IUGR+Ex-4 lambs to assess the effect of neonatal exendin-4 treatment.

4.2.3 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses used in this chapter are described fully in Section 2.8 of Chapter 2. Data were analysed by the mixed models procedure in SPSS for effects of treatment (fixed effect) and including the dam as a random (block) effect in the model to account for the common maternal environment in twins. Where treatment effects or trends (P < 0.1) were apparent, we then compared means by the LSD method, based on *a priori* questions to determine: 1. the effect of IUGR (CON *cf.* IUGR+Veh groups), 2. the effect of exendin-4 in IUGR lambs (IUGR+Veh *cf.* IUGR+Ex-4 groups), and 3. whether exendin-4 restored values to those of controls (CON *cf.* IUGR+Ex-4 groups). Relationships between *in vivo* measures, *in vitro* measures and gene expression were analysed by Pearson's correlation analysis within each treatment group.

4.3 **RESULTS**

4.3.1 Islet mRNA expression of molecular determinants of β-cell mass

IUGR due to twinning did not alter islet mRNA expression of molecular determinants of β -cell except that it tended to increase *INSR* expression (+89%, P = 0.098) when compared to CON lambs (Figure 4.1). Neonatal exendin-4 treatment of IUGR lambs also did not alter expression of molecular determinants of β -cell mass when compared to IUGR+Veh lambs. However, exendin-4 treatment of IUGR twin lambs increased islet mRNA expression of *IGF2R* (+63%, P = 0.005) and tended to increase islet mRNA expression of *IGF1* (+62%, P = 0.050) compared to CON lambs (Figure 4.1).





Control (white bar, n = 6), IUGR + Veh (black bar, n = 8) and IUGR + Ex-4 (grey bar, n = 8). Relative gene expression (normalised to *ACTB*) is expressed as mean \pm SEM, and differences between groups are indicated by *, P < 0.05, [#] P < 0.1.

4.3.2 Islet mRNA expression of molecular determinants of β-cell function

IUGR due to twinning increased islet mRNA expression of *GCK* (+80%, P = 0.017) and *PIK3CB* (+85%, P = 0.019), and tended to increase islet mRNA expression of *SLC2A2* (+78%, P = 0.064) and *INSR* (+89%, P = 0.098), compared to CON lambs (Figure 4.2). Neonatal exendin-4 treatment reduced the islet mRNA expression of *GCK* (-62%, P = 0.047) and tended to reduce islet mRNA expression of *PIK3CB* (-73%, P = 0.073) in IUGR twin lambs (Figure 4.2). Neonatal exendin-4 treatment of IUGR+Ex-4 lambs also tended to increase islet mRNA expression of *PIK3R1* (Figure 4.2) when compared to IUGR+Veh lambs (+62%, P = 0.053) and increased this compared to CON lambs (+79%, P = 0.023). Gene expression of *CACNA1D*, *KCNJ11*, *PDX1* and *INS* did not differ between treatments.





Control (white bar, n = 6), IUGR + Veh (black bar, n = 8) and IUGR + Ex-4 (grey bar, n = 8). Relative gene expression (normalised to *ACTB*) are expressed as mean \pm SEM, and differences between groups are indicated by *, P < 0.05, [#] P < 0.1.

4.3.3 Islet mRNA expression of epigenetic machinery

In IUGR+Veh lambs, islet expression of *DNMT3B* (+96%, P = 0.027) was increased and islet expression of *DNTM3A* (+75%, P = 0.085) tended to increase when compared to CON lambs (Figure 4.3). Conversely, islet expression of *DNMT1* was decreased in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs when compared to IUGR+Veh lambs (-81%, P = 0.027) with a similar trend compared to CON lambs (-50%, P = 0.050). Islet expression of *DNTM3A* and *DNMT3B* were not different in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs compared to other groups.

4.3.4 Islet microRNA expression

IUGR due to twinning did not alter islet microRNA expression measured by microarray compared to that in CON lambs (all P > 0.99, data not shown). Similarly, neonatal exendin-4 treatment of IUGR lambs did not alter islet miRNA expression compared to IUGR+Veh lambs (all P >0.7, data not shown).



Figure 4.3 Effects of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on islet mRNA expression of DNA methyl transferase enzymes.

Control (white bar, n = 6), IUGR + Veh (black bar, n = 8) and IUGR + Ex-4 (grey bar, n = 8). Relative gene expression (normalised to *ACTB*) are expressed as mean \pm SEM, and differences between groups are indicated by *, P < 0.05, [#] P < 0.1.

4.3.5 Relationships between β -cell mass and function and islet mRNA expression of molecular regulators of β -cell mass and function

4.3.5.1 Relationships between pancreas morphology and β-cell mass and islet mRNA expression

In CON lambs, measures of pancreas morphology and β -cell mass did not correlate with islet mRNA expression of each of the analysed molecular determinants of β -cell mass, except that β -cell mass correlated positively with islet mRNA expression of *INS* (r = 0.86, P = 0.028, n = 6). In IUGR+Veh lambs, measures of pancreas morphology and β -cell mass did not correlate with islet mRNA expression of each of the analysed molecular determinants of β -cell mass. In IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (Figure 4.4), β -cell mass and β -cell volume density correlated or tended to correlate positively with islet mRNA expression of *IGF1* (r = 0.71, P = 0.049, n = 8 and r = 0.71, P = 0.051, n = 8 respectively). Also in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs, the percentage of all islets with < 5 β -cells, an indicator of neogenesis, correlated positively with islet mRNA expression of *PDX1* (r = 0.83, P = 0.010, n = 8).



Figure 4.4 Relationships between (A) β -cell volume density and (B) β -cell mass and islet *IGF1* mRNA expression in the young lambs.

Control (white circle, n = 6), IUGR + Veh (black circle, n = 8), IUGR + Ex-4 (grey square, n = 8) and linear correlation in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (dotted line). Points show individual animal outcomes.

4.3.5.2 Relationships between in vivo insulin secretion and disposition and islet

mRNA expression

In CON and IUGR+Veh groups, *in vivo* insulin secretion did not correlate with islet mRNA expression of each of the analysed molecular determinants of β -cell function. In IUGR+Ex-4 lambs, *in vivo* insulin secretion correlated or tended to correlate negatively with islet mRNA expression of *PDX1* and *INSR (PDX1:* r = -0.72, P = 0.046, n = 8, and *INSR:* r = -0.64, P = 0.090, n = 8). In CON lambs, basal and maximal insulin disposition correlated negatively with islet mRNA expression of *GCK* and *INSR* (Figure 4.5, Basal insulin disposition: *GCK:* r = -0.93, P = 0.008, n = 6, *INSR:* r = -0.87, P = 0.025, n = 6). However, this was at least partially reversed in IUGR+Veh, where basal and maximal insulin disposition correlated positively with islet mRNA expression of *GCK* (Figure 4.5, Basal: r = 0.75, P = 0.033, n = 8 and Maximal: r = 0.78, P = 0.022, n = 8), and were not correlated with *INSR.* In IUGR+Ex-4 lambs, basal and maximal insulin disposition did not correlate mRNA expression of *GCK* (Figure 4.5, Basal and maximal insulin disposition correlated positively with islet mRNA expression of *GCK* (Figure 4.5, Basal: r = 0.75, P = 0.033, n = 8 and Maximal: r = 0.78, P = 0.022, n = 8), and were not correlated with *INSR.* In IUGR+Ex-4 lambs, basal and maximal insulin disposition did not correlate with islet mRNA expression of molecular regulators of β -cell function.





4.3.5.3 Relationships between in vitro insulin secretion and action and islet mRNA expression

In CON lambs, basal *in vitro* insulin secretion at 0 mM glucose correlated negatively with islet mRNA expression of *CACNA1D* (Figure 4.6, r = -0.96, P = 0.010, n = 5). In IUGR+Veh lambs, basal *in vitro* insulin secretion at 0 mM glucose correlated negatively with islet mRNA islet expression of *GCK* (Figure 4.6, r = -0.96, P = 0.010, n = 5). Basal *in vitro* insulin secretion at 0 mM glucose did not correlate with islet mRNA expression of each of the analysed molecular determinants of β -cell function in IUGR+Ex-4 group.

When challenged with glucose (1.1 mM), glucose-stimulated *in vitro* insulin secretion correlated negatively with islet mRNA expression of *CACNA1D* in the CON group only (Figure 4.6, r = -0.93, P = 0.021, n = 5). Glucose-stimulated *in vitro* insulin secretion at 1.1 mM glucose correlated negatively with islet mRNA expression of *GCK* in IUGR+Veh (r = -0.95, P = 0.014, n = 5) and IUGR+Ex-4 groups (r = -0.96, P = 0.010, n = 5) but not in the CON group (Figure 4.6). In contrast, at the higher concentration of glucose (11.1 mM), no correlations were observed between *in vitro* glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and expression of each of the analysed molecular determinants of β -cell function in any group.





Control (white circle, n = 6), IUGR + Veh (black circle, n = 8), IUGR + Ex-4 (grey square, n = 8), linear correlation in CON lambs (dashed line), linear correlation in IUGR+Veh lambs (solid line) and linear correlation in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (dotted line). Points show individual animal outcomes.

4.3.6 Relationships between islet mRNA expression of *PDX1* and other regulators of β-cell mass and function

Islet mRNA expression of *IGF1R* correlated positively with *PDX1* mRNA expression in all groups (Figure 4.7); CON (r = 0.91, P = 0.032, n = 5), IUGR+Veh (r = 0.78, P = 0.022, n = 8) and IUGR+Ex-4 (r = 0.85, P = 0.007, n = 8). In IUGR+Ex-4, but not in other groups, islet mRNA expression of *IGF2* also correlated positively with *PDX1* mRNA expression (Figure 4.7, r = 0.74, P = 0.037, n = 8). Islet mRNA expression of *INS* did not correlate with expression of *PDX1* in any group (each P > 0.1, data not shown).

In CON lambs, islet mRNA expression of *SLC2A2*, *GCK*, *INSR* and *KCNJ11* did not correlate with islet mRNA expression of *PDX1*. In IUGR+Veh and IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (Figure 4.8), islet mRNA expression of *SLC2A2*, *GCK*, *INSR* and *KCNJ11* each correlated positively with islet mRNA expression of *PDX1* (*SLC2A2*, IUGR+Veh: r = 0.85, P = 0.014, n = 8 and IUGR+Ex-4: r = 0.91, P = 0.005, n = 7, *GCK*, IUGR+Veh: r = 0.71, P = 0.050, n = 8 and IUGR+Ex-4: r = 0.77, P = 0.043, n = 7, *INSR*, IUGR+Veh: r = 0.77, P = 0.025, n = 8 and IUGR+Ex-4: r = 0.90, P = 0.003, n = 8, and *KCNJ11*, IUGR+Veh: r = 0.90, P = 0.003, n = 8, and *KCNJ11*, IUGR+Veh: r = 0.89, P = 0.003, n = 8 and IUGR+Ex-4: r = 0.94, P < 0.001, n = 8).





Control (white circle, n = 6), IUGR + Veh (black circle, n = 8), IUGR + Ex-4 (grey square, n = 8), linear correlation in CON lambs (dashed line), linear correlation in IUGR+Veh lambs (solid line) and linear correlation in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (dotted line). Points show individual animal outcomes.



Figure 4.8 Relationships between islet *PDX1* mRNA expression and islet mRNA expression of (A) *GCK*, (B) *SLC2A2*, (C) *INSR* and (D) *KCNJ11* in young lambs.

Control (white circle, n = 6), IUGR + Veh (black circle, n = 8), IUGR + Ex-4 (grey square, n = 8), linear correlation in IUGR+Veh lambs (solid line) and linear correlation in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (dotted line). Points show individual animal outcomes.

4.3.7 Relationships between islet mRNA expression of *PDX1* and other regulators of β -cell mass and secretory function and islet mRNA expression of epigenetic machinery

In CON lambs, islet mRNA expression of *PDX1* did not correlate with islet mRNA expression of *DNMT1*, *DNTM3A* or *DNMT3B*. Islet mRNA expression of *PDX1* correlated positively with that of *DNMT3A* in IUGR+Veh lambs (r = 0.83, P = 0.011, n = 8) and in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (r = 0.81, P = 0.026, n = 7, Figure 4.9).

In the present study, islet mRNA expression of other genes that are epigenetically regulated correlated positively with mRNA expression of *DNMT3A*. Islet mRNA expression of *GCK* correlated positively with *DNMT3A* expression in all groups (CON: r = 0.85, P = 0.031, n = 6, IUGR+Veh: r = 0.77, P = 0.024, n = 8; IUGR+Ex-4: r = 0.85, P = 0.014, n = 7). Islet mRNA expression of *IGF1R* expression also correlated positively with *DNMT3A* expression in both IUGR groups (IUGR+Veh: r = 0.93, P = 0.001, n = 8; IUGR+Ex-4: r = 0.83, P = 0.021, n = 7), but not in CON (P > 0.1, Figure 4.9). Islet mRNA expression of *GCK* correlated positively with *DNMT3B* mRNA expression in IUGR+Veh lambs (r = 0.82, P = 0.024, n = 7), but not in the other two groups (each P > 0.1, Figure 4.10). Islet mRNA expression of *DNMT1* did not correlate with that of genes that regulate β -cell function in any group.





Control (white circle, n = 6), IUGR + Veh (black circle, n = 8), IUGR + Ex-4 (grey square, n = 8), linear correlation in CON lambs (dashed line), linear correlation in IUGR+Veh lambs (solid line) and linear correlation in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (dotted line). Points show individual animal outcomes.


Figure 4.10 Relationship between islet *GCK* mRNA expression and islet *DNMT3B* mRNA expression in the young lambs.

Control (white circle, n = 6), IUGR + Veh (black circle, n = 8), IUGR + Ex-4 (grey square, n = 8) and linear correlation in IUGR+Veh lambs (solid line). Points show individual animal outcomes.

4.4 DISCUSSION

This study provides the first evidence that *GCK* may be a critical modulator of altered insulin secretion after IUGR. Islet mRNA expression of *GCK*, a molecular regulator of β -cell function, was up-regulated concurrent with *in vitro* insulin hyper-secretion in young lambs after IUGR. Neonatal exendin-4 treatment of IUGR twin lambs normalised both islet mRNA expression of *GCK* and *in vitro* insulin secretion to that of control lambs, also consistent with a critical role of this gene. Expression of molecular regulators of β -cell mass was unchanged by IUGR, consistent with the lack of IUGR effect on β -cell mass at this age. Finally, vehicle-treated IUGR lambs had increased islet mRNA expression of *DNMT3B*, which is responsible for *de novo* DNA methylation, compared to control lambs, and islet mRNA expression of *GCK* was positively correlated with that of *DNMT3B* in this group of IUGR lambs, suggesting that altered islet *GCK* expression after IUGR may occur in part via epigenetic changes that can persist and maintain altered gene expression throughout life.

Up-regulation of islet *GCK* mRNA expression, a determinant of β -cell function (61), in young IUGR twin lambs was consistent with the enhanced *in vitro* β -cell function that was observed in these animals (Chapter 3, 172). GCK is a rate-limiting enzyme for glycolysis, and genetic mutations in the *GCK* gene in humans are associated with hyper-insulinaemia (223, 224), maturity-onset diabetes of the young (MODY, 225) and neonatal diabetes mellitus (226, 227). These mutations increase affinity of the GCK enzyme towards glucose and increase the rate of insulin release from β -cells (223). Thus, increased islet mRNA expression of *GCK* in the present study may explain insulin hyper-secretion of β -cells after IUGR, however the protein abundance and activity of GCK should be further investigated to confirm this potential mechanism. Heterozygous *GCK* knockout mice (*GCK*^{+/-}) develop severe hyper-

glycaemia and hypo-insulinaemia (228, 229), because their β -cells are unable to sense glucose and secrete insulin and failure of β -cell mass expansion postnatally (230). Similarly, reduced *GCK* expression in *GCK*^{+/-} mice prevents compensatory expansion of β -cell mass in response to insulin resistance induced by high fat-feeding (231). The findings of these two studies suggest a role of *GCK* not only in regulation of β -cell function, but also in regulation of β -cell mass. Thus, whether altered islet *GCK* mRNA expression and/or early life enhanced insulin secretion *in vitro* in these young IUGR twin lambs at 16 d of age will persist with improved β -cell capacity with ageing or potentially exhaust the endocrine pancreas sooner due to increased β -cell function, leading to β -cell death, is unknown. In T2D patients, prolonged stimulation of insulin production in which the demands exceed the folding capacity of the endoplasmic reticulum of β -cells, results in accumulation of mis-folded proteins and stress, and eventually leads to β -cell dysfunction and death (232, 233).

In the present study, islet mRNA expression of GCK was positively correlated with that of DNMT3B in IUGR+Veh lambs, suggesting that altered islet GCKexpression after IUGR may occur in part via epigenetic changes that may persist throughout life. The GCK gene in the rat contains CpG islands in its promoter region, and hyper-methylation of GCK in rat liver occurs in response to ageing (234) or consumption of a high fat diet (235) and reduces GCK expression. This shows that the methylation of this gene is labile and can respond to environmental factors, but also suggests that increased DNMT3B expression should decrease GCK gene expression, in contrast to the positive relationship that we observed. Perinatal exposure to the endocrine disruptor bisphenol A (BPA) in the rat, increased hepatic DNMT3Bexpression at 3-weeks of age, and induced hyper-methylation of the GCK promoter with subsequent reduction in its hepatic expression at 21 weeks of age (236). Our results therefore suggest that changes in DNMT3B expression do not consistently predict GCK expression. These differential outcomes in association between islet expression of GCK and that of DNMT3B may be partly due to the fact that DNMT3B de novo methylation can be tissue-specific rather than global (237). For example, global over-expression of DNMT3B in mice did result in hyper-methylation of Wnt pathway inhibitor gene, Sfrp2 and subsequently silenced its expression in colon but not in spleen (237). Effects of altered DNMT3B expression can also vary between genes, as in the same study (237), the tumor suppressor gene Cdx^2 , which contains methylation sites, was not methylated in the presence of over-expression of DNMT3B in colon tumors. Interestingly, in IUGR induced by feeding a maternal low protein diet in the rat, hepatic GCK expression in offspring was reduced during fasting and was increased on refeeding, relative to that of control animals, without any changes in DNA methylation status (238). Together these findings may suggest that IUGR due to twinning could be affecting GCK expression by mechanisms other than de novo DNA methylation and therefore may also explain the varying relationships between islet DNMT3B and GCK expression between the present study and that in other studies in the rat. However, further analyses are needed to investigate this relationship between DNMT3B and GCK methylation and expression, the underlying mechanisms, and their consequences for β cell function and insulin action following IUGR.

Consistent with the hypothesis that neonatal exendin-4 treatment normalised *in vitro* β -cell hyper-secretion (Figure 3.3, Chapter 3), islet expression of the β -cell function determinant, *GCK* was normalised in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs compared to their IUGR counterparts. Reduced *GCK* expression in exendin-4-treated IUGR lambs may be partly due to prevention of excess weight gain that was observed in the IUGR lambs treated with exendin-4 when compared to vehicle-treated IUGR lambs (Chapter 3,

172), presumably due to suppression of appetite. Exendin-4 treatment suppresses appetite causing reduced nutrient intake and slows gastric emptying in mice and rats (208, 209) and in adolescent and adult humans (193-195, 205, 210-212). Unfortunately, for logistical reasons, it was not possible to measure lamb milk intake and feeding behaviour during the present study to test this hypothesis. By reducing appetite, exendin-4 treatment would therefore be expected to reduce demand for insulin and the stimulus for increased β -cell function in these young IUGR lambs. Moreover, in comparison to vehicle-treated IUGR twin lambs, exendin-4-treated IUGR twin lambs had a tendency for increased β -cell function. This prevention of up-regulated β -cell function following IUGR by neonatal exendin-4 treatment may preserve the capacity for up-regulation of β -cell function at later ages in response to developing insulin resistance.

Consistent with our previous finding that IUGR due to twinning did not alter β cell mass at 16 d of age (Chapter 3, 172), islet gene expression of regulators of β -cell mass, including *PDX1* and *IGF2*, did not differ between groups in the present study. This is consistent with a lack of an effect of PR-induced IUGR on β -cell mass or pancreatic *PDX1* expression observed previously in lambs at 42 d of age (8). β -cell mass is increased in the adult PR sheep, though is inadequate to compensate for increasing insulin resistance, given their impaired insulin action by 1 year of age (8). In contrast to the lack of change in islet *PDX1* mRNA expression in young IUGR sheep, *PDX1* expression was reduced in the pancreas (9) and islets (33) of PR rats, although with normal β -cell mass, at 2 weeks of age. This reduced *PDX1* expression in PR rats was followed by reduced β -cell mass, impaired glucose tolerance and insulin action at 3 months of age (9). These differential effects of IUGR/PR on *PDX1* expression and its consequences for subsequent β -cell mass may also be a consequence of the insult occurring at different stages of β -cell development, due to differences in the timing of β -cell development in these species. In humans and sheep, most pancreatic development takes place before birth, with β -cells present as early as at 0.25 gestation (10-13), and development of a mature (glucose-responsive) phenotype before birth (14-17). Rodents undergo later development of β -cells than sheep or humans, with β -cells first appearing in late gestation (0.6 gestation) and the majority of pancreatic remodelling occurring at ~10-17 d postnatal age (18-20). Thus for the human and sheep, IUGR may impose greater effects on the β -cell and its determinants because the exposure to restriction insults occur at earlier developmental stages, while for rats, the IUGR may impose different effects because some key pancreatic developmental events occur postnatally.

Neonatal exendin-4 treatment increased islet mRNA expression of *IGF1* and *IGF2R* in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs compared to CON lambs, but not compared to IUGR+Veh lambs. Even though IUGR induced by twinning did not alter islet mRNA expression of *IGF1* and *IGF2* in these young lambs at 16 d of age, a previous study of PR lambs reported increased pancreatic expression of *IGF2* and *IGF1R* in PR lambs at 43 d of age, and expression of *IGF2* was positively correlated with β -cell mass at that age (8). This suggests that activation of the *IGF* axis may be a mechanism underlying subsequent increases in β -cell mass seen in adult PR sheep (239). Further evidence for a role of *IGF2* in regulation of β -cell mass comes from studies in transgenic mice, where β -cell-specific over-expression of the *IGF2* gene resulted in bigger islets (240, 241). Consistent with positive regulation of β -cell mass by IGFs in previous studies (240, 241), in the IUGR+Ex-4 lambs in the present study, islet expression of *PDX1* correlated strongly and positively with that of the *IGF1R*, while *IGF1* expression

correlated strongly and positively with β -cell volume density, though β -cell mass does not yet differ between exendin-4-treated and vehicle-treated IUGR lambs at 16 d of age. Our results suggest that expression of the *IGF* axis is important for regulation of β cell mass in young lambs, as shown in previous studies in rodents (242, 243), and in PR lambs (8). However, further studies are required to address whether and how *PDX1* and *IGF* signalling promote β -cell hyperplasia and proliferation and subsequently increase β -cell mass following IUGR.

In the current study, IUGR and exendin-4 treatment did not affect microRNA expression, which may suggest no involvement of microRNA in regulating β -cell mass and function in our IUGR model. Since previous studies have observed discrepancies in results of microRNA array analysis, in which expression measures for some microRNAs were inconsistent between different RNA preparation techniques (244, 245), confirmation of this microRNA array expression data by quantitative PCR is needed to further strengthen the analysis.

4.5 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, *in vitro* insulin hyper-secretion in young IUGR lambs at 16 d of age may be in part due to up-regulation of islet *GCK* expression. Consistent with our second hypothesis, neonatal exendin-4 treatment normalised islet *GCK* expression and *in vitro* insulin secretion. Neonatal exendin-4 treatment also increased islet expression of known regulators of β -cell mass without any changes in β -cell mass. Together, these effects of neonatal exendin-4 treatment may preserve the future capacity for β -cell plasticity in later life and enable adaptation to developing insulin resistance after IUGR. A long term investigation is required to assess how these molecular changes following

IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment at 16 d of age affect β -cell function and mass and insulin action in the IUGR lamb into adulthood.

CHAPTER 5

5 CHAPTER 5 EFFECT OF IUGR DUE TO TWINNING AND NEONATAL EXENDIN-4 TREATMENT ON CIRCULATING PLASMA ADIPONECTIN AND ADIPONECTIN GENE EXPRESSION IN ADIPOSE TISSUES IN YOUNG LAMB

5.1 INTRODUCTION

Intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) consistently predicts increased risk of type 2 diabetes (T2D), impaired glucose tolerance, insulin resistance and inadequate insulin secretion in humans (1, 2) and in some animal studies (3, 4). Importantly, most IUGR humans who develop insulin resistance had accelerated or catch up growth (CUG) in early life (50, 246-248). CUG is also an independent risk factor for development of insulin resistance (249). Moreover, IUGR children that undergo CUG in terms of weight have the propensity to store visceral fat rather than subcutaneous fat when compared to AGA children (116), suggesting that CUG may affect the dynamic changes in adiposity and fat deposition following IUGR. Since CUG after IUGR is a risk factor for T2D and adult obesity (188, 220), these dynamic changes in adiposity and visceral fat deposition may contribute to later development of insulin resistance in life, and imply that altered fat deposition or composition contributes to risk of T2D after IUGR.

Adiponectin is an adipokine secreted by fat tissues that can promote insulin sensitivity (98, 99), and its circulating levels are reduced in obesity-related insulin resistance (250). Importantly, adiponectin can also regulate insulin secretion and action. Adiponectin stimulates insulin secretion from isolated mice pancreatic islets by increasing exocytosis of insulin granules as well as enhancing *INS* gene expression (119). In a similar study, incubation of mice islets with adiponectin for 24 h increased

PDX1 gene expression and insulin secretion (120), which may suggest that *PDX1* is the target molecule or pathway of induction by adiponectin in β -cells. Rats that were semi-starved for 2 weeks and re-fed for a week, showed a recovery of body fat mass, presence of CUG and increased circulating plasma adiponectin together with hyperinsulinaemia, compared to control animals (251). The results of this study (251) suggest that following nutrient deprivation, the recovery of fat mass during subsequent CUG may be due to glucose redistribution to adipose tissue, and these insulin-sensitive adipose tissues signal to the pancreas to increase insulin secretion by increasing adiponectin release. These findings therefore imply that adiponectin is not just involved in insulin resistance and adiposity, but may also play a role in regulating insulin secretion and that increased circulating adiponectin may contribute to changes in β -cell function following IUGR.

The impact of IUGR on adiponectin levels in early postnatal life is unclear. Some studies have found normal plasma adiponectin concentrations in SGA when compared to AGA neonates (100, 111), while other studies found reduced plasma adiponectin in SGA in comparison to AGA neonates (112-114). These discrepancies in the findings may be due to the facts that all the above studies did not consistently classify IUGR, with some defining SGA as having birth weight below the 3rd percentile (100, 113, 114) or 10th percentile (112), or having birth weight less than 2.5 kg (111). Subsequently, plasma adiponectin is reduced in children aged 6-8 years old following IUGR, together with the presence of visceral adiposity and insulin resistance when compared to control children (115, 116). Intriguingly, in a study of SGA prepubertal children, serum adiponectin was increased in lean SGA compared to lean control children, while overweight SGA children had reduced adiponectin serum and were more insulin resistant than lean SGA (118). These results are consistent with the hypothesis that lower adiponectin contributes to risk of insulin resistance after IUGR. Therefore, adiponectin deficiency in early life and in childhood may be a predisposing factor for later development of insulin resistance, which in turn contributes to the risk of T2D following IUGR.

In Chapters 3 and 4, we showed that IUGR lambs catch-up in terms of body weight and have normal fat mass, insulin sensitivity and enhanced *in vitro* β -cell function (Chapter 3, 172), and up-regulation of gene expression for molecular determinants that regulate β -cell function in the third week of life (Chapter 4). This is consistent with changes that might reflect increased adiponectin responses. Moreover, we showed that these changes were normalised by neonatal exendin-4 treatment. Previous studies have shown that exendin-4 can directly induce expression of adiponectin in 3T3-L1 adipocyte cell lines (252), and so this normalisation of the metabolism induced by exendin-4 treatment in IUGR lambs may also be mediated by increased adiponectin expression. Therefore in this study, we investigated whether adiponectin was increased in young IUGR lambs and its association with growth, β -cell mass and function and insulin sensitivity, and effects of neonatal exendin-4 treatment on these outcomes.

5.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

5.2.1 Animals and treatments

Animals and treatments are described more fully in Section 2.2.1 and 2.2.2 of Chapter 2 (172). In brief, ewes underwent a timed-mating program with ultrasound scanning performed at G60 to confirm singleton or twin pregnancies. Delivery occurred naturally at term and lambs were allocated to 3 treatment groups, singleton lambs with vehicle treatment, CON (n = 7), and twins lambs. Within each set of twins, sibling twin

lambs were alternately allocated to vehicle treatment, IUGR+Veh (n = 8) or exendin-4 treatment, IUGR+Ex-4 (n = 8). Vehicle (0.5% methanol in 0.9% saline) and exendin-4 (1 nmol.kg⁻¹ in vehicle, Bachem, Buberndorf, Germany) were injected s.c. daily from d 1 to d 16 of age. All lambs (singletons and twins) were supplemented with whey protein (Resource Beneprotein instant protein powder, Nestle, Australia) given orally in two equal feeds (at 0900 – 1000 h and 1600 – 1700 h), commencing at 1.25 g.kg⁻¹.d⁻¹ on d 4 and increasing to 5 g.kg⁻¹.d⁻¹ on and after d 7. Feeding this supplement during this period of maximal catch-up growth in IUGR lambs (176) was intended to minimise the potential for limitation of neonatal growth by milk availability in twins (174) by providing ~25% of the protein expected to be available through milk, and allowing lambs to self-regulate their milk intake to appetite.

5.2.2 Surgery and routine blood sampling

Surgery procedures and routine blood sampling are described in full in sections 2.2.4 and 2.7.1 of Chapter 2 and 3 (172). Briefly, at 4 ± 1 d of age, catheters (1.52 mm OD x 0.86 mm ID, Biocorp, Victoria, Australia) were inserted into the lamb's right femoral artery and vein under general anaesthesia, induced and maintained by Fluothane inhalation anaesthetic (Independent Veterinary Supplies, SA, Australia) as previously described (176). Routine blood samples were taken via jugular venepuncture on the day of birth (day 0) and then via arterial catheter in non-fasted lambs at 6, 11 and 15 d of age, centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C, and plasma stored at -20°C for subsequent analyses.

5.2.3 Plasma adiponectin analysis

Analysis of plasma adiponectin is described in full in section 2.7.1 of Chapter 2. Briefly, plasma adiponectin levels were measured in samples collected between 0800 and 1000 h, within 24 h of birth and then on 6, 11 and 15 d postnatal age, using a commercially available sheep adiponectin (ADIPOQ) ELISA kit (MyBioSource, California, USA). The intra-assay and inter-assay coefficient of variation (CV) for the ELISA assay were 1.9% and 2.3% respectively. Plasma adiponectin concentration was measured in 3 CON, 8 IUGR+Veh and 8 IUGR+Ex-4 lambs, due to loss of CON samples.

5.2.4 Growth measurements and post-mortem

Growth measurements, post-mortem and collection of fat depots are described in full in sections 2.2.3 and 2.2.4 of Chapter 2 and 3 (172). For each growth parameter, measurements were performed in duplicate at each age and then averaged. The absolute growth rate (AGR) and the fractional growth rate (FGR) were calculated as previously described (176). At 16 \pm 1 d of age, lambs (CON, n = 7, IUGR+Veh, n = 8 and IUGR+Ex-4, n = 8) were humanely killed by an overdose of sodium pentobarbitone (Pentobarbitone sodium 325 mg.mL⁻¹ Lethabarb, Lyppards, Victoria, Australia). Omental and subcutaneous fat depots were dissected and samples of each were stored at -80°C for later analysis.

5.2.5 Omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues RNA extraction and adiponectin gene expression analysis

Extraction of RNA from omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues and adiponectin gene expression analysis are described in full in sections 2.7.2 to 2.7.5 of Chapter 2. Briefly, RNA samples were extracted from omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues (CON, n=6, IUGR+Veh, n=8 and IUGR+Ex-4, n=8) using a modified Trizol-based approach for adipose tissue (8, 184). RNA samples were DNAse-treated, and 2 µg of RNA was reverse transcribed to generate cDNA. Quantitative Real Time PCR was performed on a Corbett RotorGene Real Time PCR 6000 (Corbett Life Sciences, San Francisco, USA) using 5 Prime MasterMix SyBR Rox (Quantum Scientific, Queensland, Australia) according to manufacturer's instructions. Real Time PCR reactions were held at 95°C for 2 min, followed by 40 cycles of (95°C for 15 seconds, melting at 72-95°C for 1 second, 60°C for 45 seconds). Oligonucleotide primers for adiponectin were designed according to previously published ovine sequences (Table 2.3 of Chapter 2, 185) and Taq polymerase (Invitrogen, Victoria, Australia) amplified PCR products were cloned using a StrataClone PCR Cloning Kit (Intergrated Sciences, NSW, Australia). Plasmid DNA was purified by NucleoSpin Plasmid (Macherey Nagel, Duren, Germany) and sequenced to confirm the identity of the amplicon. The relative expression of each gene of interest was determined by normalising the absolute expression of that gene to the expression of the reference gene, ACTB. ACTB expression did not differ between treatment groups.

5.2.6 In vivo, in vitro insulin action and gene expression measures

In vivo and in vitro measures of insulin action including insulin sensitivity, insulin secretion and β -cell mass as well as analysis of gene expression of their molecular determinants were described in full in sections 2.3 to 2.5 of Chapter 2. In brief, *in vivo* insulin sensitivity was measured using hyperinsulinaemic euglycaemic clamps (HEC) and *in vivo* insulin secretion was determined by intravenous glucose tolerance tests (IVGTT) as previously described (177). The metabolic clearance rate of

insulin, basal and maximal post-hepatic insulin delivery rates, and basal and maximal insulin disposition were calculated from HEC and IVGTT data as described previously (177). In vitro insulin secretion was measured by static incubation and experiment of isolated pancreatic islets with various inducers of insulin secretion and concentrations as previously described (172). β -cell mass was determined by staining of insulin positive cells and calculated as described previously (8, 172). Gene expression of molecular determinants of β -cell mass and function in pancreatic islets was performed by quantitative Real Time PCR (RT PCR) on a Corbett RotorGene RT PCR 6000 (Corbett Life Sciences, San Francisco, USA) using 5 Prime MasterMix SyBR Rox (Quantum Scientific, Oueensland, Australia) according to manufacturer's recommendations. The relative expression of the gene of interest was determined by normalising the absolute expression of that gene to the expression of reference gene, ACTB. ACTB expression did not differ between treatment groups.

5.2.7 Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses for this chapter are described in full in Chapter 2.8. Data for non-repeated measures on each animal were analysed by the mixed models procedure in SPSS for effects of treatment (fixed effect) and including the dam as a random (block) effect in the model to account for common maternal environment in twins. Where treatment effects (P < 0.05) or trends (P < 0.1) were apparent, means were compared by least squared differences, based on *a priori* questions to determine: 1. the effect of IUGR (CON *cf.* IUGR+Veh groups), 2. the effect of exendin-4 in IUGR lambs (IUGR+Veh *cf.* IUGR+Ex-4 groups), and 3. to assess whether exendin-4 restored values to those of controls (CON *cf.* IUGR+Ex-4 groups). Concentrations of plasma adiponectin were analysed by repeated measures ANOVA for effects of treatment (between factor), age (within factor) and interactions, including the dam as a random (block) effect in the model to account for common maternal environment in twins. Relationships between *in vivo* measures, *in vitro* measures, gene expression, and other outcomes were analysed by Pearson's correlation.

5.3 RESULTS

5.3.1 Plasma adiponectin concentrations

At birth, plasma adiponectin did not differ between treatment groups (Figure 5.1). Plasma adiponectin tended to increase with age (P = 0.058), peaking at 6 d of age, and this pattern of increased in plasma adiponection was greater in IUGR+Veh lambs than CON lambs (P = 0.012). IUGR+Veh lambs had higher plasma adiponectin at 11 d (+29%, P = 0.019) and tended to be increased at 15 d (+29%, P = 0.083), compared to CON lambs. Neonatal exendin-4 treatment of IUGR twin lambs did not alter plasma adiponectin concentrations when compared to IUGR+Veh lambs or CON lambs overall, however plasma adiponectin concentration at 11 d of age tended to be higher in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (+22%, P = 0.099) than in CON lambs (Figure 5.1).

5.3.2 Adiponectin mRNA expression in omental and subcutaneous fat

IUGR due to twinning increased mRNA expression of adiponectin in omental fat (+72%, P = 0.008), but not in subcutaneous fat (P > 0.2), compared to CON lambs (Figure 5.2). Neonatal exendin-4 treatment of IUGR twin lambs did not alter mRNA expression of adiponectin in omental fat when compared to IUGR+Veh (P = 0.10) or CON lambs (P = 0.22), but did increase adiponectin expression in subcutaneous fat when compared to IUGR+Veh lambs (+91%, P = 0.007), with a similar trend (+89%, P = 0.089) relative to CON lambs (Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.1 Effects of IUGR due to twinning and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on circulating plasma adiponectin from birth to 15 d of age in the young lambs.

Control (white circle, n = 3), IUGR+Veh (black circle, n = 8), IUGR+Ex-4 (grey square, n = 8). All lambs were fed a protein supplement (Beneprotein) from day 4 to 16 of postnatal life to minimise the potential for restricted nutrient availability in twin lactation. Data are expressed as mean \pm SEM. * P < 0.05, [#] P < 0.1 when compared to CON.



Figure 5.2 Effects of IUGR due to twinning and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on adiponectin mRNA expression in (A) omental and (B) subcutaneous fat in the young lambs at 16 d of age.

Control (white bar, n = 6), IUGR+Veh (black bar, n = 8) and IUGR+Ex-4 (grey bar, n = 8). Adiponectin mRNA expression (normalised to *ACTB*) is expressed as mean \pm SEM, and differences between groups are indicated by * P < 0.05, [#] P < 0.1.

5.3.3 Relationships between circulating plasma adiponectin and adiponectin mRNA expression in omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues

Because circulating adiponectin concentrations were only available in a small number of CON lambs (n = 3) due to loss of samples, all lambs that were not treated with exendin-4 as neonates, i.e. CON and IUGR+Veh lambs, were combined for subsequent correlation analyses (CON+IUGR). Plasma adiponectin concentration at 15 d of age did not correlate with omental fat adiponectin mRNA expression at 16 d of age in CON+IUGR or IUGR+Ex-4 groups. Plasma adiponectin concentration at 11 d of age correlated positively with omental fat adiponectin mRNA expression at 16 d of age in all lambs combined (r = 0.69, P = 0.002, n = 18), as well as in CON+IUGR lambs (r = 0.63, P = 0.020, n = 11, Figure 5.3). In CON+IUGR, plasma adiponectin concentration at 15 and 11 d of age correlated negatively with subcutaneous fat adiponectin mRNA expression at 16 d of age (15 d: r = -0.62, P = 0.021, n = 11 and 11 d: r = -0.61, P = 0.023, n = 11, Figure 5.3). No correlations were observed between plasma adiponectin at 15 and 11 d of ages and omental and subcutaneous fat adiponectin mRNA expression in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs.



Figure 5.3 Relationships between plasma adiponectin concentration at 11 d of age and (A) omental and (B) subcutaneous fat adiponectin mRNA expression. Control (white circle, n = 3), IUGR + Veh (black circle, n = 8), IUGR + Ex-4 (grey square, n = 8), linear correlation in CON+IUGR lambs (solid line). Points show individual animal outcomes.

5.3.4 Relationships between growth, metabolic outcomes and circulating plasma adiponectin and its expression in omental and subcutaneous fat

5.3.4.1 Relationships between neonatal growth and plasma adiponectin concentration and its expression in omental and subcutaneous fat

In CON+IUGR lambs, FGR_{weight} correlated positively with average plasma adiponectin concentration from birth to 15 d of age (r = 0.54, P = 0.045, n = 11) but not in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (Figure 5.4). Absolute and fractional rates of weight gain from birth to 16 d of age did not correlate with adiponectin mRNA expression in omental fat and subcutaneous fat. However, FGR_{weight} during the protein supplementation period (from 4 to16 d of age) correlated positively with omental fat mRNA expression of adiponectin (r = 0.56, P = 0.018, n = 14) in CON+IUGR lambs only (Figure 5.4).

Similar relationships were also observed between average plasma adiponectin concentration from birth to 15 d of age and growth rates for shoulder height. In combined CON+IUGR lambs only, AGR_{shoulder height} tended to correlate positively with average plasma adiponectin concentration from birth to 15 d of age (r = 0.50, P =0.060, n = 11). FGR_{shoulder height} during the nutrient supplementation period (from 4 to 16 d of age) also correlated positively with average plasma adiponectin from birth to 15 d of age (r = 0.71, P = 0.011, n = 10) in combined CON+IUGR lambs, and not in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs. No correlation was observed between absolute or fractional rates of shoulder height gain and adiponectin mRNA expression in either adipose depot in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs.





Control (white circle, n = 3), IUGR + Veh (black circle, n = 8), IUGR + Ex-4 (grey square, n = 8), linear correlation in CON+IUGR lambs (solid line). Points show individual animal outcomes.

5.3.4.2 Relationships between insulin sensitivity and plasma adiponectin and its expression in omental and subcutaneous fat

Insulin sensitivity at 14 d of age did not correlate with average plasma adiponectin concentration from birth to 15 d of age or with omental fat adiponectin mRNA expression either in CON+IUGR or IUGR+Ex-4 lambs. Insulin sensitivity at 14 d of age correlated negatively with subcutaneous fat adiponectin mRNA expression in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (r = -0.85, P = 0.016, n = 8) and not in CON+IUGR lambs (P > 0.3).

5.3.4.3 Relationships between in vivo insulin secretion and plasma adiponectin and

its expression in omental and subcutaneous fat

Maximal insulin disposition correlated negatively with average plasma adiponectin concentration from birth to 15 d of age in CON+IUGR lambs (r = -0.66, P = 0.014, n = 11) and not in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (P > 0.9). Basal insulin disposition did not correlate with average plasma adiponectin concentration from birth to 15 d of age in either group. No correlation was observed between basal and maximal insulin disposition and omental and subcutaneous fat adiponectin mRNA expression in either group.

5.3.4.4 Relationships between in vitro insulin secretion and plasma adiponectin and

its expression in omental and subcutaneous fat

In vitro insulin secretion at all glucose concentrations did not correlate with average plasma adiponectin concentration from birth to 15 d of age in either CON+IUGR or IUGR+Ex-4 lambs. However in CON+IUGR lambs, *in vitro* insulin secretion at all glucose concentrations correlated positively with plasma adiponectin at 6 d of age (Basal: r = 0.74, P = 0.030, n = 6, Stimulated 1.1mM glucose: r = 0.78, P =

0.019, n = 7 and Stimulated 11.1mM glucose: r = 0.72, P = 0.034, n = 7, Figure 5.5). In IUGR+Ex-4 lambs, stimulated *in vitro* insulin secretion at 11.1mM glucose correlated positively with subcutaneous fat adiponectin mRNA expression at d 16 (r = 0.97, P = 0.005, n = 8). No correlation was observed between *in vitro* insulin secretion and omental and subcutaneous fat adiponectin mRNA expression in CON+IUGR lambs.

5.3.4.5 Relationships between β -cell mass and plasma adiponectin and its expression in omental and subcutaneous fat

Absolute β -cell mass and β -cell mass relative to bodyweight did not correlate with average plasma adiponectin from birth to 15 d of age in either CON+IUGR or IUGR+Ex-4 lambs. However, absolute and relative β -cell mass correlated positively with plasma adiponectin at d 11 of age in CON+IUGR lambs (absolute: r = 0.44, P = 0.088, n = 11 and relative: r = 0.55, P = 0.039, n = 11), with similar trends observed in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (absolute: r = 0.66, P = 0.073, n = 8 and relative: r = 0.64, P = 0.086, n = 8, Figure 5.6). Absolute and relative β -cell mass also correlated positively with omental fat adiponectin mRNA expression in CON+IUGR lambs (absolute: r = 0.64, P = 0.005, n = 15 and relative: r = 0.62, P = 0.007, n = 15) and not in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (P > 0.1, Figure 5.6). Absolute and relative β -cell mass did not correlate with subcutaneous fat adiponectin mRNA expression in either CON+IUGR or IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (data not shown).



Figure 5.5 Relationships between *in vitro* insulin secretion at (A) basal 0mM glucose, (B) stimulated 1.1mM glucose and (C) stimulated 11.1mM glucose and plasma adiponectin at 6 d of age.

Control (white circle, n = 3), IUGR + Veh (black circle, n = 8), IUGR + Ex-4 (grey square, n = 8), linear correlation in CON+IUGR lambs (solid line). Points show individual animal outcomes.



Figure 5.6 Relationships between (A) absolute β -cell mass and (B) relative β cell mass and plasma adiponectin at 11 d of age, and between (C) absolute β -cell mass and (D) relative β -cell mass and omental fat adiponectin mRNA expression. Control (white circle, n = 3), IUGR + Veh (black circle, n = 8), IUGR + Ex-4 (grey

square, n = 8), significant linear correlation in CON+IUGR lambs (solid line), trend linear correlation in CON+IUGR lambs (dashed line), and trend linear correlation in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (dotted line). Points show individual animal outcomes.

5.3.4.6 Relationships between pancreatic islet mRNA expression of molecular regulators of β-cell mass and function and plasma adiponectin and its expression in omental and subcutaneous fat

In CON+IUGR lambs, islet mRNA expression of genes that regulate β -cell mass and function did not correlate with average plasma adiponectin concentration from birth to 15 d of age. In IUGR+Ex-4 lambs, however, islet mRNA expression of *PDX1* (r = -0.79, P = 0.019, n = 8), *INSR* (r = -0.72, P = 0.043, n = 8), and *KCNJ11* (r = -0.72, P = 0.046, n = 8) correlated negatively with average plasma adiponectin concentration from birth to 15 d of age.

In CON+IUGR lambs, islet mRNA expression of *PIK3CB* and *GCK* correlated positively with omental fat adiponectin mRNA expression (*PIK3CB*: r = 0.58, P = 0.019, n = 13 and *GCK*: r = 0.38, P = 0.050, n = 14, Figure 5.7). Also in CON+IUGR lambs islet mRNA expression of *INS* correlated positively and islet mRNA expression of *CACNA1D* correlated negatively with subcutaneous fat adiponectin mRNA expression (*INS*: r = 0.46, P = 0.055, n = 13 and *CACNA1D*: r = -0.58, P = 0.015, n = 14). In IUGR+Ex-4 lambs, islet mRNA expression of *PIK3CB*, *INS* and *IGF2* correlated positively with adiponectin mRNA expression in omental fat (*PIK3CB*: r = 0.76, P = 0.059, n = 7, Figure 5.7, *INS*: r = 0.85, P = 0.033, n = 6 and *IGF2*: r = 0.72, P = 0.069, n = 7) and did not correlate with adiponectin expression in subcutaneous fat (all P > 0.4).





Control (white circle, n = 6), IUGR + Veh (black circle, n = 8), IUGR + Ex-4 (grey square, n = 8), significant linear correlation in CON+IUGR lambs (solid line), and trend for a linear correlation in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (dotted line). Points show individual animal outcomes.

5.4 **DISCUSSION**

In contrast with previous reports of reduced adiponectin in human IUGR neonates and infants, IUGR due to twinning in sheep up-regulated adiponectin expression in omental fat and increased circulating adiponectin levels during the neonatal period. Circulating adiponectin concentration and expression in omental fat correlated positively with glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and β -cell mass in combined control and IUGR+Veh lambs. Despite the profound reduction in visceral fat mass induced by neonatal exendin-4 treatment, circulating adiponectin concentrations were not reduced in exendin-4-treated IUGR lambs, possibly due to up-regulation of adiponectin expression in subcutaneous fat in these animals. These results suggest that elevated adiponectin after IUGR may contribute to up-regulation of insulin secretion.

IUGR induced by twinning increased plasma adiponectin concentrations between 11 and 15 d of age and up-regulated adiponectin expression in omental fat of IUGR+Veh lambs when compared to CON lambs. In a study of non-diabetic humans, serum adiponectin was negatively correlated with central body fat area rather than subcutaneous fat area (253), and in another study of obese non-diabetic humans, serum adiponectin was positively correlated with visceral fat adiponectin mRNA expression (254). This suggests that adiponectin secretion into circulation is predominantly from visceral fat rather than subcutaneous fat. Further evidence for a role of omental fat on regulation and production of circulating adiponectin comes from a study of isolated human omental and subcutaneous adipose tissues, in which a 12 h incubation with insulin *in vitro* increased adiponectin secretion in omental adipose tissues, but not in subcutaneous adipose, while basal adiponectin secretion did not differ between the two tissues (255). This further confirms that visceral fat is a major source of circulating adiponectin in the body. Therefore, the up-regulation of adiponectin expression in the omental fat of the young IUGR+Veh lambs in the current study may be the source of their elevated circulating plasma adiponectin. The elevated plasma adiponectin we observed in IUGR+Veh lambs, compared to controls, differs from reports in human IUGR neonates and children, in whom plasma adiponectin was lower in IUGR group when compared to controls (112-116). In other studies however, no difference in circulating adiponectin was observed between IUGR and control groups (118, 256, 257). Increasing adiponectin between samples collected at birth and those at d 6 in the present study may reflect developmental changes and/or effects of the protein supplement. During weight loss in obese humans, adiponectin increased to a greater extent in those fed a high-protein diet than in those fed a high-carbohydrate diet (258). Additionally, adiponectin fluctuates diurnally in humans (182), and this may contribute to variable results between studies. Although adiponectin does not vary diurnally in horses (183), whether there are daily changes in sheep has not yet been established. As all lambs were sampled at similar times of day this is unlikely to explain the betweengroup differences in circulating adiponectin in the present study. Variable effects of IUGR in circulating adiponectin in human studies suggests that adiponectin production in IUGR neonates and children may also be affected by other factors such as prematurity status, postnatal growth rates, diet and adiposity, and these factors may also contribute to the differing results between the present study in young IUGR lambs and previous reports in human IUGR neonates and children.

In the present study, the *in vitro* insulin hyper-secretion (Chapter 3, 172) and increased islet mRNA expression of regulators of β -cell function (Chapter 4) observed in vehicle-treated young lambs correlated positively with plasma adiponectin. Importantly, young IUGR twin lambs had increased weight gain during CUG and at d 16 had normal percentage body fat as compared to controls (Chapter 3, 172), similar to the pattern seen in re-fed rats after nutrient deprivation (251). These suggest that recovery of fat mass after nutrition depletion or IUGR may induce metabolic changes in adipose tissue and pancreatic islets, to increase glucose uptake in adipocytes to replenish energy stores; these changes include increasing insulin sensitivity of adipose tissue and increasing insulin secretion from β -cells. The positive relationships we observed suggest that these processes may be mediated in part via actions of adiponectin (251). This hypothesised role of adiponectin in the IUGR lamb is further supported by previous findings that adiponectin can up-regulate insulin secretion and action (119-121) and thus may contribute to the changes in β -cell function following IUGR. Conversely, in the present study, in vivo B-cell insulin secretion measures were negatively associated with plasma adiponectin in IUGR lambs, although β -cell mass was positively correlated with plasma adiponectin. We hypothesised that adiponectin may not positively stimulate in vivo insulin action in the absence of insulin resistance. This is partly supported by the study of isolated mice islets, in which adiponectin did not affect insulin secretion in isolated islets of control mice, but selectively induced insulin secretion at high glucose level (16.7 nM) and inhibited insulin secretion at low glucose level (2.8 nM) in islets isolated from insulin-resistant mice (121). Whether the elevated adiponectin in young IUGR lambs will stimulate and preserve the capacity of β -cell to secrete insulin in response to later development of insulin resistance (191) and hence increased demand is unknown, and therefore requires further investigation.

Neonatal exendin-4 treatment for 16 days did not alter circulating plasma adiponectin or its expression in omental fat despite profoundly reducing visceral fat mass at 16 d of age (Chapter 3, 172), probably due to up-regulation of adiponectin expression in subcutaneous fat in these animals. Although visceral fat is a major source of circulating adiponectin (253-255), adiponectin expression in isolated subcutaneous fat was higher than in isolated visceral fat in lean women (259) and serum adiponectin was positively correlated with adiponectin mRNA expression in subcutaneous fat of women with polycystic ovary syndrome (260). Moreover, in obese human adults, a combination of diet and weight loss decreased visceral fat mass, but induced an increase in adiponectin expression in subcutaneous fat in parallel with increased circulating adiponectin (261). These findings suggest that subcutaneous tissue may also play a role in regulating circulating adiponectin, and this may account for maintenance of circulating adiponectin in exendin-4-treated lambs. Consistent with this hypothesis, in vitro incubation of 3T3-L1 adipocyte cell lines with exendin-4 (2.5 nM) for 8 h, increased adiponectin protein level and its gene expression when compared to nontreated 3T3-L1 cell lines, and this induction by exendin-4 occurred via glucagon-likepeptide 1 receptor (GLP1R) activation (252). In study of 4-week-old rats, high dose exendin-4 treatment (2 μ g.kg⁻¹ twice daily) increased adiponectin expression in white adipose tissue and its circulating plasma levels in high-fat diet fed rats compared to both control diet and non-treated high-fat diet groups (208), confirming an in vivo stimulatory effect of exendin-4 on adiponectin expression. Together these results suggest that neonatal exendin-4 treatment may change the main source of circulating adiponectin, and that increased subcutaneous fat adiponectin mRNA expression explains the normal adiponectin abundance in these animals.

Consistent with presence of CUG, normalisation of insulin hyper-secretion (Chapter 3, 172) and of expression of molecular determinants of β -cell function (Chapter 4) in IUGR lambs by neonatal exendin-4 treatment, relationships between insulin secretion and islet expression of β -cell functional determinants and circulating adiponectin and adiponectin expression in these young IUGR lambs were abolished by neonatal exendin-4 treatment. Exendin-4 directly induces adiponectin gene and protein

expression in the 3T3-L1 adipocyte cell line (252), and increases plasma adiponectin in T2D patients (262) and diet-induced obese rats (263), showing that exendin-4 can directly up-regulate adiponectin production. Moreover, exendin-4 treatment also improves insulin sensitivity and insulin action in extremely obese (205) and T2D (206) humans and rodents (197, 201, 207). The abolition of relationships between insulin secretion and circulating concentrations and gene expression of adiponectin by neonatal exendin-4 treatment may reflect the positive effects of exendin-4 on insulin action, adiponectin or both in these young IUGR twin lambs. Whether this normalisation of increased adiponectin and its association to β -cell function will prevent later IUGR-induced failure of β -cell function (8) and insulin resistance (191) is unknown and hence will require long-term follow-up study.

5.5 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, circulating plasma adiponectin and its expression in omental fat positively correlated with *in vitro* insulin secretion and β -cell mass in control and PR lambs, suggesting a role of adiponectin in regulating neonatal insulin secretion. Neonatal exendin-4 treatment did not alter plasma adiponectin levels or its expression in omental fat, but increased adiponectin expression in subcutaneous fat, which may explain maintenance of normal plasma adiponectin concentrations in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs, despite a halving of their visceral fat mass. Whether IUGR and exendin-4 treatment will alter adiponectin abundance and action including its regulation of insulin secretion in adult life where adiposity and insulin resistance become evident is unknown. Therefore, a long term investigation is required to address how these molecular changes following IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment at 16 d of age •

will affect adiponectin and its regulation of β -cell function and mass and insulin action in IUGR lamb to adulthood.

CHAPTER 6
6 GENERAL DISCUSSION

Low birth weight or intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) consistently predicts increased risk of type 2 diabetes (T2D) through impairment of glucose tolerance, insulin resistance and inadequate insulin secretion in humans (1, 2), as well as in many experimental studies in other species (3, 4). However, how IUGR exactly 'programs' development of diabetes in later life and the mechanistic basis of those impairments of β -cell mass and function that follow IUGR has required more investigation; this is a research theme of the work described in this thesis. Interestingly, postnatal administration of exendin-4 to neonatal IUGR rats normalises subsequent β -cell mass, insulin secretion and prevents later development of T2D (9); this is at least partially due to normalisation of pancreatic expression of the β -cell master regulator, *PDX1* (21). Whether this treatment would have similar effects in IUGR in a species such as the sheep, where major events in pancreatic maturation occur before birth (14, 16, 18-20) is unknown and is the second research theme within this thesis.

This thesis has addressed the effects of IUGR due to twinning and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on neonatal growth, pancreatic β -cell *in vivo* and *in vitro* insulin secretory function, β -cell mass and their expression of key regulatory genes including those of microRNAs and epigenetic pathways, and the possible involvement of altered circulating abundance and adiponectin expression in adipose tissue in the young lamb. How these various *in vivo*, *in vitro* and molecular changes in key glucoregulatory tissues following IUGR due to twinning and neonatal exendin-4 treatment may affect insulin action into adulthood is discussed. Also reported for the first time is how IUGR affects β -cell mass and function soon after birth in the young lamb, and also for the first time, the efficacy and biological activity of exendin-4 in affecting these and other measures in the sheep, at least in the context of IUGR.

6.1 *IN VIVO* AND *IN VITRO* RESPONSES TO IUGR DUE TO TWINNING AND NEONATAL EXENDIN-4 TREATMENT

Excessive visceral fat deposition during catch up growth (CUG) after IUGR is a strong risk factor for later obesity (188) and insulin resistance (218-220). In the present study, IUGR due to twinning reduced size at birth and these young IUGR twin lambs experienced accelerated neonatal CUG, achieving normal body weight (Figure 3.1, Chapter 3) and fat mass (Table 3.1, Chapter 3), compared to control lambs at 16 d of age. CUG in neonatal life in these IUGR twin lambs is consistent with neonatal growth patterns in PR lambs (141, 176) and after IUGR in humans (264, 265). Although in the present study, IUGR twin lambs had normal fat mass relative to body weight compared to control lambs, a previous study of PR lambs at 43 d of age showed that accelerated CUG and fat deposition occurred following birth and resulted in greater visceral fat in PR lambs than in their control counterparts (141). This suggests that there is a risk of obesity with ageing in the IUGR twin lambs following accelerated CUG. In the present study, young IUGR twin lambs had normal insulin sensitivity, glucose tolerance and in vivo insulin action when compared to control lambs (Table 3.2 and Figure 3.2, Chapter 3). However, in older PR lambs (8, 140, 141, 191), there is a shift to insulin resistance following IUGR in association with CUG, as observed in human IUGR (1, 2, 7). Similarly, previous studies in various experimental models of IUGR/PR in lambs and the rat also show that accelerated neonatal CUG and fat deposition occur in association with increased insulin action in early life (4, 141, 176, 266) but that this reverses with age. Thus, reduced insulin action was observed in PR lambs at 30 d of age (141, 191) and this became worse by 1 year of age (140). Hence, the normal insulin sensitivity, glucose tolerance and *in vivo* insulin action observed in young IUGR twin lambs in the present study may reflect the beginnings of the reversal from increased insulin

sensitivity in fetal IUGR sheep (140, 267) to insulin resistance, and this reversal may occur during the neonatal CUG that the IUGR twin lambs were experiencing at this age. It is also possible that the metabolic phenotype of twinning is milder than that of PR, although the 20% reduction in birth weight we observed in twin lambs compared to control singletons is comparable with the birth weight reduction achieved by PR (32, 141, 176, 268).

We performed *in vitro* testing to measure intrinsic β -cell function independent of systemic input from endocrine and nervous systems (178). In the present study, IUGR due to twinning enhanced in vitro glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (Figure 3.3, Chapter 3) or β -cell insulin hyper-secretion, relative to control lambs at 16 d of age. β-cell insulin hyper-secretion is observed in obese individuals, as well as early in the pathogenesis of T2D and is considered to be an adaptation to worsening insulin resistance and increased insulin demand (202-204). Whether this early life enhanced in vitro insulin secretion in our IUGR twin lambs at 16 d of age will persist as improved β -cell capacity with ageing, or potentially exhaust the endocrine pancreas sooner due to a high level of β -cell activity is unknown, however there is evidence in humans that β cell insulin hyper-secretion precedes β -cell failure (202-204, 232, 233). In vitro insulin secretion was highly variable in these vehicle-treated IUGR lambs, and additional numbers would be required to assess potential factors contributing to this variability. Although PR has different effects on adult metabolic outcomes in sheep (8, 141), in vivo insulin secretion and effects of IUGR due to PR on insulin secretion did not differ between sexes in previous studies of young lambs (32), and we consider that sex differences are therefore unlikely to underlie the variability in insulin secretion in this group.

Prevention of excess visceral fat deposition in the neonate and possibly of β -cell hyper-secretion after IUGR are therefore priorities, since development of obesitv and visceral fat deposition are strong risk factors for insulin resistance and T2D (218-220). In response to daily neonatal exendin-4 treatment for 16 days, the IUGR-induced accelerated CUG and visceral fat deposition (Figure 3.1 and Table 3.1, Chapter 3) in the young IUGR twin lambs was prevented. Since accelerated CUG and visceral fat deposition are risk factors for later obesity and T2D (188, 220), this may reduce the risk of T2D following IUGR, similar to the prevention of T2D in PR rats following 6 days of neonatal exendin-4 treatment (9). It should be noted that in these neonatal PR rats, excess weight gain or CUG does not occur before weaning (4, 9, 266, 269), in contrast to neonatal CUG and visceral fat deposition which occurred both in the present study of young twin lambs and in older PR lambs to 43 d of age (141, 176) as well as in IUGR humans (264, 265). Prevention of CUG and excess weight gained in neonatal IUGR twin lambs following neonatal exendin-4 treatment may be due to the fact that exendin-4 can cross the blood-brain barrier (215), and acts centrally via the GLP1 receptor in the hypothalamus (24, 25). These exendin-4 actions suppress appetite, decrease food and caloric intake, reduce gastric emptying and induce weight loss or slow weight gain in mice and rats (208, 209) and in adolescent and adult humans (193-195, 205, 210-212). Hence in the present study, exendin-4 treatment of the young IUGR lamb limits growth and weight and fat gain in early postnatal life, probably by reducing appetite and nutrient intake; whether this may provide beneficial outcomes in prevention of later obesity remains to be determined.

Despite the prevention of accelerated CUG and visceral fat deposition, insulin sensitivity was decreased on the 11th day of exendin-4 treatment in IUGR twin lambs (Table 3.2, Chapter 3), when compared to their vehicle-treated IUGR counterparts. In

contrast, improved insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance was observed after and during acute or chronic GLP1 or exendin-4 treatment in humans with extreme obesity (205) or T2D (200, 206), and in obese or diabetic rodents (197, 201, 207). These differential effects of exendin-4 on insulin sensitivity may depend on whether the subjects are obese before treatment, and on their stage of development and growth and possibly species. In agreement with this hypothesis, insulin sensitivity was reduced after 4 weeks of nutrient restriction in young growing animals, which may be partly due to a reduced mass of insulin-responsive tissues (214). Also consistent with the hypothesis, in older or obese animals, the net effect of restricted feeding and consequently reduced fatness is to increase insulin sensitivity (213). Improved wholebody insulin sensitivity is also due to improvements in hepatic insulin sensitivity, with lower post-prandial endogenous glucose production after 2 weeks of daily exendin-4 treatment observed in T2D patients (217). In addition to the above, exendin-4 can act centrally via the GLP1 receptor and activation of PKC-8 signalling pathways in the hypothalamus, to suppress femoral blood flow and whole body insulin sensitivity in mice (24, 25), suggesting an additional mechanism for decreased peripheral insulin sensitivity during exendin-4 treatment. Although neonatal exendin-4 treatment reduced absolute weights of lean tissues, relative weight of lean tissue was reduced in exendin-4 treated twins only relative to the control group, and not relative to vehicle-treated twin IUGR lambs, implying that exendin-4 treatment affects lean tissue deposition to a lesser extent than adipose deposition. This is important, as muscle is the site of $\sim 80\%$ of insulin-stimulated glucose uptake (270) and mass of lean tissue correlates positively with insulin sensitivity in healthy (271) and obese humans (272), so that loss of lean mass would be expected to adversely affect insulin sensitivity.

As a consequence of their reduced insulin sensitivity, glucose tolerance was impaired in IUGR twin lambs treated with exendin-4, even though they exhibited increased 2nd phase insulin secretion that maintained their insulin disposition (Figure 3.2 and Table 3.2, Chapter 3). This contrasts with the improved glucose tolerance observed during and after exendin-4 treatment in mature rats (197, 200, 201, 207), in β cell depleted rats (201), and in T2D human patients (200). In some of these studies, the improved glucose tolerance during or after exendin-4 treatment reflects marked improvement of deficient insulin secretion, with stimulation of β -cell regeneration observed in β -cell depleted rats (201) and up-regulation of β -cell function during exendin-4 treatment in T2D patients (200). Interestingly, exendin-4 treatment of IUGR twin lambs normalised in vitro insulin hyper-secretion (Figure 3.3, Chapter 3), suggesting some normalisation of intrinsic β -cell function and its molecular determinants and possibly prevention of increased insulin action in early age. To our knowledge, this is the first study of the effects of exendin-4 on insulin action in young growing animals during the treatment. An exendin-4-treated control group was not included in the present study because our primary aim was to evaluate exendin-4 as an intervention. We would predict that acute responses to exendin-4 including suppressed appetite and therefore insulin sensitivity would occur to at least some extent in unrestricted control lambs. Based on previous studies in rats, where neonatal exendin-4 treatment improved later metabolic outcomes in PR offspring and had no effect on outcomes in control offspring (9), we would expect that 'reprogramming' effects of neonatal exendin-4 treatment would be evident primarily in PR lambs. Further studies, including of feed and nutrient intake are needed to define the underlying mechanisms for the reduced insulin sensitivity of exendin-4-treated twin IUGR lambs during treatment. Thus, despite decreased insulin sensitivity during treatment, prevention of fat

accumulation and CUG together with normalisation of the β -cell hyper-secretion in the young IUGR twin lamb suggests that neonatal exendin-4 treatment has the potential to be beneficial to insulin-regulated glucose homeostasis in later life.

6.2 MECHANISM OF IUGR PROGRAMMING – GENE EXPRESSION

Altered molecular determinants of β-cell mass and function following IUGR may contribute to the increased risk of impaired insulin action and diabetes in later life. At 16 d of age, IUGR due to twinning did not alter β -cell mass (Chapter 3, 172), islet gene expression of regulators of β -cell mass (Figure 4.1, Chapter 4), including PDX1 and IGF2, in the present study. These results are consistent with a lack of PR-induced IUGR effects on β -cell mass or pancreatic *PDX1* expression in previous study of lambs at 42 d of age (8). In contrast to the lack of change in islet PDX1 mRNA expression in young IUGR twin lambs in the present study, PDX1 expression was reduced in the pancreas (9) and islets (33) of PR rats, albeit with normal β -cell mass, at 2 weeks of age. Therefore, it appears that in both rats and sheep, IUGR/PR does not affect β -cell mass in early postnatal life, however with ageing, differences in effects on β -cell mass emerge. Adult PR rats had reduced β -cell mass together with impaired glucose tolerance and insulin action by 3 months of age (9), in contrast to increased β -cell mass in adult PR lambs at 1 year of age, though is insufficient to compensate for increasing insulin resistance resulting in impaired insulin disposition (8). These different consequences of IUGR/PR on β -cell mass in adult animals between the species may reflect the differences in the effects of prenatal restriction on PDX1 expression in early life, since reduced *PDX1* expression impairs the capacity to increase β -cell mass in response to demand (273). Programming of impaired β -cell mass or capacity later in life may also be influenced by the timing of IUGR insult occurring at different stages of β -cell development, and these differ between the species. In humans and sheep, most pancreatic and β -cell development occurs before birth (10-13), whereas rodents undergo later development of β -cells than sheep or humans, with the majority of pancreatic remodelling occurred at postnatal ages (18-20). Thus for the humans and sheep, IUGR may inflict greater effects on the β -cell and its molecular determinants, because the exposure to restriction occurs at earlier developmental stages, whereas in rodents, the key pancreatic developmental events that occur postnatally will not occur in a restricted environment. There is limited evidence that severe IUGR reduces the β -cell mass at birth in humans (68) and also in IUGR sheep fetuses in late gestation, with those of low weight having the lowest β -cell mass (8).

Enhanced early life β -cell function and expression of its molecular determinants following IUGR may contribute to later β -cell dysfunction and exhaustion, in response to insulin resistance and ageing. In the present study, consistent with the fact that IUGR due to twinning induced *in vitro* insulin hyper-secretion (Figure 3.3, Chapter 3), upregulation of islet *GCK* expression was observed in the young IUGR twin lamb (Figure 4.2, Chapter 4). GCK is a rate-limiting enzyme for glycolysis and mutations in the *GCK* gene are associated with hyperinsulinaemia (223, 224) when these mutations increase affinity of the GCK enzyme towards glucose and increase the rate of insulin release from β -cells (223). Up-regulation of islet mRNA expression of *GCK* in the present study thus may in part explain insulin hyper-secretion of β -cells, though *GCK* protein abundance and activity should be further investigated to confirm this potential mechanism. Altered *GCK* mRNA expression and early life β -cell insulin hypersecretion may also affect β -cell function and insulin action later in life. Heterozygous *GCK* knockout mice (*GCK*^{+/-}) develop hyperglycaemia and hypoinsulinaemia (228, 229), because their β -cells are unable to sense glucose and secrete insulin postnatally (230). In an *in vitro* study, chronic incubation of $GCK^{+/-}$ mice islets with high glucose concentration enhanced their glucose-stimulated insulin secretion, due to increased GCK protein and activity levels in comparison to those measured before the incubation (274). Importantly, in contrast to the responses in $GCK^{+/-}$ islets, similar chronic high glucose incubation in the control mice $(GCK^{+/+})$ islets increased basal insulin levels, but reduced glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and reduced GCK glucose sensing activity in comparison to before the incubation (274). These findings may suggest that prolonged exposure to high glucose in GCK-deficient islets induces compensatory mechanisms to improve β -cell function, whereas this same exposure can be detrimental to normal islets due to constant insulin production. This is consistent with previous studies in T2D patients, where constant stimulation of insulin production in response to increased insulin demand resulted in accumulation of β -cell endoplasmic reticulum stress, which eventually leads to β -cell dysfunction and death (232, 233). Whether altered islet GCK mRNA expression and/or early life enhanced insulin secretion in vitro following IUGR in these young IUGR lambs at 16 d of age, will persist with improved β -cell capacity later in life, or potentially exhaust the endocrine pancreas earlier due to a high performance of β -cell activity are unknown, thus require more investigation.

Up-regulation of pathways known to be important in β -cell survival and replication might contribute to later increases in β -cell mass after neonatal exendin-4 treatment. At 16 d of age, neonatal exendin-4 treatment did not alter β -cell mass (Table 3.3, Chapter 3) or islet *PDX1* expression (Figure 4.1, Chapter 4) in the young IUGR twin lamb in the present study. A previous study of PR rats showed that despite neonatal exendin-4 treatment not affecting β -cell mass shortly after treatment (9), it did restore their islet *PDX1* expression at 2 weeks of age (33). This rescue of islet *PDX1* expression in early life of the PR rats had favourable effects with aging, as the adult PR rats that had received neonatal exendin-4 treatment had normal β -cell mass, while PR rats treated with saline as neonates had substantial reductions in β -cell mass and developed T2D (9). We hypothesise that similar beneficial effect of exendin-4 treatment after IUGR might also emerge with ageing in the sheep. This is supported by previous studies in rodents in which β -cell replication was increased after similar duration of exendin-4 treatment in young and adult animals, but increases in β -cell mass were sometimes not apparent until several weeks later (reviewed by 153, 192). Moreover, in the exendin-4-treated IUGR twin lamb, islet expression of PDX1 correlated strongly and positively with that of IGF1R, while IGF1 expression correlated strongly and positively with β -cell volume density. This is consistent with hyperplastic effects of IGF action on β -cell mass seen in other models (240, 241), although trends for differences in β -cell mass between exendin-4-treated and vehicle-treated IUGR lambs are not yet significant at 16 d of age. Our results thus suggest that expression of the *IGF* axis is important for regulation of β -cell mass in young lambs, consistent with earlier studies in rodents (242, 243), and in PR lambs (8).

Consistent with our observation that neonatal exendin-4 treatment normalised *in vitro* β -cell hyper-secretion (Figure 3.3, Chapter 3), islet mRNA expression of *GCK*, a determinant of β -cell function (Figure 4.2, Chapter 4) was normalised in IUGR twin lambs treated with exendin-4 compared to their IUGR counterparts. These normalisation effects may be partly due to suppression of appetite during exendin-4 treatment in these young IUGR lambs (Chapter 3, 172). Exendin-4 treatment suppresses appetite, and decreases caloric intake and gastric emptying in mice and rats (208, 209) and in adolescent and adult humans (193-195, 205, 210-212). Reduced appetite would therefore be expected to reduce demand for insulin and the need for

increased β -cell function in these young IUGR lambs during exendin-4 treatment. Moreover, in comparison to vehicle-treated IUGR lambs, exendin-4 treated IUGR lambs had a tendency for increased β -cell mass (Chapter 3, 172), which would further reduce the need to increase their β -cell function. Whether this prevention of upregulated β -cell function and expression of islet determinants of β -cell function, including *GCK* following IUGR by neonatal exendin-4 treatment would preserve the capacity for up-regulation of β -cell function at later ages in response to developing insulin resistance is unknown.

6.3 MECHANISM OF IUGR PROGRAMMING – EPIGENETIC

REGULATION

Programming of β -cell growth and development in early life by IUGR, leading to functional impairment later in life, may occur in part via epigenetic changes that persist and maintain altered gene expression throughout life. In the present study, the IUGR twin lamb had increased islet mRNA expression of *DNMT3B* (Figure 4.3, Chapter 4), which is responsible for *de novo* DNA methylation (22, 23), and islet mRNA expression of *GCK* was positively correlated with that of *DNMT3B* in this group (Figure 4.10, Chapter 4). Methylation of the *GCK* gene is labile and can be influenced by maternal low protein diets (238), ageing (234) or consumption of a high fat diet (235). Hyper-methylation of the *GCK* gene in rat liver reduces *GCK* expression (234, 235) and this hepatic *GCK* expression is negatively correlated with *DNMT3B* expression (236), which suggests that increased *DNMT3B* expression should decrease *GCK* gene expression, contradicting the positive relationship observed in the present study. Our results therefore suggest that changes in *DNMT3B* expression do not consistently predict *GCK* expression. These differential outcomes in relationship between islet expression of GCK and that of DNMT3B may be partly because DNMT3B *de novo* methylation can be tissue-specific rather than global (237). For example, global over-expression of DNMT3B in mice increased hyper-methylation of the Wnt pathway inhibitor gene, Sfrp2 and consequently silenced its expression in colon but not in spleen (237). Moreover, impacts of altered DNMT3B expression can also differ between target genes, as shown in the same study (237), where the tumour suppressor gene Cdx2, which also contains methylation sites, was not methylated in colon tumours in the presence of DNMT3B global over-expression. Interestingly, in IUGR induced by feeding a maternal low protein diet in the rat, hepatic GCK expression in offspring was reduced during fasting and was increased on re-feeding, relative to that of control animals, without any changes in DNA methylation status (238). Based on these findings, we suggest that IUGR due to twinning may be affecting islet GCK expression by mechanisms other than de novo DNA methylation which may also explain the varying relationships between islet DNMT3B and GCK expression, between the present study and that in other studies in the rat. However, further analyses are needed to investigate this relationship between islet DNMT3B and GCK methylation and expression, and the underlying mechanisms, and their effects on β -cell function following IUGR.

Consistent with normalisation of β -cell function measured as insulin hypersecretion (Chapter 3, 172), and of islet expression of its determinant, *GCK* (Chapter 4), neonatal exendin-4 treatment abolished this positive relationship between islet expression of *DNMT3B* and *GCK*. Evidence for epigenetic mechanisms underlying long-term effects of neonatal exendin-4 was also evident from the study of how neonatal exendin-4 treatment of IUGR rats for 6 days rescued *PDX1* expression, acting by normalisation of histone acetylation activity on *PDX1* promoter region in the islets (33). In this latter study (33), IUGR caused the loss of histone acetylation (21, 33) and triggered later DNA methylation through binding of DNMT1 to the promoter region, which progressively reduced *PDX1* expression in islets (21, 33). Exendin-4 restoration of histone acetylation on *PDX1* promoter region in one-week-old rats following IUGR persisted into adulthood and prevented DNA methylation by DNMT1 (33). Therefore, exendin-4 action in the islets may occur through histone modifications in early life before altering DNA methylation of *GCK*. Intriguingly, islet expression of *DNMT1* was reduced in IUGR twin lambs treated with exendin-4 compared to IUGR twin lambs (Figure 4.3, Chapter 4). To what extent IUGR could lead to permanent changes in β -cell genes and epigenetic status in non-rodent species, including humans, is still unknown, however this provides the possibility of these adverse molecular changes in islets following IUGR can be normalised in early life by neonatal exendin-4 treatment in young lambs.

6.4 MECHANISM OF IUGR PROGRAMMING – ADIPONECTIN REGULATION

Recovery of fat mass after nutrient depletion or IUGR induces metabolic changes in adipose tissue and pancreatic islets, to increase glucose uptake in adipocytes to replenish energy stores. These changes include increasing insulin sensitivity of adipose tissue and increasing insulin secretion from β -cells, mediated in part via actions of adiponectin (251). Consistent with this hypothesis, up-regulation of adiponectin expression in omental fat (Figure 5.2, Chapter 5) and increased circulating levels (Figure 5.1, Chapter 5) were evident in IUGR twin lambs at 16 d of age, and this may partly mediate the enhanced *in vitro* insulin hyper-secretion (Figure 3.3, Chapter 3) and up-regulation of its expression of some of its determinants in islets (Figure 4.2, Chapter

4). We also observed that in vitro insulin hyper-secretion correlated positively with plasma adiponectin in the IUGR twin lambs, which also had had increased weight gain during CUG, reaching similar body fat at 16 d of age compared to controls (Chapter 3, 172), similar to the growth pattern seen in re-fed rats after nutrient deprivation (251). This potential role of adiponectin in the IUGR lamb is further supported by previous findings that adiponectin can up-regulate insulin secretion and action (119-121) and thus may contribute to the changes in β -cell function following IUGR. However, in the present study, measures of in vivo insulin secretion were negatively associated with plasma adiponectin in IUGR lambs, though β -cell mass was positively correlated with plasma adiponectin. We hypothesised that adiponectin may not positively stimulate in vivo insulin action in the absence of insulin resistance. In agreement with this hypothesis, adiponectin selectively induced insulin secretion at a high glucose concentration (16.7 nM) but inhibited insulin secretion at a low glucose concentration (2.8 nM) in islets isolated from insulin-resistant mice (121). Thus, how this elevated adiponectin in IUGR twin lambs at 16 d of age will stimulate and preserve the capacity of β -cell function to secrete insulin in response to later development of insulin resistance (191) will require further investigation.

Consistent with normalisation of insulin hyper-secretion and CUG (Chapter 3, 172) and β -cell function molecular determinant expression (Chapter 4), relationships between insulin secretion and islet expression of β -cell functional determinants and circulating adiponectin and its expression in these young IUGR twin lambs were abolished by neonatal exendin-4 treatment. Exendin-4 treatment of IUGR twin lambs also did not alter circulating adiponectin concentrations and its expression in omental fat (Figure 5.1 and Figure 5.2, Chapter 5), possibly due to up-regulation of adiponectin expression in subcutaneous fat (Figure 5.2, Chapter 5) in these animals. Exendin-4

directly induces adiponectin expression and its protein production *in vitro* of 3T3-L1 adipocytes cell lines (252) and increased plasma adiponectin *in vivo* of T2D patients (262) and diet-induced obese rats (263), showing that exendin-4 can directly regulate adiponectin production. Moreover, exendin-4 treatment improves insulin sensitivity and insulin action in extremely obese (205) and T2D (206) humans and rodents (197, 201, 207). Normalisation of relationships between insulin secretion and adiponectin in IUGR twin lambs treated with exendin-4 may therefore reflect the positive effects of exendin-4 on insulin action, adiponectin or both. How neonatal exendin-4 treatment will affect adiponectin expression and circulating abundance into later postnatal life after IUGR is as yet unknown.

6.5 STUDY LIMITATIONS

Interpretation of findings of the present study needs to acknowledge several limitations. One limitation of the present study is the lack of feed intake or composition measures able to be collected on these lambs. Protein supplementation was given to the young lambs on a per body weight basis to prevent growth constraint due to potential limitation in maternal milk protein supply in twin litters (173-175). As the lambs were also able to suckle to appetite, provision of the supplement will have changed diet composition in supplemented lambs compared to un-supplemented lambs in our studies. Protein supplementation may have altered metabolic outcomes, independent of effects of IUGR or exendin-4. Protein supplementation independently promotes beneficial effects in terms of weight loss and blood glucose level in diabetic humans (275), improves fasting lipids and insulin sensitivity in obese or overweight humans (276), and inhibits appetite and increases satiety, with increased GLP1 response to feeding (277). Moreover, whey protein supplementation induced greater β -cell

response to feeding, as plasma insulin, pro-insulin and C-peptide concentrations were higher in whey supplemented group compared to casein supplemented group in diabetic humans (278). Our experimental design did not allow us to control for potential interactions between dietary composition and IUGR or exendin-4 treatment. Although the similar growth and metabolic responses to IUGR induced by twinning and IUGR induced by PR in previous studies (141, 176, 268) suggest that the protein supplement did not differentially affect metabolism in singleton control and twin IUGR lambs, additional control groups would have been required in this study to differentiate the independent effects of protein supplementation and exendin-4 treatment.

Another limitation of the present study is the unfortunate loss of control singleton plasma samples for adiponectin analysis, which limits interpretations of the circulating adiponectin concentrations and its correlations with other outcomes. Moreover, plasma adiponectin can exist in different forms such as a total/globular or high or medium or low molecular weight forms (105) and previous human study has shown that high molecular weight adiponectin is positively correlated with glucose tolerance (110). These may suggest that more extensive investigation is needed to accurately determine the abundance of adiponectin in plasma following IUGR, specifically those of different forms of adiponectin. Although a previous study of obese or overweight humans showed that whey protein or high protein diet did not alter total adiponectin concentrations despite substantial weight loss (279), another study of obese humans showed that the high and medium molecular weight form of adiponectin was increased after medium weight loss (280). Measures of the various forms of adiponectin may be warranted in future studies.

6.6 IMPLICATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Young IUGR twin lambs exhibited CUG in conjunction with early life upregulation of β -cell function and islet expression of its determinant, GCK at 16 d of age. These molecular changes may be mediated in part by increased circulating adiponectin and its expression in omental fat, as part of the adipose tissue response to accelerated fat deposition occurring during CUG. β-cell hyper-insulin secretion occurs in obese individuals, as well as early in the pathogenesis of T2D (202-204), showing that excessive early β -cell function following IUGR can lead to subsequent β -cell dysfunction and exhaustion in response of insulin resistance and ageing later in life. Thus, the relationship between up-regulation of GCK expression in the islets and in vitro β -cell hyper-insulin secretion, between islet expression of GCK and DNMT3B in IUGR twin lambs as well as reduced DNMT1 expression in IUGR lambs treated with exendin-4 should be further investigated. In particular, additional measures are needed to determine whether changes in islet gene expression following IUGR are reflected in changes in protein abundance. Moreover, whether these in vivo, in vitro and molecular changes in β -cell mass and function at 16 d of age of the young IUGR lambs will persist into adulthood, thus contributing to development of T2D is unknown and will require separate animal cohorts with long-term follow-up of functional and molecular outcomes.

Neonatal exendin-4 treatment prevented this IUGR-induced CUG and visceral fat deposition, increased 2^{nd} phase insulin secretion *in vivo*, normalised *in vitro* insulin secretion and islet expression of its determinant, *GCK*, and abolished the associations between circulating adiponectin and adiponectin expression and *in vitro* β -cell hyper-insulin, at the end of treatment in the IUGR lamb. We do not yet know whether neonatal exendin-4 treatment will affect outcomes in control lambs, as the aim of the

present study was to evaluate its efficacy only in the context of IUGR. Whether these changes following neonatal exendin-4 treatment will affect outcomes in adulthood of sheep progeny, and whether it will improve adult β -cell mass and function to delay or prevent the subsequent loss of insulin secretory capacity observed after IUGR in young adult male sheep (8, 32) remains to be determined, and will require separate animal cohorts with long-term follow-up of functional and molecular outcomes following the end of exendin-4 treatment.

6.7 CONCLUSION

In conclusion, IUGR due to twinning induced CUG, early life up-regulation of in vitro β -cell insulin secretion and islet expression of its determinant, GCK, despite unaltered in vivo insulin action, glucose tolerance and β -cell mass in the young lambs at 16 d of age. These metabolic and molecular changes may be partly mediated by increased circulating adiponectin and its expression in omental fat, as part of adipose tissue response to drivers of CUG. Consistent with our hypothesis, neonatal exendin-4 treatment prevented this IUGR-induced CUG and decreased visceral fat deposition, increased 2nd phase insulin secretion in vivo, normalised in vitro insulin secretion and islet expression of its determinants at the end of treatment in the IUGR twin lambs. Although exendin-4 treatment only tended to increase β -cell mass in young IUGR lamb, the up-regulation of islet expression of β -cell mass determinants after 16 days of exendin-4 treatment may suggest beneficial effects of exendin-4 to subsequently expand β -cell mass. This may protect the exendin-4-treated IUGR individual from a need to increase β -cell function, and preserve the capacity of β -cell for later plasticity of insulin secretion in response to development of insulin resistance with ageing. Whether these increases in β -cell function and islet expression of its determinants

following IUGR at 16 d of age and normalisation of these changes by neonatal exendin-4 treatment can affect β -cell function and mass in the IUGR lambs with ageing, especially in response to elevated insulin demand or insulin resistance is still unclear. Thus, a long term investigation is required to assess how these metabolic and molecular changes in β -cell function and mass initiated by IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment during the first 16 of life will affect β -cell function and mass and insulin action in the IUGR sheep into adulthood.

REFERENCES

- Newsome CA, Shiell AW, Fall CHD, Phillips DIW, Shier R, Law CM 2003
 Is birth weight related to later glucose and insulin metabolism? A systematic review. *Diabetic Medicine* 20:339-348
- 2. Whincup PH, Kaye SJ, Owen CG, Huxley R, Cook DG, Anazawa S, Barrett-Connor E, Bhargava SK, Birgisdottir BE, Carlsson S, de Rooij SR, Dyck RF, Eriksson JG, Falkner B, Fall C, Forsen T, Grill V, Gudnason V, Hulman S, Hypponen E, Jeffreys M, Lawlor DA, Leon DA, Minami J, Mishra G, Osmond C, Power C, Rich-Edwards JW, Roseboom TJ, Sachdev HS, Syddall H, Thorsdottir I, Vanhala M, Wadsworth M, Yarbrough DE 2008 Birth weight and risk of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 300:2886-2897
- Simmons RA, Suponitsky-Kroyter I, Selak MA 2005 Progressive accumulation of mitochondrial DNA mutations and decline in mitochondrial function lead to β-cell failure. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280:28785-28791
- 4. Simmons RA, Templeton LJ, Gertz SJ 2001 Intrauterine growth retardation leads to the development of type 2 diabetes in the rat. *Diabetes* **50**:2279-2286
- 5. Jaquet D, Gaboriau A, Czernichow P, Levy-Marchal C 2000 Insulin resistance early in adulthood in subjects born with intrauterine growth retardation. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* **85**:1401-1406
- 6. Jensen CB, Storgaard H, Dela F, Holst JJ, Madsbad S, Vaag AA 2002 Early differential defects of insulin secretion and action in 19-year-old Caucasian men who had low birth weight. *Diabetes* 51:1271-1280

- 7. Mericq V, Ong KK, Bazaes R, Peña V, Avila A, Salazar T, Soto N, Iñiguez G, Dunger DB 2005 Longitudinal changes in insulin sensitivity and secretion from birth to age three years in small- and appropriate-for-gestational-age children. *Diabetologia* 48:2609-2614
- Gatford KL, Mohammad SNB, Harland ML, De Blasio MJ, Fowden AL, Robinson JS, Owens JA 2008 Impaired β-cell function and inadequate compensatory increases in β-cell mass after intrauterine growth restriction in sheep. *Endocrinology* 149:5118-5127
- Stoffers DA, Desai BM, DeLeon DD, Simmons RA 2003 Neonatal exendin-4 prevents the development of diabetes in the intrauterine growth retarded rat. *Diabetes* 52:734-740
- 10. **Reddy S, Elliott RB** 1988 Ontogenic development of peptide hormones in the mammalian fetal pancreas. *Experientia* **44**:E1-E9.
- 11. Kassem SA, Ariel I, Thornton PS, Scheimberg I, Glaser B 2000 β -cell proliferation and apoptosis in the developing normal human pancreas and in hyperinsulinism of infancy. *Diabetes* **49**:1325-1333
- Piper K, Brickwood S, Turnpenny LW, Cameron IT, Ball SG, Wilson DI, Hanley NA 2004 Beta cell differentiation during early human pancreas development. *Journal of Endocrinology* 181:11-23
- 13. Limesand SW, Jensen J, Hutton JC, Hay WW, Jr. 2005 Diminished β-cell replication contributes to reduced β-cell mass in fetal sheep with intrauterine growth restriction. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 288:R1297-R1305

- 14. **Otonkoski T, Andersson S, Knip M, O. S** 1988 Maturation of insulin response to glucose during human fetal and neonatal development. Studies with perifusion of pancreatic islet like cell clusters. *Diabetes* **37**:286-291
- Bassett JM 1977 Glucagon, insulin and glucose homeostasis in the fetal lamb.
 Annals of Veterinary Research 8:362-373
- Fowden AL 1980 Effects of arginine and glucose on the release of insulin in the sheep fetus. *Journal of Endocrinology* 85:121-129
- 17. Rozance PJ, Limesand SW, Hay WW 2006 Decreased nutrient-stimulated insulin secretion in chronically hypoglycemic late-gestation fetal sheep is due to an intrinsic islet defect. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism* **291**:E404-E411
- Scaglia L, Cahill CJ, Finegood DT, Bonner-Weir S 1997 Apoptosis participates in the remodeling of the endocrine pancreas in the neonatal rat. *Endocrinology* 138:1736-1741
- 19. Petrik J, Arany E, McDonald TJ, Hill DJ 1998 Apoptosis in the pancreatic islet cells of the neonatal rat is associated with a reduced expression of insulin-like growth factor II that may act as a survival factor. *Endocrinology* 139:2994-3004
- 20. Petrik J, Reusens B, Arany E, Remacle C, Coelho C, Hoet JJ, Hill DJ 1999 A low protein diet alters the balance of islet cell replication and apoptosis in the fetal and neonatal rat and is associated with a reduced pancreatic expression of insulin-like growth factor-II. *Endocrinology* 140:4861-4873
- 21. Park JH, Stoffers DA, Nicholls RD, Simmons RA 2008 Development of type
 2 diabetes following intrauterine growth retardation in rats is associated with

progressive epigenetic silencing of *Pdx1*. Journal of Clinical Investigation **118**:2316-2324

- 22. **Okano M, Bell DW, Haber DA, Li E** 1999 DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for *de novo* methylation and mammalian development. *Cell* **99**:247-257
- 23. Jin B, Robertson KD 2013 DNA methyltransferases, DNA damage repair, and cancer. *Advances in experimental medicine and biology* **754**:3-29
- 24. Cabou C, Campistron G, Marsollier N, Leloup C, Cruciani-Guglielmacci C, Pénicaud L, Drucker DJ, Magnan C, Burcelin R 2008 Brain glucagonlike peptide-1 regulates arterial blood flow, heart rate, and insulin sensitivity. *Diabetes* 57:2577-2587
- 25. Cabou C, Vachoux C, Campistron G, Drucker DJ, Burcelin R 2011 Brain GLP-1 signaling regulates femoral artery blood flow and insulin sensitivity through hypothalamic PKC-δ. *Diabetes* 60:2245-2256
- 26. Imeryüz N, Yeğen BÇ, Bozkurt A, Coşkun T, Villanueva-Peñacarrillo ML, Ulusoy NB 1997 Glucagon-like peptide-1 inhibits gastric emptying via vagal afferent-mediated central mechanisms. *American Journal of Physiology -Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 273:G920-G927
- 27. International Diabetes Federation 2013 IDF Diabetes Atlas. 6th ed. Brussels, Belgium: International Diabetes Federation, viewed on 17 April 2014, <u>http://www.idf.org/diabetesatlas</u>
- 28. Eriksson M, Wallander MA, Krakau I, Wedel H, Svardsudd K 2004 Birth weight and cardiovascular risk factors in a cohort followed until 80 years of age: the study of men born in 1913. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 255:236-246

- 29. Bergman RN, Ader M, Huecking K, Van Citters G 2002 Accurate assessment of β-cell function: The hyperbolic correction. *Diabetes* 51 (Suppl. 1):S212-S220
- 30. Porte DJ 1991 Beta-cells in type II diabetes mellitus. *Diabetes* 40:166-180
- Robinson JS, Owens JA 1996 Pathophysiology of intrauterine growth failure.
 In: Gluckman PD, Heymann MA eds. Pediatrics and Perinatology The Scientific Basis 2nd Edition. London, England: Arnold Publication; 290-297
- 32. Owens JA, Thavaneswaran P, De Blasio MJ, McMillen IC, Robinson JS, Gatford KL 2007 Sex-specific effects of placental restriction on components of the metabolic syndrome in young adult sheep. *American Journal of Physiology -Endocrinology and Metabolism* 292:E1879-E1889
- 33. Pinney SE, Jaeckle Santos LJ, Han Y, Stoffers DA, Simmons RA 2011 Exendin-4 increases histone acetylase activity and reverses epigenetic modifications that silence Pdx1 in the intrauterine growth retarded rat. *Diabetologia* 54:2606-2614
- 34. Australian Bureau of Statistics 2013 Australian health survey updated results: 2011-12 Cat. No. 4364.0.55.003, Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics, viewed on 30 June 2014, <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/Lookup/4364.0.55.003main+feat</u> ures12011-2012
- 35. Australian Bureau of Statistics 2014 Cause of death, Australia 2012, Cat. No. 3303.0, Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics, viewed on 30 June 2014, http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/3303.0/
- 36. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2010 Australia's health 2010. Australia's health no. 12., Cat. No. AUS 122, Canberra, Australia: Australian

Institute of Health and Welfare, viewed on 30 June 2014, http://www.aihw.gov.au/publication-detail/?id=6442468376

- 37. McCarty J, Zimmet P, Dalton A, Segal L, Welborn T 1996 The rise and rise of diabetes in Australia, 1996: A review of statistics, trends and costs. Canberra, Australia: International Diabetes Institutes & Diabetes Australia
- Hay WW, Thureen PJ, Anderson MS 2001 Intrauterine growth restriction. NeoReviews 2:e129-e138
- 39. **Battaglia FC, Lubchenco LO** 1967 A practical classification of newborn infants by weight and gestational age. *Journal of Pediatrics* **17**:159-163
- 40. Hales CN, Barker DJP, Clark PM, Cox LJ, Fall C, Osmond C, Winter PD 1991 Fetal and infant growth and impaired glucose tolerance at age 64. *British Medical Journal* 303:1019-1022
- Harder T, Rodekamp E, Schellong K, Dudenhausen JW, Plagemann A
 2007 Birth weight and subsequent risk of type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis.
 American Journal of Epidemiology 165:849-857
- 42. Kaijser M, Edstedt Bonamy A-K, Akre O, Cnattingius S, Granath F, Norman M, Ekbom A 2009 Perinatal risk factors for diabetes in later life. Diabetes 58:523-526
- 43. Gatford KL, Simmons RA, De Blasio MJ, Robinson JS, Owens JA 2010 Review: Placental programming of postnatal diabetes and impaired insulin action after IUGR. *Placenta* 31 (Suppl. 1):S60-S65
- 44. Hales CN, Barker DJP 1992 Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetes mellitus: The thrifty phenotype hypothesis. *Diabetologia* 35:595-601

- 45. Barker D, Eriksson J, Forsén T, Osmond C 2002 Fetal origins of adult disease: Strength of effects and biological basis. International Journal of Epidemiology 31:1235-1239
- McMillen IC, Robinson JS 2005 Developmental origins of the metabolic syndrome: Prediction, plasticity, and programming. *Physiological Reviews* 85:571-633
- 47. **Barker DJP** 2004 Developmental origins of adult health and disease. *Journal of epidemiology and community health* **58**:114-115
- 48. Bateson P, Barker D, Clutton-Brock T, Deb D, D'Udine B, Foley RA, Gluckman P, Godfrey K, Kirkwood T, Lahr MM, McNamara J, Metcalfe NB, Monaghan P, Spencer HG, Sultan SE 2004 Developmental plasticity and human health. *Nature* 430:419-421
- 49. Barker DJP 1998 Mothers, babies, and disease in later life. 2nd ed. London,England: Churchill Livingstone
- 50. Veening MA, van Weissenbruch MM, Heine RJ, Delemarre-van de Waal HA 2003 β-cell capacity and insulin sensitivity in prepubertal children born small for gestational age: Influence of body size during childhood. *Diabetes* 52:1756-1760
- 51. Fowden AL, Hill DJ 2001 Intra-uterine programming of the endocrine pancreas. *British Medical Bulletin* 60:123-142
- 52. Porksen N 2002 Early changes in beta-cell function and insulin pulsatility as predictors for type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Nutrition and Metabolism* 15 (Suppl. 6):9-14.

- 53. Butler AE, Janson J, Bonner-Weir S, Ritzel R, Rizza RA, Butler PC 2003 β -cell deficit and increased β -cell apoptosis in humans with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 52:102-110
- 54. Bouwens L, Rooman I 2005 Regulation of pancreatic beta-cell mass. *Physiological Reviews* 85:1255-1270
- Fowden AL, Forhead AJ 2004 Endocrine mechanisms of intrauterine programming. *Reproduction* 127:515-526
- 56. **McKinnon CM, Docherty K** 2001 Pancreatic duodenal homeobox–1, *PDX-1*, a major regulator of beta cell identity and function. *Diabetologia* **44**:1203-1214
- 57. **Sander M, German MS** 1997 The β-cell transcription factors and development of the pancreas. *Journal of Molecular Medicine* **75**:327-340
- 58. Otani K, Kulkarni RN, Baldwin AC, Krutzfeldt J, Ueki K, Stoffel M, Kahn CR, Polonsky KS 2004 Reduced β-cell mass and altered glucose sensing impair insulin-secretory function in βIRKO mice. American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism 286:E41-E49
- Niessen M 2006 On the role of *IRS2* in the regulation of functional β-cell mass.
 Archives of Physiology and Biochemistry 112:65-73
- 60. Elghazi L, Rachdi L, Weiss AJ, Cras-Méneur C, Bernal-Mizrachi E 2007 Regulation of β -cell mass and function by the *Akt*/protein kinase B signalling pathway. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* **9**:147-157
- 61. Hiriart M, Aguilar-Bryan L 2008 Channel regulation of glucose sensing in the pancreatic β-cell. American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism 295:E1298-E1306

- 62. Ohlsson H, Karlsson K, Edlund T 1993 *IPF1*, a homeodomain-containing transactivator of the insulin gene. *European Molecular Biology Organisation Journal* **12** E4251–4259
- 63. Waeber G, Thompson N, Nicod P, Bonny C 1996 Transcriptional activation of the *GLUT2* gene by the *IPF-1/STF-1/IDX-1* homeobox factor. *Molecular Endocrinology* **10**:1327-1334
- 64. Watada H, Kajimoto Y, Umayahara Y, Matsuoka T, Kaneto H, Fujitani Y, Kamada T, Kawamori R, Yamasaki Y 1996 The human glucokinase gene βcell-type promoter: An essential role of insulin promoter factor 1/PDX-1 in its activation in HIT-T15 cells. Diabetes 45:E1478-1488
- 65. Jonsson J, Carlsson L, Edlund T, Edlund H 1994 Insulin-promoter-factor 1 is required for pancreas development in mice. *Nature* **371**:606-609
- 66. Brissova M, Blaha M, Spear C, Nicholson W, Radhika A, Shiota M, Charron MJ, Wright CVE, Powers AC 2005 Reduced PDX-1 expression impairs islet response to insulin resistance and worsens glucose homeostasis. American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism 288:E707-714
- 67. Kulkarni RN, Jhala US, Winnay JN, Krajewski S, Montminy M, Kahn CR
 2004 PDX-1 haploinsufficiency limits the compensatory islet hyperplasia that occurs in response to insulin resistance. Journal of Clinical Investigation 114:E828–E836
- 68. Van Assche FA, De Prins F, Aerts L, Verjans M 1977 The endocrine pancreas in small-for-dates infants. British Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology 84:751-753

- 69. Bushati N, Cohen SM 2007 MicroRNA functions. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology 23:175-205
- 70. Lynn FC 2009 Meta-regulation: MicroRNA regulation of glucose and lipid metabolism. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* **20**:452-459
- 71. Royo H, Bortolin ML, Seitz H, Cavaillé J 2006 Small non-coding RNAs and genomic imprinting. *Cytogenetic and Genome Research* **113**:99-108
- 72. Chowdhury A, Chetty M, Vinh N 2014 Evaluating influence of microRNA in reconstructing gene regulatory networks. *Cogn Neurodyn* 8:251-259
- Fazi F, Nervi C 2008 MicroRNA: basic mechanisms and transcriptional regulatory networks for cell fate determination. *Cardiovascular Research* 79:553-561
- 74. da Piedade I, Epstein EJ, Grun D, Gunsalus KC, Krek A, MacMenamin P, Poy MN, Rajewsky N, Rosenberg L, Stoffel M, Wolf R 2005 Combinatorial microRNA target predictions. *Nature Genetics* 37:495-500
- 75. Baroukh N, Ravier MA, Loder MK, Hill EV, Bounacer A, Scharfmann R, Rutter GA, Van Obberghen E 2007 MicroRNA-124a regulates Foxa2 expression and intracellular signaling in pancreatic β-cell lines. Journal of Biological Chemistry 282:19575-19588
- 76. Poy MN, Eliasson L, Krutzfeldt J, Kuwajima S, Ma X, MacDonald PE, Pfeffer S, Tuschl T, Rajewsky N, Rorsman P, Stoffel M 2004 A pancreatic islet-specific microRNA regulates insulin secretion. *Nature* 432:226-230
- 77. Bravo-Egana V, Rosero S, Molano RD, Pileggi A, Ricordi C, Domínguez-Bendala J, Pastori RL 2008 Quantitative differential expression analysis reveals miR-7 as major islet microRNA. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 366:922-926

- 78. Nieto M, Hevia P, Garcia E, Klein D, Alvarez-Cubela S, Bravo-Egana V, Rosero S, Damaris Molano R, Vargas N, Ricordi C, Pileggi A, Diez J, Domínguez-Bendala J, Pastori RL 2012 Antisense miR-7 impairs insulin expression in developing pancreas and in cultured pancreatic buds. *Cell Transplantation* 21:1761-1774
- 79. Bernstein BE, Meissner A, Lander ES 2007 The mammalian epigenome. *Cell* 128:669-681
- 80. Meagher RB, Mussar KJ 2012 The influence of DNA sequence on epigenome-induced pathologies. *Epigenetics & chromatin* **5**:11
- Bonasio R, Tu S, Reinberg D 2010 Molecular signals of epigenetic states.
 Science 330:612-616
- James LI, Frye SV 2013 Targeting chromatin readers. *Clinical Pharmacology* & *Therapeutics* 93:312-314
- 83. **Rothbart SB, Strahl BD** 2014 Interpreting the language of histone and DNA modifications. *Biochimica et biophysica acta* **1839**:627-643
- Kouzarides T 2007 Chromatin modifications and their function. *Cell* 128:693-705
- 85. Wegner M, Neddermann D, Piorunska-Stolzmann M, Jagodzinski PP 2014 Role of epigenetic mechanisms in the development of chronic complications of diabetes. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice* 105:164-175
- 86. Mathers JC, McKay JA 2009 Epigenetics Potential contribution to fetal programming. In: Koletzko B, Decsi T, Molnár D, de la Hunty A eds. Early Nutrition Programming and Health Outcomes in Later Life. Netherlands: Springer Netherlands; 119-123

- 87. **Barros SP, Offenbacher S** 2009 Epigenetics: Connecting environment and genotype to phenotype and disease. *Journal of Dental Research* **88**:400-408
- Martin C, Zhang Y 2005 The diverse functions of histone lysine methylation.
 Nature Reviews of Molecular Cell Biology 6:838-849
- 89. Liang G, Chan MF, Tomigahara Y, Tsai YC, Gonzales FA, Li E, Laird PW, Jones PA 2002 Cooperativity between DNA methyltransferases in the maintenance methylation of repetitive elements. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 22:480-491
- 90. Straussman R, Nejman D, Roberts D, Steinfeld I, Blum B, Benvenisty N, Simon I, Yakhini Z, Cedar H 2009 Developmental programming of CpG island methylation profiles in the human genome. *Nature Structural and Molecular Biology* 16:564-571
- 91. **Okano M, Xie S, Li E** 1998 Cloning and characterization of a family of novel mammalian DNA (cytosine-5) methyltransferases. *Nature Genetics* **19**:219-220
- 92. Loughery JE, Dunne PD, O'Neill KM, Meehan RR, McDaid JR, Walsh CP 2011 DNMT1 deficiency triggers mismatch repair defects in human cells through depletion of repair protein levels in a process involving the DNA damage response. *Human molecular genetics* 20:3241-3255
- 93. Ha K, Lee GE, Palii SS, Brown KD, Takeda Y, Liu K, Bhalla KN, Robertson KD 2011 Rapid and transient recruitment of DNMT1 to DNA double-strand breaks is mediated by its interaction with multiple components of the DNA damage response machinery. *Human molecular genetics* 20:126-140
- 94. Fan S, Zhang X 2009 CpG island methylation pattern in different human tissues and its correlation with gene expression. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 383:421-425

- 95. Waterland RA, Dolinoy DC, Lin JR, Smith CA, Shi X, Tahiliani KG 2006 Maternal methyl supplements increase offspring DNA methylation at *Axin fused*. *Genesis* **44**:401-406
- 96. Berg AH, Combs TP, Scherer PE 2002 ACRP30/adiponectin: An adipokine regulating glucose and lipid metabolism. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* 13:84-89
- 97. Schondorf T, Maiworm A, Emmison N, Forst T, Pfutzner A 2005 Biological background and role of adiponectin as marker for insulin resistance and cardiovascular risk. *Clinical laboratory* **51**:489-494
- 98. Koerner A, Kratzsch J, Kiess W 2005 Adipocytokines: leptin—the classical, resistin—the controversical, adiponectin—the promising, and more to come. Best Practice and Research in Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 19:525-546
- 99. Matsuzawa Y 2006 The metabolic syndrome and adipocytokines. *FEBS Letters* 580:2917-2921
- 100. Kyriakakou M, Malamitsi-Puchner A, Militsi H, Boutsikou T, Margeli A, Hassiakos D, Kanaka-Gantenbein C, Papassotiriou I, Mastorakos G 2008 Leptin and adiponectin concentrations in intrauterine growth restricted and appropriate for gestational age fetuses, neonates, and their mothers. *European Journal of Endocrinology* 158:343-348
- 101. Lindsay RS, Walker JD, Havel PJ, Hamilton BA, Calder AA, Johnstone FD 2003 Adiponectin is present in cord blood but is unrelated to birth weight. *Diabetes Care* 26:2244-2249
- 102. Caminos JE, Nogueiras R, Gallego R, Bravo S, Tovar S, García-Caballero
 T, Casanueva FF, Diéguez C 2005 Expression and regulation of adiponectin

and receptor in human and rat placenta. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* **90**:4276-4286

- 103. Tsai P-J, Yu C-H, Hsu S-P, Lee Y-H, Chiou C-H, Hsu Y-W, Ho S-C, Chu C-H 2004 Cord plasma concentrations of adiponectin and leptin in healthy term neonates: positive correlation with birthweight and neonatal adiposity. *Clinical Endocrinology* 61:88-93
- 104. Kotani Y, Yokota I, Kitamura S, Matsuda J, Naito E, Kuroda Y 2004 Plasma adiponectin levels in newborns are higher than those in adults and positively correlated with birth weight. *Clinical Endocrinology* **61**:418-423
- 105. Pajvani UB, Du X, Combs TP, Berg AH, Rajala MW, Schulthess T, Engel J, Brownlee M, Scherer PE 2003 Structure-function studies of the adipocyte-secreted hormone Acrp30/adiponectin. Implications fpr metabolic regulation and bioactivity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278:9073-9085
- 106. Yatagai T, Nagasaka S, Taniguchi A, Fukushima M, Nakamura T, Kuroe A, Nakai Y, Ishibashi S 2003 Hypoadiponectinemia is associated with visceral fat accumulation and insulin resistance in Japanese men with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism* 52:1274-1278
- 107. Lindsay RS, Funahashi T, Hanson RL, Matsuzawa Y, Tanaka S, Tataranni PA, Knowler WC, Krakoff J 2002 Adiponectin and development of type 2 diabetes in the Pima Indian population. *Lancet* 360:57-58
- 108. Snehalatha C, Mukesh B, Simon M, Viswanathan V, Haffner SM, Ramachandran A 2003 Plasma adiponectin is an independent predictor of type
 2 diabetes in Asian indians. *Diabetes Care* 26:3226-3229
- 109. Arita Y, Kihara S, Ouchi N, Takahashi M, Maeda K, Miyagawa J-i, Hotta K, Shimomura I, Nakamura T, Miyaoka K, Kuriyama H, Nishida M,

Yamashita S, Okubo K, Matsubara K, Muraguchi M, Ohmoto Y, Funahashi T, Matsuzawa Y 1999 Paradoxical decrease of an adipose-specific protein, adiponectin, in obesity. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 257:79-83

- 110. Fisher FM, Trujillo ME, Hanif W, Barnett AH, McTernan PG, Scherer PE, Kumar S 2005 Serum high molecular weight complex of adiponectin correlates better with glucose tolerance than total serum adiponectin in Indo-Asian males. *Diabetologia* 48:1084-1087
- 111. Martínez-Cordero C, Amador-Licona N, Guízar-Mendoza JM, Hernández-Méndez J, Ruelas-Orozco G 2006 Body fat at birth and cord blood levels of insulin, adiponectin, leptin, and insulin-like growth factor-I in small-forgestational-age infants. Archives of Medical Research 37:490-494
- 112. Cekmez F, Canpolat FE, Pirgon O, Aydemir G, Tanju IA, Genc FA, Tunc T, Aydinöz S, Yildirim S, Ipcioglu OM, Sarici SU 2013 Adiponectin and visfatin levels in extremely low birth weight infants; they are also at risk for insulin resistance. *European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences* 17:501-506
- 113. Kamoda T, Saitoh H, Saito M, Sugiura M, Matsui A 2004 Serum adiponectin concentrations in newborn infants in early postnatal life. *Pediatric Research* 56:690-693
- 114. Takaya J, Yamato F, Higashino H, Kaneko K 2007 Intracellular magnesium and adipokines in umbilical cord plasma and infant birth size. *Pediatric Research* 62:700-703
- 115. Cianfarani S, Martinez C, Maiorana A, Scirè G, Spadoni GL, Boemi S 2004 Adiponectin levels are reduced in children born small for gestational age

and are inversely related to postnatal catch-up growth. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* **89**:1346-1351

- 116. Ibáñez L, Lopez-Bermejo A, Suárez L, Marcos MV, Díaz M, de Zegher F 2008 Visceral adiposity without overweight in children born small for gestational age. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 93:2079-2083
- 117. Nemet D, Wang P, Funahashi T, Matsuzawa Y, Tanaka S, Engelman L, Cooper DM 2003 Adipocytokines, body composition, and fitness in children. *Pediatric Research* 53:148-152
- 118. López-Bermejo A, Casano-Sancho P, Fernández-Real JM, Kihara S, Funahashi T, Rodríguez-Hierro F, Ricart W, Ibañez L 2004 Both intrauterine growth restriction and postnatal growth influence childhood serum concentrations of adiponectin. *Clinical Endocrinology* **61**:339-346
- 119. Okamoto M, Ohara-Imaizumi M, Kubota N, Hashimoto S, Eto K, Kanno T, Kubota T, Wakui M, Nagai R, Noda M, Nagamatsu S, Kadowaki T 2008 Adiponectin induces insulin secretion *in vitro* and *in vivo* at a low glucose concentration. *Diabetologia* 51:827-835
- 120. Mahmoodzadeh Sagheb M, Azarpira N, Mokhtary M, Hosseini SE, Yaghobi R 2013 The effects of leptin and adiponectin on Pdx1, Foxm1, and $PPAR\gamma$ transcription in rat islets of Langerhans. Hepatitis monthly 13:e9055-9062
- 121. Winzell MS, Nogueiras R, Dieguez C, Ahrén B 2004 Dual action of adiponectin on insulin secretion in insulin-resistant mice. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 321:154-160

- 122. Pardi G, Marconi AM, Cetin I 1997 Pathophysiology of intrauterine growth retardation: role of the placenta. *Acta Paediatrica* **423** (Suppl.):170-172.
- 123. Myatt L 2006 Placental adaptive responses and fetal programming. Journal of Physiology 572:25-30
- 124. Wigglesworth JS 1964 Experimental growth retardation in the foetal rat. Journal of Pathology and Bacteriology 88:1-13
- 125. **Ogata ES, Bussey ME, Finley S** 1986 Altered gas exchange, limited glucose and branched chain amino acids, and hypoinsulinism retard fetal growth in the rat. *Metabolism* **35**:970-977
- 126. Simmons RA, Gounis AS, Bangalore SA, Ogata ES 1992 Intrauterine growth retardation: Fetal glucose transport is diminished in lung but spared in brain. *Pediatric Research* 31:59-63
- 127. Pardi G, Cetin I, Marconi AM, Lanfranchi A, Bozzetti P, Farrazzi E, Buscaglia M, Battaglia FC 1993 Diagnostic value of blood sampling in fetuses with growth retardation. *New England Journal of Medicine* 328:692-696
- 128. Cetin I, Alvino G 2009 Intrauterine Growth Restriction: Implications for Placental Metabolism and Transport. A Review. *Placenta* 30 (Suppl.):77-82
- 129. Wadley GD, Siebel AL, Cooney GJ, McConell GK, Wlodek ME, Owens JA 2008 Uteroplacental insufficiency and reducing litter size alters skeletal muscle mitochondrial biogenesis in a sex-specific manner in the adult rat. American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism 294:E861-E869
- 130. Siebel AL, Mibus A, De Blasio MJ, Westcott KT, Morris MJ, Prior L, Owens JA, Wlodek ME 2008 Improved lactational nutrition and postnatal growth ameliorates impairment of glucose tolerance by uteroplacental insufficiency in male rat offspring. *Endocrinology* 149:3067-3076
- 131. Gatford KL, Kaur G, Falcão-Tebas F, Wadley GD, Wlodek ME, Laker RC, Ebeling PR, McConell GK 2014 Exercise as an intervention to improve metabolic outcomes after intrauterine growth restriction. *American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism* 306:E999-E1012
- 132. Gaudreault N, Santuré M, Pitre M, Nadeau A, Marette A, Bachelard H 2001 Effects of insulin on regional blood flow and glucose uptake in Wistar and Sprague-Dawley rats. *Metabolism* 50:65-73
- 133. Siebel AL, Gallo LA, Guan TC, Owens JA, Wlodek M 2010 Cross-fostering and improved lactation ameliorates deficits in endocrine pancreatic morphology in growth-restricted adult male rat offspring. *Journal of Developmental Origins* of Health and Disease 1:234 - 244
- 134. Robinson JS, Kingston EJ, Jones CT, Thorburn GD 1979 Studies on experimental growth retardation in sheep. The effect of removal of endometrial caruncles on fetal size and metabolism. *Journal of Developmental Physiology* 1:E379-398
- 135. Alexander G 1964 Studies on the placenta of the sheep (*Ovis aries L.*). Effect of surgical reduction in the number of caruncles. *Journal of Reproduction and Fertility* **7**:307-322
- 136. Owens JA, Falconer J, Robinson JS 1986 Effect of restriction of placental growth on umbilical and uterine blood flows. *American Journal of Physiology* 250:R427-R434
- 137. Owens JA, Falconer J, Robinson JS 1987 Effect of restriction of placental growth on oxygen delivery to and consumption by the pregnant uterus and fetus. *Journal of Developmental Physiology* 9:137-150

- 138. Owens JA, Falconer J, Robinson JS 1987 Effect of restriction of placental growth on fetal and utero-placental metabolism. *Journal of Developmental Physiology* 9:225-238
- Owens JA, Falconer J, Robinson JS 1989 Glucose metabolism in pregnant sheep when placental growth is restricted. *American Journal of Physiology* 257:R350-R357
- 140. Owens JA, Gatford KL, De Blasio MJ, Edwards LJ, McMillen IC, Fowden AL 2007 Restriction of placental growth in sheep impairs insulin secretion but not sensitivity before birth. *Journal of Physiology* 584:935-949
- 141. De Blasio MJ, Gatford KL, McMillen IC, Robinson JS, Owens JA 2007 Placental restriction of fetal growth increases insulin action, growth, and adiposity in the young lamb. *Endocrinology* 148:1350-1358
- 142. Rumball CWH, Harding JE, Oliver MH, Bloomfield FH 2008 Effects of twin pregnancy and periconceptional undernutrition on maternal metabolism, fetal growth and glucose-insulin axis function in ovine pregnancy. *Journal of Physiology* 586:1399-1411
- 143. van der Linden DS, Sciascia Q, Sales F, McCoard SA 2013 Placental nutrient transport is affected by pregnancy rank in sheep. *Journal of Animal Science* 91:644-653
- 144. Clarke L, Firth K, Heasman L, Juniper DT, Budge H, Stephenson T, Symonds ME 2000 Influence of relative size at birth on growth and glucose homeostasis in twin lambs during juvenile life. *Reproduction, Fertility and Development* 12:69-73
- 145. Bloomfield FH, Oliver MH, Harding JE 2007 Effects of twinning, birth size, and postnatal growth on glucose tolerance and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal

function in postpubertal sheep. *American Journal of Physiology* -*Endocrinology and Metabolism* **292**:E231-E237

- 146. Flanagan DE, Moore VM, Godsland IF, Cockington RA, Robinson JS, Phillips DI 2000 Fetal growth and the physiological control of glucose tolerance in adults: A minimal model analysis. *American Journal of Physiology* - *Endocrinology and Metabolism* 278:E700-706
- 147. Parker L, Lamont DW, Unwin N, Pearce MS, Bennett SM, Dickinson HO, White M, Mathers JC, Alberti KG, Craft AW 2003 A lifecourse study of risk for hyperinsulinaemia, dyslipidaemia and obesity (the central metabolic syndrome) at age 49-51 years. *Diabetic Medicine* 20:406-415
- 148. Sato R, Watanabe H, Shirai K, Ohki S, Genma R, Morita H, Inoue E, Takeuchi M, Maekawa M, Nakamura H 2012 A cross-sectional study of glucose regulation in young adults with very low birth weight: impact of male gender on hyperglycaemia. *BMJ Open* 2:e000327
- 149. Sugden MC, Holness MJ 2002 Gender-specific programming of insulin secretion and action. *Journal of Endocrinology* 175:757-767
- 150. Desai M, Byrne CD, Zhang J, Petry CJ, Lucas A, Hales CN 1997 Programming of hepatic insulin-sensitive enzymes in offspring of rat dams fed a protein-restricted diet. *American Journal of Physiology* **272**:G1083-1090
- 151. Duffield JA, Vuocolo T, Tellam R, McFarlane JR, Kauter KG, Muhlhausler BS, McMillen IC 2009 Intrauterine growth restriction and the sex specific programming of leptin and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (*PPAR* γ) mRNA expression in visceral fat in the lamb. *Pediatric Research* 66:59-65

- 152. **Mojsov S, Weir GC, Habener JF** 1987 Insulinotropin: glucagon-like peptide I (7-37) co-encoded in the glucagon gene is a potent stimulator of insulin release in the perfused rat pancreas. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* **79**:616-619
- 153. Doyle ME, Egan JM 2001 Glucagon-like peptide-1. Recent Progress in Hormone Research 56:377-400
- 154. **Doyle ME, Egan JM** 2007 Mechanisms of action of glucagon-like peptide 1 in the pancreas. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics* **113**:546-593
- 155. Montrose-Rafizadeh C, Egan JM, Roth J 1994 Incretin hormones regulate glucose-dependent insulin secretion in RIN 1046-38 cells: mechanisms of action. *Endocrinology* 135:589-594
- 156. Fehmann HC, Habener JF 1992 Insulinotropic hormone glucagon-like peptide-I(7-37) stimulation of proinsulin gene expression and proinsulin biosynthesis in insulinoma βTC-1 cells. *Endocrinology* **130**:159-166
- 157. Wang Y, Egan JM, Raygada M, Nadiv O, Roth J, Montrose-Rafizadeh C 1995 Glucagon-like peptide-1 affects gene transcription and messenger ribonucleic acid stability of components of the insulin secretory system in RIN 1046-38 cells. *Endocrinology* **136**:4910-4917
- 158. Wang X, Cahill CM, Pineyro MA, Zhou J, Doyle ME, Egan JM 1999 Glucagon-like peptide-1 regulates the β-cell transcription factor, *PDX-1*, in insulinoma cells. *Endocrinology* 140:4904-4907
- 159. Perfetti R, Zhou J, Doyle ME, Egan JM 2000 Glucagon-like peptide-1 induces cell proliferation and pancreatic-duodenum homeobox-1 expression and increases endocrine cell mass in the pancreas of old, glucose-intolerant rats. *Endocrinology* 141:4600-4605

- 160. Tourrel C, Bailbé D, Meile M-J, Kergoat M, Portha B 2001 Glucagon-like peptide-1 and exendin-4 stimulate β -cell neogenesis in streptozotocin-treated newborn rats resulting in persistently improved glucose homeostasis at adult age. *Diabetes* **50**:1562-1570
- 161. Farilla L, Hui H, Bertolotto C, Kang E, Bulotta A, Di Mario U, Perfetti R 2002 Glucagon-like peptide-1 promotes islet cell growth and inhibits apoptosis in Zucker diabetic rats. *Endocrinology* 143:4397-4408
- 162. Nauck MA, Kleine N, Ørskov C, Holst JJ, Willms B, Creutzfeldt W 1993 Normalization of fasting hyperglycaemia by exogenous glucagon-like peptide 1 (7-36 amide) in Type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetic patients. *Diabetologia* 36:741-744
- 163. Elahi D, McAloon-Dyke M, Fukagawa NK, Meneilly GS, Sclater AL, Minaker KL, Habener JF, Andersen DK 1994 The insulinotropic actions of glucose-dependent insulinotropic polypeptide (GIP) and glucagon-like peptide-1 (7–37) in normal and diabetic subjects. *Regulatory Peptides* 51:63-74
- 164. Nauck MA, Wollschlager D, Werner J, Holst JJ, Orskov C, Creutzfeldt W,
 Willms B 1996 Effects of subcutaneous glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP-1 [7-36 amide]) in patients with NIDDM. *Diabetologia* 39:1546-1553
- 165. Deacon CF, Johnsen AH, Holst JJ 1995 Degradation of glucagon-like peptide-1 by human plasma *in vitro* yields an N-terminally truncated peptide that is a major endogenous metabolite *in vivo*. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 80:952-957
- 166. Montrose-Rafizadeh C, Yang H, Rodgers BD, Beday A, Pritchette LA, Eng J 1997 High potency antagonists of the pancreatic glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272:21201-21206

- 167. Chen J, Yu L, Wang L, Fang X, Li L, Li W 2007 Stability of synthetic exendin-4 in human plasma *in vitro*. *Protein and peptide letters* 14:19-25
- 168. Kodama S, Toyonaga T, Kondo T, Matsumoto K, Tsuruzoe K, Kawashima J, Goto H, Kume K, Kume S, Sakakida M, Araki E 2005 Enhanced expression of *PDX-1* and *Ngn3* by exendin-4 during β-cell regeneration in STZ-treated mice. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 327:1170-1178
- 169. Xu G, Stoffers DA, Habener JF, Bonner-Weir S 1999 Exendin-4 stimulates both β -cell replication and neogenesis, resulting in increased β -cell mass and improved glucose tolerance in diabetic rats. *Diabetes* **48**:2270-2276
- 170. Zhou J, Pineyro MA, Wang X, Doyle ME, Egan JM 2002 Exendin-4 differentiation of a human pancreatic duct cell line into endocrine cells: Involvement of PDX-1 and HNF3. Journal of Cellular Physiology 192:304-314
- 171. National Health Medical Research Council Australia 2004 Australian code of practice for the care and use of animals for scientific purposes, 7th edition Canberra, Australia: National Health Medical Research Council Australia, viewed on https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/guidelines/publications/ea16
- 172. Gatford KL, Sulaiman SA, Mohammad SNB, De Blasio MJ, Harland ML, Simmons RA, Owens JA 2013 Neonatal exendin-4 reduces growth, fat deposition and glucose tolerance during treatment in the intrauterine growthrestricted lamb. *PLoS ONE* 8:e56553
- 173. Susin I, Loerch SC, McClure KE, Day ML 1995 Effects of limit feeding a high-grain diet on puberty and reproductive performance of ewes. *Journal of Animal Science* 73:3206-3215

- 174. **Thompson GE** 1983 The intake of milk by suckled, newborn lambs and the effects of twinning and cold exposure. *British Journal of Nutrition* **50** 151-156
- 175. Wilson LL, Varela-Alvarez H, Hess CE, Rugh MC 1971 Influence of energy level, creep feeding and lactation stage on ewe milk and lamb growth characters. *Journal of Animal Science* **33**:686-690
- 176. De Blasio MJ, Gatford KL, Robinson JS, Owens JA 2007 Placental restriction of fetal growth reduces size at birth and alters postnatal growth, feeding activity, and adiposity in the young lamb. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 292:R875-R886
- 177. Gatford KL, De Blasio MJ, Thavaneswaran P, Robinson JS, McMillen IC,
 Owens JA 2004 Postnatal ontogeny of glucose homeostasis and insulin action
 in sheep. American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism
 286:E1050-E1059
- 178. Limesand SW, Rozance PJ, Zerbe GO, Hutton JC, Hay WW, Jr. 2006 Attenuated insulin release and storage in fetal sheep pancreatic islets with intrauterine growth restriction. *Endocrinology* **147**:1488-1497
- 179. Thompson JM, Parker J, Perou CM, Hammond SM 2004 A custom microarray platform for analysis of microRNA gene expression. *Nature Methods* 1:47-53
- 180. Dobbin KK, Kawasaki ES, Petersen DW, Simon RM 2005 Characterizing dye bias in microarray experiments. *Bioinformatics* 21:2430-2437
- 181. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y 1995 Controlling the false discovery rate: A practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series B (Methodological) 57:289-300

- 182. Gavrila A, Peng C-K, Chan JL, Mietus JE, Goldberger AL, Mantzoros CS 2003 Diurnal and ultradian dynamics of serum adiponectin in healthy men: Comparison with leptin, circulating soluble leptin receptor, and cortisol patterns. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 88:2838-2843
- 183. Gordon ME, McKeever KH 2005 Diurnal variation of ghrelin, leptin, and adiponectin in Standardbred mares. *Journal of Animal Science* 83:2365-2371
- 184. De Blasio MJ, Blache D, Gatford KL, Robinson JS, Owens JA 2010 Placental restriction increases adipose leptin gene expression and plasma leptin and alters their relationship to feeding activity in the young lamb. *Pediatric Research* 67:603-608
- 185. Lemor A, Mielenz M, Altmann M, Von Borell E, Sauerwein H 2010 mRNA abundance of adiponectin and its receptors, leptin and visfatin and of G-protein coupled receptor 41 in five different fat depots from sheep. *Journal of Animal Physiology and Animal Nutrition* 94:e96-e101
- 186. Navarro-Tableros V, Fiordelisio T, Hernández-Cruz A, Hiriart M 2007 Physiological development of insulin secretion, calcium channels, and *GLUT2* expression of pancreatic rat β-cells. *American Journal of Physiology -Endocrinology and Metabolism* 292:E1018-E1029
- 187. Tan C, Tuch BE, Tu J, Brown SA 2002 Role of NADH shuttles in glucoseinduced insulin secretion from fetal β-cells. *Diabetes* 51:2989-2996
- 188. Ong KKL, Ahmed ML, Emmett PM, Preece MA, Dunger DB 2000 Association between postnatal catch-up growth and obesity in childhood: prospective cohort study. *British Medical Journal* 320:967-971
- 189. Duffield JA, Vuocolo T, Tellam R, Yuen BS, Muhlhausler BS, McMillen IC
 2008 Placental restriction of fetal growth decreases *IGF1* and *leptin* mRNA

expression in the perirenal adipose tissue of late gestation fetal sheep. *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* **294**:R1413-R1419

- 190. Muhlhausler BS, Duffield JA, Ozanne SE, Pilgrim C, Turner N, Morrison JL, McMillen IC 2009 The transition from fetal growth restriction to accelerated postnatal growth: a potential role for insulin signalling in skeletal muscle. *Journal of Physiology* 587:4199-4211
- 191. De Blasio MJ, Gatford KL, Harland ML, Robinson JS, Owens JA 2012 Placental restriction reduces insulin sensitivity and expression of insulin signaling and glucose transporter genes in skeletal muscle, but not liver, in young sheep. *Endocrinology* 153:2142-2151
- 192. Garber AJ 2011 Incretin effects on β-cell function, replication, and mass: The human perspective. *Diabetes Care* 34 (Suppl 2):S258-S263
- 193. Blonde L, Klein EJ, Han J, Zhang B, Mac SM, Poon TH, Taylor KL, Trautmann ME, Kim DD, Kendall DM 2006 Interim analysis of the effects of exenatide treatment on A1C, weight and cardiovascular risk factors over 82 weeks in 314 overweight patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* 8:436-447
- 194. **Buse JB, Henry RR, Han J, Kim DD, Fineman MS, Baron AD** 2004 Effects of exenatide (exendin-4) on glycemic control over 30 weeks in sulfonylureatreated patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 27:2628-2635
- 195. DeFronzo RA, Ratner RE, Han J, Kim DD, Fineman MS, Baron AD 2005 Effects of exenatide (exendin-4) on glycemic control and weight over 30 weeks in metformin-treated patients with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care* 28:1092-1100

- 196. Wang QW, Brubaker PLB 2002 Glucagon-like peptide-1 treatment delays the onset of diabetes in 8 week-old *db/db* mice. *Diabetologia* **45**:1263-1273
- 197. Ding X, Saxena NK, Lin S, Gupta N, Anania FA 2006 Exendin-4, a glucagon-like protein-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonist, reverses hepatic steatosis in ob/ob mice. Hepatology 43:173-181
- 198. Kolterman OG, Buse JB, Fineman MS, Gaines E, Heintz S, Bicsak TA, Taylor K, Kim D, Aisporna M, Wang Y, Baron AD 2003 Synthetic exendin-4 (exenatide) significantly reduces postprandial and fasting plasma glucose in subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 88:3082-3089
- 199. Nauck MA, Heimesaat MM, Orskov C, Holst JJ, Ebert R, Creutzfeldt W 1993 Preserved incretin activity of glucagon-like peptide 1 [7-36 amide] but not of synthetic human gastric inhibitory polypeptide in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* **91**:301-307
- 200. Fehse F, Trautmann M, Holst JJ, Halseth AE, Nanayakkara N, Nielsen LL, Fineman MS, Kim DD, Nauck MA 2005 Exenatide augments first- and second-phase insulin secretion in response to intravenous glucose in subjects with type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 90:5991-5997
- 201. Kwon DY, Kim YS, Ahn IS, Kim DS, Kang S, Hong SM, Park S 2009 Exendin-4 potentiates insulinotropic action partly via increasing β-cell proliferation and neogenesis and decreasing apoptosis in association with the attenuation of endoplasmic reticulum stress in islets of diabetic rats. *Journal of Pharmacological Sciences* 111:361-371

- 202. Jahr H, Ratzmann KP, Beckert R, Besch W, Hahn HJ 1983 Enhanced synthesis, storage, and secretion of insulin in pancreatic islets derived from obese subjects. *Metabolism* **32**:1101-1106
- 203. Hansen BC, Bodkin NL 1990 β-cell hyperresponsiveness: Earliest event in development of diabetes in monkeys. American Journal of Physiology -Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 259:R612-R617
- 204. Jetton TL, Lausier J, LaRock K, Trotman WE, Larmie B, Habibovic A, Peshavaria M, Leahy JL 2005 Mechanisms of compensatory β-cell growth in insulin-resistant rats. *Diabetes* 54:2294-2304
- 205. Kelly AS, Metzig AM, Rudser KD, Fitch AK, Fox CK, Nathan BM, M. Deering M, Schwartz BL, Abuzzahab MJ, Gandrud LM, Moran A, Billington CJ, Schwarzenberg SJ 2012 Exenatide as a weight-loss therapy in extreme pediatric obesity: A randomized, controlled pilot study. *Obesity* 20:364-370
- 206. Zander M, Madsbad S, Madsen JL, Holst JJ 2002 Effect of 6-week course of glucagon-like peptide 1 on glycaemic control, insulin sensitivity, and β-cell function in type 2 diabetes: a parallel-group study. *The Lancet* 359:824-830
- 207. Gedulin BR, Nikoulina SE, Smith PA, Gedulin G, Nielsen LL, Baron AD, Parkes DG, Young AA 2005 Exenatide (exendin-4) improves insulin sensitivity and β -cell mass in insulin-resistant obese *fa/fa* Zucker rats independent of glycemia and body weight. *Endocrinology* **146**:2069-2076
- 208. Li L, Yang G, Li Q, Tan X, Liu H, Tang Y, Boden G 2008 Exenatide prevents fat-induced insulin resistance and raises adiponectin expression and plasma levels. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism* **10**:921-930

- 209. Arakawa M, Ebato C, Mita T, Hirose T, Kawamori R, Fujitani Y, Watada H 2009 Effects of exendin-4 on glucose tolerance, insulin secretion, and beta-cell proliferation depend on treatment dose, treatment duration and meal contents. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* **390**:809-814
- 210. Edwards CMB, Stanley SA, Davis R, Brynes AE, Frost GS, Seal LJ, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR 2001 Exendin-4 reduces fasting and postprandial glucose and decreases energy intake in healthy volunteers. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism* 281:E155-E161
- 211. DeFronzo RA, Okerson T, Viswanathan P, Guan X, Holcombe JH, MacConell L 2008 Effects of exenatide versus sitagliptin on postprandial glucose, insulin and glucagon secretion, gastric emptying, and caloric intake: a randomized, cross-over study. *Current Medical Research and Opinion* 24:2943-2952
- 212. Linnebjerg H, Park S, Kothare PA, Trautmann ME, Mace K, Fineman M, Wilding I, Nauck MA, Horowitz M 2008 Effect of exenatide on gastric emptying and relationship to postprandial glycemia in type 2 diabetes. *Regulatory Peptides* 151:123-129
- 213. Sano H, Takebayashi A, Kodama Y, Nakamura K, Ito H, Arino Y, Fujita T, Takahashi H, Ambo K 1999 Effects of feed restriction and cold exposure on glucose metabolism in response to feeding and insulin in sheep. *Journal of Animal Science* 77:2564-2573
- 214. Katsumata M, Burton KA, Li J, Dauncey MJ 1999 Suboptimal energy balance selectively up-regulates muscle *GLUT* gene expression but reduces insulin-dependent glucose uptake during postnatal development. *FASEB Journal* 13:1405-1413

- 215. Kastin AJ, Akerstrom V 2003 Entry of exendin-4 into brain is rapid but may be limited at high doses. *International Journal of Obesity and Related Metabolic Disorders* 27:313-318
- 216. Young AA, Gedulin BR, Bhavsar S, Bodkin N, Jodka C, Hansen B, Denaro M 1999 Glucose-lowering and insulin-sensitizing actions of exendin-4: Studies in obese diabetic (*ob/ob*, *db/db*) mice, diabetic fatty Zucker rats, and diabetic rhesus monkeys (*Macaca mulatta*). *Diabetes* 48:1026-1034
- 217. Cersosimo E, Gastaldelli A, Cervera A, Wajcberg E, Sriwijilkamol A, Fernandez M, Zuo P, Petz R, Triplitt C, Musi N, DeFronzo RA 2011 Effect of exenatide on splanchnic and peripheral glucose metabolism in type 2 diabetic subjects. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 96:1763-1770
- 218. Belfiore F, Iannello S 1998 Insulin resistance in obesity: Metabolic mechanisms and measurement methods. *Molecular Genetics and Metabolism* 65:121-128
- 219. Summermatter S, Marcelino H, Arsenijevic D, Buchala A, Aprikian O, Assimacopoulos-Jeannet F, Seydoux J, Montani J-P, Solinas G, Dulloo AG 2009 Adipose tissue plasticity during catch-up fat driven by thrifty metabolism. Diabetes 58:2228-2237
- 220. Forsén T, Eriksson J, Tuomilehto J, Reunanen A, Osmond C, Barker D 2000 The fetal and childhood growth of persons who develop type 2 diabetes. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 133:176-182
- 221. De Blasio MJ, Gatford KL, Robinson JS, Owens JA 2006 Placental restriction alters circulating thyroid hormone in the young lamb postnatally. *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 291:R1016-R1024

- 222. Bonner-Weir S 2000 Islet growth and development in the adult. Journal of Molecular Endocrinology 24:297-302
- 223. Glaser B, Kesavan P, Heyman M, Davis E, Cuesta A, Buchs A, Stanley CA, Thornton PS, Permutt MA, Matschinsky FM, Herold KC 1998 Familial hyperinsulinism caused by an activating glucokinase mutation. *New England Journal of Medicine* 338:226-230
- 224. Patterson M, Mao C, Yeh M, Ipp E, Cortina G, Barank D, Vasinrapee P, Pawlikowska-Haddal A, Lee W, Yee J 2012 Hyperinsulinism presenting in childhood and treatment by conservative pancreatectomy. *Endocrine Practice* 18:e52-e56
- 225. Aguilar-Salinas CA, Reyes-RodrÍguez E, Ordóñez-Sánchez ML, Torres MA, Ramírez-Jiménez S, Domínguez-López A, MartÍnez-Francois JR, Velasco-Pérez ML, Alpizar M, GarcÍa-GarcÍa E, Gómez-Pérez F, Rull J, Tusié-Luna MT 2001 Early-onset type 2 diabetes: Metabolic and genetic characterization in the Mexican population. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 86:220-226
- 226. Njølstad PR, Sagen JV, Bjørkhaug L, Odili S, Shehadeh N, Bakry D, Sarici SU, Alpay F, Molnes J, Molven A, Søvik O, Matschinsky FM 2003 Permanent neonatal diabetes caused by glucokinase deficiency: Inborn error of the glucose-insulin signaling pathway. *Diabetes* 52:2854-2860
- 227. Porter JR, Shaw NJ, Barrett TG, Hattersley AT, Ellard S, Gloyn AL 2005
 Permanent neonatal diabetes in an Asian infant. *The Journal of Pediatrics* 146:131-133

- 228. Sakura H, Ashcroft SJ, Terauchi Y, Kadowaki T, Ashcroft FM 1998 Glucose modulation of ATP-sensitive K-currents in wild-type, homozygous and heterozygous glucokinase knock-out mice. *Diabetologia* **41**:654-659
- 229. Bali D, Svetlanov A, Lee HW, Fusco-DeMane D, Leiser M, Li B, Barzilai N, Surana M, Hou H, Fleischer N, DePinho R, Rossetti L, Efrat S 1995 Animal model for maturity-onset diabetes of the young generated by disruption of the mouse glucokinase gene. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 270:21464-21467
- 230. Porat S, Weinberg-Corem N, Tornovsky-Babaey S, Schyr-Ben-Haroush R, Hija A, Stolovich-Rain M, Dadon D, Granot Z, Ben-Hur V, White P, Girard Christophe A, Karni R, Kaestner Klaus H, Ashcroft Frances M, Magnuson Mark A, Saada A, Grimsby J, Glaser B, Dor Y 2011 Control of pancreatic β-cell regeneration by glucose metabolism. *Cell Metabolism* 13:440-449
- 231. Terauchi Y, Takamoto I, Kubota N, Matsui J, Suzuki R, Komeda K, Hara A, Toyoda Y, Miwa I, Aizawa S, Tsutsumi S, Tsubamoto Y, Hashimoto S, Eto K, Nakamura A, Noda M, Tobe K, Aburatani H, Nagai R, Kadowaki T 2007 Glucokinase and *IRS-2* are required for compensatory β-cell hyperplasia in response to high-fat diet–induced insulin resistance. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 117:246-257
- 232. Lipson KL, Fonseca SG, Urano F 2006 Endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis and auto-immunity in diabetes. *Current molecular medicine* **6**:71-77
- 233. Fonseca SG, Lipson KL, Urano F 2007 Endoplasmic reticulum stress signaling in pancreatic β-cells. *Antioxidants and Redox Signaling* 9:2335-2344

- 234. Jiang MH, Fei J, Lan MS, Lu ZP, Liu M, Fan WW, Gao X, Lu DR 2008 Hypermethylation of hepatic *Gck* promoter in ageing rats contributes to diabetogenic potential. *Diabetologia* 51:1525-1533
- 235. Jiang M, Zhang Y, Liu M, Lan MS, Fei J, Fan W, Gao X, Lu D 2011 Hypermethylation of hepatic glucokinase and L-type pyruvate kinase promoters in high-fat diet–induced obese rats. *Endocrinology* 152:1284-1289
- 236. Ma Y, Xia W, Wang DQ, Wan YJ, Xu B, Chen X, Li YY, Xu SQ 2013 Hepatic DNA methylation modifications in early development of rats resulting from perinatal BPA exposure contribute to insulin resistance in adulthood. *Diabetologia* 56:2059-2067
- 237. Linhart HG, Lin H, Yamada Y, Moran E, Steine EJ, Gokhale S, Lo G, Cantu E, Ehrich M, He T, Meissner A, Jaenisch R 2007 Dnmt3b promotes tumorigenesis *in vivo* by gene-specific *de novo* methylation and transcriptional silencing. *Genes and Development* 21:3110-3122
- 238. Bogdarina I, Murphy HC, Burns SP, Clark AJL 2004 Investigation of the role of epigenetic modification of the rat glucokinase gene in fetal programming. *Life Sciences* 74:1407-1415
- 239. Lu Y, Herrera PL, Guo Y, Sun D, Tang Z, LeRoith D, Liu JL 2004 Pancreatic-specific inactivation of *IGF1* gene causes enlarged pancreatic islets and significant resistance to diabetes. *Diabetes* 53:3131-3141
- 240. Devedjian J-C, George M, Casellas A, Pujol A, Visa J, Pelegr, xEd, n M, Gros L, Bosch F 2000 Transgenic mice overexpressing insulin-like growth factor-II in β-cells develop type 2 diabetes. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 105:731-740

- 241. Petrik J, Pell JM, Arany E, McDonald TJ, Dean WL, Reik W, Hill DJ 1999 Overexpression of insulin-like growth factor-II in transgenic mice is associated with pancreatic islet cell hyperplasia. *Endocrinology* **140**:2353-2363
- 242. Hill D, Hogg J, Petrik J, Arany E, Han V 1999 Cellular distribution and ontogeny of insulin-like growth factors (IGFs) and IGF binding protein messenger RNAs and peptides in developing rat pancreas. *Endocrinology* 160:305-317
- 243. Hill DJ, Strutt B, Arany E, Zaina S, Coukell S, Graham CF 2000 Increased and persistent circulating insulin-like growth factor II in neonatal transgenic mice suppresses developmental apoptosis in the pancreatic islets. *Endocrinology* 141:1151-1157
- 244. Ach R, Wang H, Curry B 2008 Measuring microRNAs: Comparisons of microarray and quantitative PCR measurements, and of different total RNA prep methods. *BMC Biotechnology* **8**:69
- 245. Chen Y, Gelfond J, McManus L, Shireman P 2009 Reproducibility of quantitative RT-PCR array in miRNA expression profiling and comparison with microarray analysis. *BMC Genomics* 10:407
- 246. Jaquet D, Deghmoun S, Chevenne D, Collin D, Czernichow P, Lévy-Marchal C 2005 Dynamic change in adiposity from fetal to postnatal life is involved in the metabolic syndrome associated with reduced fetal growth. *Diabetologia* 48:849-855
- 247. Soto N, Bazaes RA, Pena V, Salazar T, Avila A, Iniguez G, Ong KK, Dunger DB, Mericq MV 2003 Insulin sensitivity and secretion are related to catch-up growth in small-for-gestational-age infants at age 1 year: Results from

a prospective cohort. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* **88**:3645-3650

- 248. Veening MA, van Weissenbruch MM, Delemarre-van de Waal HA 2002 Glucose tolerance, insulin sensitivity, and insulin secretion in children born small for gestational age. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 87:4657-4661
- 249. Ong K, Dunger D 2004 Birth weight, infant growth and insulin resistance. European Journal of Endocrinology 151:U131-U139
- 250. Lihn AS, Pedersen SB, Richelsen B 2005 Adiponectin: Action, regulation and association to insulin sensitivity. *Obesity Reviews* 6:13-21
- 251. Casimir M, de Andrade P, Gjinovci A, Montani J-P, Maechler P, Dulloo A 2011 A role for pancreatic beta-cell secretory hyperresponsiveness in catch-up growth hyperinsulinemia: Relevance to thrifty catch-up fat phenotype and risks for type 2 diabetes. *Nutrition and Metabolism* **8**:e2-8
- 252. Kim Chung LT, Hosaka T, Yoshida M, Harada N, Sakaue H, Sakai T, Nakaya Y 2009 Exendin-4, a GLP-1 receptor agonist, directly induces adiponectin expression through protein kinase A pathway and prevents inflammatory adipokine expression. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 390:613-618
- 253. Staiger H, Tschritter O, Machann J, Thamer C, Fritsche A, Maerker E, Schick F, Häring H-U, Stumvoll M 2003 Relationship of serum adiponectin and leptin concentrations with body fat distribution in humans. *Obesity Research* 11:368-376
- 254. Fredriksson J, Carlsson E, Orho-Melander M, Groop L, Ridderstråle M 2006 A polymorphism in the adiponectin gene influences adiponectin

expression levels in visceral fat in obese subjects. International Journal of Obesity **30**:226-232

- 255. Motoshima H, Wu X, Sinha MK, Hardy VE, Rosato EL, Barbot DJ, Rosato FE, Goldstein BJ 2002 Differential regulation of adiponectin secretion from cultured human omental and subcutaneous adipocytes: Effects of insulin and rosiglitazone. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 87:5662-5667
- 256. Evagelidou EN, Giapros VI, Challa AS, Kiortsis DN, Tsatsoulis AA, Andronikou SK 2007 Serum adiponectin levels, insulin resistance, and lipid profile in children born small for gestational age are affected by the severity of growth retardation at birth. *European Journal of Endocrinology* 156:271-277
- 257. Iñiguez G, Soto N, Avila A, Salazar T, Ong K, Dunger D, Mericq V 2004 Adiponectin levels in the first two years of life in a prospective cohort: Relations with weight gain, leptin levels and insulin sensitivity. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism* 89:5500-5503
- 258. Kitabchi AE, McDaniel KA, Wan JY, Tylavsky FA, Jacovino CA, Sands CW, Nyenwe EA, Stentz FB 2013 Effects of high-protein versus highcarbohydrate diets on markers of β-cell function, oxidative stress, lipid peroxidation, proinflammatory cytokines, and adipokines in obese, premenopausal women without diabetes: A randomized controlled trial. *Diabetes Care* 36:1919-1925
- 259. Lihn AS, Bruun JM, He G, Pedersen SB, Jensen PF, Richelsen B 2004 Lower expression of adiponectin mRNA in visceral adipose tissue in lean and obese subjects. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology* 219:9-15

- 260. Lecke SB, Mattei F, Morsch DM, Spritzer PM 2011 Abdominal subcutaneous fat gene expression and circulating levels of leptin and adiponectin in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Fertility and Sterility* **95**:2044-2049
- 261. Bruun JM, Lihn AS, Verdich C, Pedersen SB, Toubro S, Astrup A, Richelsen B 2003 Regulation of adiponectin by adipose tissue-derived cytokines: In vivo and in vitro investigations in humans. American Journal of Physiology - Endocrinology and Metabolism 285:E527-E533
- 262. Sathyanarayana P, Jogi M, Muthupillai R, Krishnamurthy R, Samson SL, Bajaj M 2011 Effects of combined exenatide and pioglitazone therapy on hepatic fat content in type 2 diabetes. *Obesity* 19:2310-2315
- 263. Feng WH, Yuan XW, Tong GY, Wang WM, Hu Y, Shen SM, Li P, Bi Y, Hu J, Shao LL, Dai YY, Liu YQ, Xiang SK, Yang DH, Zhu DL 2013 Correlated increase of omentin-1 and adiponectin by exenatide, avandamet and dietary change in diet-induced obese rats. *Folia biologica* 59:217-224
- 264. Albertsson-Wikland K, Karlberg J 1997 Postnatal growth of children born small for gestational age. Acta Paediatrica 423 (Suppl.):193-195
- 265. Monset-Couchard M, de Bethmann O 2000 Catch-up growth in 166 smallfor- gestational age premature infants weighing less than 1,000 g at birth. *Biology of the neonate* 78:161-167
- 266. Nusken KD, Dotsch J, Rauh M, Rascher W, Schneider H 2008 Uteroplacental insufficiency after bilateral uterine artery ligation in the rat: Impact on postnatal glucose and lipid metabolism and evidence for metabolic programming of the offspring by sham operation. *Endocrinology* 149:1056-1063

- 267. Thorn SR, Regnault TRH, Brown LD, Rozance PJ, Keng J, Roper M, Wilkening RB, Hay WWJ, Friedman JE 2009 Intrauterine growth restriction increases fetal hepatic gluconeogenic capacity and reduces messenger ribonucleic acid translation initiation and nutrient sensing in fetal liver and skeletal muscle. *Endocrinology* 150:3021-3030
- 268. Gatford KL, Clarke IJ, De Blasio MJ, McMillen IC, Robinson J, S., Owens JA 2002 Perinatal growth and plasma GH profiles in adolescent and adult sheep. *Endocrinology* 173:151-159
- 269. Raab EL, Vuguin PM, Stoffers DA, Simmons RA 2009 Neonatal exendin-4 treatment reduces oxidative stress and prevents hepatic insulin resistance in intrauterine growth-retarded rats. American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology 297:R1785-R1794
- 270. **DeFronzo RA, Tripathy D** 2009 Skeletal muscle insulin resistance is the primary defect in Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care* **32**:S157-S163
- 271. Gysel T, Calders P, Cambier D, Roman de Mettelinge T, Kaufman JM, Taes Y, Zmierczak HG, Goemaere S 2014 Association between insulin resistance, lean mass and muscle torque/force in proximal versus distal body parts in healthy young men. *Journal of Musculoskeletal and Neuronal Interactions* 14:41-49
- 272. Fornari R, Francomano D, Greco EA, Marocco C, Lubrano C, Wannenes F, Papa V, Bimonte VM, Donini LM, Lenzi A, Aversa A, Migliaccio S 2015 Lean mass in obese adult subjects correlates with higher levels of vitamin D, insulin sensitivity and lower inflammation. *J Endocrinol Invest* 38:367-372

- 273. Johnson JD, Ahmed NT, Luciani DS, Han Z, Tran H, Fujita J, Misler S, Edlund H, Polonsky KS 2003 Increased islet apoptosis in Pdx1^(+/-) mice. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 111:1147-1160
- 274. Sreenan SK, Cockburn BN, Baldwin AC, Ostrega DM, Levisetti M, Grupe
 A, Bell GI, Stewart TA, Roe MW, Polonsky KS 1998 Adaptation to
 hyperglycemia enhances insulin secretion in glucokinase mutant mice. *Diabetes* 47:1881-1888
- 275. Dong JY, Zhang ZL, Wang PY, Qin LQ 2013 Effects of high-protein diets on body weight, glycaemic control, blood lipids and blood pressure in type 2 diabetes: Meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *British Journal of Nutrition* 110:781-789
- 276. Pal S, Ellis V, Dhaliwal S 2010 Effects of whey protein isolate on body composition, lipids, insulin and glucose in overweight and obese individuals. *British Journal of Nutrition* 104:716-723
- 277. Hall WL, Millward DJ, Long SJ, Morgan LM 2003 Casein and whey exert different effects on plasma amino acid profiles, gastrointestinal hormone secretion and appetite. *British Journal of Nutrition* **89**:239-248
- 278. Tessari P, Kiwanuka E, Cristini M, Zaramella M, Enslen M, Zurlo C, Garcia-Rodenas C 2007 Slow versus fast proteins in the stimulation of betacell response and the activation of the entero-insular axis in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews 23:378-385
- 279. Claessens M, van Baak MA, Monsheimer S, Saris WHM 2009 The effect of a low-fat, high-protein or high-carbohydrate ad libitum diet on weight loss maintenance and metabolic risk factors. *International Journal of Obesity* 33:296-304

280. Bobbert T, Rochlitz H, Wegewitz U, Akpulat S, Mai K, Weickert MO, Mohlig M, Pfeiffer AF, Spranger J 2005 Changes of adiponectin oligomer composition by moderate weight reduction. *Diabetes* 54:2712-2719

APPENDIX

OPEN 🗟 ACCESS. Freely could be value

@PLOS ----

Neonatal Exendin-4 Reduces Growth, Fat Deposition and Glucose Tolerance during Treatment in the Intrauterine Growth-Restricted Lamb

Kathryn L. Gatford^{1,2}x⁹, Siti A. Sulaiman^{1,29}, Saidatul N. B. Mohammad^{1,2}, Miles J. De Blasio^{1,2}, M. Lyn Harland^{1,2}, Rebecca A. Simmons³, Julie A. Owens^{1,2}

1 Robinson Institute, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia, 2 School of Paediatrics and Reproductive Health, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, South Australia, Australia, 3 Department of Pediatrics, Penilman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, United States of America

Abstract

Background: IUGR increases the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) in later life, due to reduced insulin sensitivity and impaired adaptation of insulin secretion. In IUGR rats, development of T2DM can be prevented by neonatal administration of the GLP-1 analogue exendin-4. We therefore investigated effects of neonatal exendin-4 administration on insulin action and β -cell mass and function in the IUGR neonate in the sheep, a species with a more developed pancreas at birth.

Methods: Twin IUGR lambs were injected s.c. daily with vehicle (IUGR+Veh, n=8) or exendin-4 (1 nmol.kg⁻¹, IUGR+Ex-4, n=8), and singleton control lambs were injected with vehicle (CON, n=7), from d 1 to 16 of age. Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and insulin secretion and insulin secretion is secretion and insulin secretion of isolated pancreatic islets were measured at d 16.

Principal Findings: IUGR+Veh did not alter in vivo insulin secretion or insulin sensitivity or β-cell mass, but increased glucose stimulated insulin secretion in vitro. Exendin-4 treatment of the IUGR lamb impaired glucose tolerance in vivo, reflecting reduced insulin sensitivity, and normalised glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in vitro. Exendin-4 also reduced neonatal growth and visceral fat accumulation in IUGR lambs, known risk factors for later T2DM.

Conclusions: Neonatal exendin-4 induces changes in IUGR lambs that might improve later insulin action. Whether these effects of exendin-4 lead to improved insulin action in adult life after IUGR in the sheep, as in the PR rat, requires further investigation.

Citation: Gatlord R., Solaiman SA, Mohammad SNB, De Blasio MJ, Harland ML, et al. (2013) Neonatal Exandin-4 Reduces Growth, Fat Deposition and Glacose Tolarano: during Treatment in the Instaurative Growth-Restricted Lamb. R.oS ONE 8(2) e56553. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0056553 Editor: Thiray Maulor. CRCHUM-Montreal Diabatos: Research Contor. Canada

Received June 7, 2012; Accepted January 15, 2013; Published February 12, 2013

Copyright: © 2013 Gatlord et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: This study was supported from project funding from the Diabetes Australia Research Trust (http://www.diabetesaustralia.com.au/en/Research/DART/) and National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia (grant 627) 23, http://www.nhmrc.gov.au/). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, dacision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

* E-mait kathy.gatford@adelaide.edu.au

These authors contributed equally to this work.

Introduction

Small size at birth or intranterine growth restriction (IUGR) consistently predicts increased risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) in human studies [1,2], including independently of gestation length [3]. This relationship is consistent and significant, with ~18% of the lifetime risk of T2DM accounted for by poor growth before birth [4]. Impaired insulin sensitivity and inadequate insulin sceretion are each implicated as contributing to this increased risk of T2DM in the IUGR human [1,5,6,7].

Poor fetal growth commonly reflects restricted fetal supply of oxygen and nutrients due to impaired placental growth and/or function [8]. In the sheep, surgically-induced restriction of placental growth (PR) from before mating, and small size at birth, increase insulin sensitivity in early neonatal life in association with catch-up growth and increased fat deposition [9,10]. PR

PLOS ONE | www.plosone.org

nevertheless impairs glucose-stimulated insulin disposition before weaning at 1 month of age, and this progresses to impaired insulin disposition in young adult males at 1 year of age [11,12]. Impaired β -cell function is the primary cause of this inadequate insulin secretion, which occurs despite increases in β -cell mass in 1-year-old males [12]. Similarly, PR late in pregnancy in rats produces progeny with normal circulating glucose and insulin levels at 1 week of age, but mild fasting hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia at 7–10 weeks and frank diabetes by 26 weeks [13,14]. Impaired β -cell function with later reduction in β -cell mass is also implicated in decreased insulin secretion in the PR rat postnatally [13,14]. Excitingly, administration of the GLP-1 analogue exendin-4 to neonatal PR rats normalised subsequent β -cell mass and insulin secretion and prevented later development of T2DM [15]. Prevention of T2DM by neonatal exendin4

treatment in PR rats is at least partially due to induction and normalisation of expression of the transcription factor Pdx-1 [15,16], which regulates b-cell function as well as adaptive increases in b-cell mass [17,18], and is epigenetically downregulated in PR rat progeny [19].

The timing of pancreatic development and maturation of b-cell function, and therefore developmental stages of exposure to IUGR and neonatal interventions, differs between species. In humans and sheep, most pancreatic development takes place before birth, with b-cells present by 0.25 gestation, islets present in midgestation and substantial remodelling to a mature endocrine pancreas by near term [20,21,22,23]. In both species, b-cell function is present and matures from mid-gestation onwards [24,25,26,27]. This functional maturation in humans and sheep may be driven in part by their pre-partum surge in cortisol. In contrast, rodents undergo later development of b-cells than sheep or humans, with b-cells first appearing in late gestation (0.6) and pancreatic remodelling at _10-17 d postnatal age [28,29,30]. Neonatal surges in corticosterone and b-cell maturation in rodents are marked by increased expression of key molecular determinants of glacose-induced insulin secretion coupling [31] and mitochondrial enzymes of the NADH shuttle, essential for stimulation of insulin secretion by oxidative metabolism [32]. Exendin-4 may in part be effective in preventing PR programming of reduced b-cell mass and function in rodents, because it occurs before and during such maturation. In the present study, we have therefore treated neonatal IUGR in a species in which the pancreas undergoes most maturation before birth.

Materials and Methods

Ethics statement

All procedures in this study were approved by the University of Adelaide Animal Experimentation and Ethics Committee (approval M-84-2007) and complied with the Australian code of practice for the care and use of animals for scientific purposes [33].

Animal, treatments and surgery

Australian Merino ewes underwent a timed-mating program, ad pregnancies were confirmed by ultrasound scanning at _60 d and gestational age (term _ 150 d). Delivery occurred naturally at term and the lambs were housed in floor pens with their mothers throughout the study and allowed to suckle freely, with access to their mother's feed and water, except during experimental protocols as described below. Natural twinning was used to induce IUGR. Sibling twin lambs were injected with vehicle (0.5% methanol in 0.9% saline s.c., IUGR+Veh) or exendin-4 (1 nmol.kg²¹ s.c., IUGR+Ex-4, n= 8), with the first twin pair randomly allocated to treatments and then the heavier and lis hter birth weight twin alternately allocated in order to balance birth weights between the two treatments. Exendin-4 (Bachem, Buberndorf, Germany) was prepared as a 5 nM stock in 0.5% methanol and 0.9% saline, and stored at 220/C in single use aliquots, which were thawed immediately prior to injection. Singleton lambs were injected daily with vehicle (CON, n = 7). All lambs (singletons and twins) were supplemented with whey protein (Resource Beneprotein instant protein powder, Nestle, Australia) (resource beneficient instain protein powder, vestic Austania) given orally in two equal feeds (at 0900-1000 h and 1600-1700 h), commencing at $1.25 \text{ gkg}^{21}.d^{21}$ on d 4 and increasing to $5 \text{ gkg}^{21}.d^{21}$ on and after d 7. Feeding this supplement during this period of maximal catch-up growth in IUGR lambs [10] was intended to minimise the potential for limitation of neonatal

PLOS ONE | www.plosone.org

2

growth by milk availability in twins [34] by providing _ 25% of the protein expected to be available through milk, and allowing lambs to self-regulate their milk intake to appetite.

On d 4, catheters were inserted into the lamb's femoral artery and vein under general anaesthesia, induced and maintained by fluothane inhalation anaesthetic, as described previously [10]. Basal blood samples were collected from arterial catheters every second moming before supplement feeding Lambs were weighed at birth and then every 2 d throughout the study. Lamb size was measured at birth and then every 4 d, and absolute (AGR) and fractional (FGR) growth rates from birth to d 16 fitted by linear regression [10].

In vivo measures of insulin secretion, sensitivity, and action

Glucose tolerance and glucose-stimulated insulin secretion were measured during an intravenous glucose tolerance test (IVGTT) at d 14, and indices of glucose tolerance and insulin secretion calculated as described previously [10,11,35]. The whole body insulin sensitivity of glucose metabolism was measured by hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp at d 12 [35]. Insulin sensitivityglucose, the metabolic clearance rate (MCR) of insulin, basal and maximal post-hepatic insulin delivery rates, and basal and maximal insulin disposition indices (IDI) were calculated as described previously [35].

Analysis of plasma insulin and metabolites

Plasma insulin concentrations were measured in duplicate by a double antibody, solid phase radioimmunoassay using a commercially available kit (Human insulin-specific RIA, HI-14K, Linco Research Inc., St Charles, MO, USA), which has 100% crossreactivity with ovine insulin. The intra-assay coefficients of variation (CV) for the insulin assay were 7.2% and 5.3%, and inter-assay CV were 7.0% and 19.6% for QC samples containing 9.9 and 35.9 mUL2.1 insulin respectively (n = 10 assays). Plasma glucose concentrations were measured by colorimetric enzymatic analysis on a Hitachi 912 automated metabolic analyser using Roche/Hitachi Ghucose/HK kits (Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Mannheim, Germany).

Post-mortem

Lambs were euthanized by overdose of sodium pentobarbitone at d 16. Organs (liver, kidneys, hmgs, heart), muscles (semitendinosus, gastrocnemius, soleus, tibialis, extensor digitorum longus, biceps femoris, vastus lateralis, biceps), and dissectable fat depots (left and right perirenal fat, left and right retroperitoneal fat and omental fat) were dissected and weighed for each lamb. Dissected muscle and visceral fat weights were calculated as the sum of weights of these muscles and fat depots, respectively.

Pancreas and islet isolation and immunostaining and morphometric analysis

Each pancreas was rapidly dissected and weighed. Representative mixed aliquots were fixed for 48 h in 4% paraformaldehyde before embedding in paraffin wax. One section per block was immunostained to detect insulin-positive cells, and morphometric analysis of b-cells was performed as described previously, in 20 fields of view per sheep selected by random-systematic sampling [12]. Measures of in vise b-cell function were calculated by dividing total, 1st phase and 2nd phase glucose-stimulated insulin secretion and basal and maximal IDI by b-cell mass. Pancreatic islets were obtained by collagenese digestion of pancreas at 35sC for 40 min, washing and handpicking of islets 100 mm in diameter, with

purity confirmed by immunostaining of aliquots as previously described [36]. Islet aliquots were cultured overnight at 3%C in 95% O₂/5% CO₂ in RPMI 1640 media (Sigma Aldrich, Sydney, Australia).

In vitro b-cell secretion and responses

Static islet incubation and experiments were performed as previously described [36]. Briefly, for each animal and incubation condition, triplicate preparations of 10 islets were handpicked into 1.5 mL tubes. Static incubations were performed at 376 C for 1 hr in KRB/BSA/Forskolin media containing 0, 1.1, 11.1 mM glucose, or 15 mM KCl, or 11.1 glucose plus 5 mM Lysine, 11.1 glucose plus 5 mM Arginine, 1.1 glucose plus 10 mM Leucine, 11.1 glucose plus 10 mM Epinephrine, or at 0xC for 1 hr in KRB/BSA/Forskolin media containing 11.1 glucose Islets were then centrifuged, supernatant collected for insulin analysis and DNA was ethanol-extracted from pellets and quantified by PicoGreen dsDNA Quantification kit (Invitrogen, Melbourne, Australia). In vito insulin secretion for each replicate was calculated as insulin concentration divided by DNA concentration. In vito data for an animal was included in analyses provided that insulin secretion in incubations with KCl (test of maximal release) was greater than those obtained from incubations with epinephrine or at 0xC (inhibitory quality controls). Due to technical difficulties with some preparations, in vito insulin secretion data was obtained successfully for 5 CON, 5 IUGR+Veh and 6 IUGR+Ex-4 lambs. Data for non-repeated measures on each animal were analysed by the mixed models procedure of SPSS for effects of treatment (fixed effect) and including dam as a random (block) effect in the model to account for common maternal environment in twins. Where treatment effects or trends were apparent (P_{-0} 1), we then compared means by the LSD method, based on a priori questions to determine: 1. effects of IUGR (CON cf. IUGR+Veh groups), 2. effects of exendin-4 in IUGR lambs (IUGR+Veh groups), 2. effects of exendin-4 in IUGR lambs (IUGR+Veh groups), we also confirmed these comparisons between IUGR+Veh and IU-GR+Ex-4 groups using a paired t-test to compare twin siblings, and the significance of this test was consistent with that for LSD comparisons for all measures (data not shown). Neonatal growth patterns and glucose, insulin and insulin-glucose ratios overall and during 1^e phase (0-30 min) and 2nd phase (30-210 min) of insulin secretion during the IVGTT were analysed by repeated measures for effects of treatment (between factor), time (within factor) and interactions, and including dam as a random (block) effect in the model to account for common maternal environment in twins. Ghucose-stimulated in vitro insulin secretion was analysed by repeated measures for effects of treatment (between factor), situase sconcentration (within factor) and interactions. Stimulation and inhibition of in vitro insulin secretion were analysed using repeated measures models for effects of treatment (between factor), stimulation and inhibition (within factor, 11.1 mM glucose or CCI) or inhibition (within factor, 11.1 mM glucose or CCI) or inhibition

Statistical analysis

Table 1. Effect of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 on size at birth, postnatal growth and body composition in lambs.

	CON	IUGR+Veh	IUGR+Ex-4	Significance (treatment effect)
Number of animals	7	8	8	
Size at birth				
Birth weight (kg)	6.0160.21	4.8260.17*	4.8460.15*	_0.001
Crown rump length (cm)	56361.4	\$4.661.1	55.161.1	NS
Shoulder height (cn)	44.060.7	40.160.8*	40.960.7*	0.008
Abdominal circumference (cm)	40.160.4	35.160.9*	36.160.6*	_0.001
Body mass index (kg.m ²³)	19.261.1	16360.8*	16.060.7*	0.040
Neonatal Growth				
AGR (g.day ²¹)	309629	327614	2116174	0.001
FGR _{anight} (%.day ²⁸)	5.1760.48	6.16650.39	43560.32	0.001
AGR _{stantider teight} (cmday ²¹)	0.39060.027	0.50760.037*	0.40360.038	0.030
FORdeveloer bright (%day ²¹)	0.8960.06	1.1760.19	1.0060.11	NS
AGRabhminal situationue (cm.d ay 21)	0.47360.075	0.78260.042*	0.54460.048	0.002
FGRatebonical streamformer (Nuday 21)	1.1160.19	2.2560.17*	1.5260.15	0.001
Postmortem (d 16)				
Body weight (kg)	11.060.5	10.160.3	\$3360.25	_ 0.001
Total liver weight (g)	296619	285617	21467	0.002
Total liver weight (% of body weight)	2.7060.10	2.8260.14	2.5768.07	NS
Summed muscle mass (g)	265613	22864*	18369	_ 0.001
Summed muscle mass (% of body weight)	2.4260.07	2.2660.04	2.1960.08*	0.055
Viseral fat (g)	132619	118611	41.766.34	_ 0.001
Visural fat (% of body weight)	1.1960.17	1.16650.09	0.495658.0624	_0.001

Neonatal growth rates are from d 0 to 16. NS: P_0.1, * different from CON (P_0.05), - different from IUGR+Veh (P_0.05), doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0056553.t001

PLOS ONE | www.plosone.org

3



for weight (AGR_{meight} 235%, P_0001), linear growth (AGR_{shoulder} begin 220%, P=0.031), and organ growth (AGR_{shoulder} begin 230%, P=0.007), and this group were lighter than CON and IUGR + Vehlambs at d16 (Figure 1). Neonatal examina - fuenced body weight (218%, P=0.016) and relative visceral fat mass (257%, P_0001) at post-mortem compared to IUGR+Veh lambs (Table 1). IUGR+Ex-4 lambs had lower absolute liver weights than CON (228%, P = 0.001) or IUGR+Veh (225%, P = 0.009) lambs, and lower relative liver weights (as a proportion of body weight) than IUGR+Veh lambs (29%, P = 0.021). Absolute summed muscle mass was lower in IUGR+Veh lambs (23.7%, P = 0.017) relative to CON, and was decreased by exendin-4 treatment relative to CON (2.27%, μ = 0.001) and IUGR+Veh (2.25%, P = 0.004) groups. Relative summed muscle weight also tended to be lower in IUGR+Veh (27.5%, P = 0.093) and was lower in IUGR+Ex-4 (29.5%, P=0.019) compared to CON lambs (Table 1).

Insulin secretion, sensitivity and action

Insulin secretion, sensitivity and action Fasting glucose and insulin levels, glucose tolerance and overall, 1st phase and 2^{ad} phase insulin secretion in vivo were similari IUGR+Veh and CON lambs (each P. 0.1, Table 2). Fasting plasma glucose (d 14) was reduced in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs compared to CON (210%, P=0.022) and IUGR+Veh lambs (29%, P=0.019, Table 2). Conversely, glucose tolerance was impaired (increased glucose AUC) in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs overall (+132%, +156% respectively), during first phase insulin secretion (+41%, +57%), and during second phase insulin secretion (+41%, -457%), and luGR+Veh lambs (each P#002, Table 2). Across the whole of the IVGTT_ and within the 1st Table 2). Across the whole of the IVGTT, and within the 1# phase of insulin secretion, plasma glucose (Figure 2) changed with time (each $P_{-0.001}$). Fasting plasma glucose in fasting samples was lower in IUGR+Ew4 than in IUGR+Veh lambs ($P_{-0.001}$).

and tended to be lower in IUGR+Ex4 than in CON lambs (P = 0.091). Conversely, plasma glucose during the 1st phase of insulin secretion was higher in IUGR+Ex4 than in IUGR+Veh lambs (P_{-} 0.001), and plasma glucose during the 2nd phase of insulin secretion did not differ between groups (P_{-} 0.3). The pattern of change in plasma glucose with time differed between groups overall (P_0.001) and during the 1" phase of insulin secretion (P = 0.003). Fasting plasma insulin in absolute terms and relative to glucose, and insulin secretion (assessed relative to the glucose stimulus as AUC insulinAUC glucose) did not differ between the groups (Table 2). glucose stimulus as AUC insulin/AUC glucose) did not differ between the groups (Table 2 and Figure 2). Plasma insulin (Figure 2) changed with time throughout the IVGTT ($P_{-0.001}$), and within 1st ($P_{-0.001}$) and 2^{sd} phase (P=0.008) of insulin response. The ratio of plasma insulin to glucose (Figure 2), an index of insulin secretion, similarly changed with time throughout the IVGTT ($P_{-0.001}$), and within 1st (P=0.015) and 2^{sd} phase (P = 0.005) of insulin response. Plasma insulin concentrations and the ratio of plasma insulin to glucose ratios during the IVGTT (Figure 2) were higher in IUGR+Ex4 than in IUGR+Veh lambs overall (each $P_{-}0.001$) and during the 2nd phase of insulin secretion (each $P_{-}0.001$), and did not differ between other treatment groups. IUGR+Ex4 lambs had lower insulin sensitivity compared to CON (244%, P=0.004) and IUGR+Veh lambs (246%, P = 0.002, Table 2). Basal and maximal insulin disposition indices did not differ between groups (Table 2).

Pancreas morphology and b-cell function

Absolute and relative pancreas weights, and numbers of b-cells per islet, b-cell volume density and absolute b-cell mass did not differ with treatment (Table 3). b-cell mass relative to body weight was greater in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs than CON lambs (+36%

ROS ONE | www.plosone.org

Results

4

February 2013 | Volume 8 | Issue 2 | e56553



(με) square, and where instant once any and scattering and state of the state of

and by mixed model as described above for incubations with individual secretagogues.

Size at birth, neonatal growth and body composition

Lamb weight, abdominal circumference and body mass index at

birth were reduced in twin lambs (all IUGR groups) compared to singleton lambs (each P_0.001, Table 1). Absolute and fractional growth rates for weight and abdominal circumference, and absolute but not fractional growth rate for shoulder height, differed with treatment (Table 1). IUGR+Veh lambs had higher FGR for weight and abdominal circumference than CON lambs

(P = 0.022 and P = 0.001 respectively), and by d 16, there was no difference in weight between these two groups (Figure 1A). In control and IUGR+Veh lambs, FGR for weight increased as birth

weight decreased (combined: R = 2.0.700, P = 0.002, n = 15; Figure 1B), whereas in IUGR+Ex4 lambs, neonatal FGR was not related to birth weight (P . 0.3; Figure 1B). Neonatal evendin-4

treatment reduced neonatal growth rates (Table 1) including

Table 2. Effect of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 on insulin action in lambs.

	CON	IUGR+Veh	DGR+Ex-4	Significance (treatment effect)
Number of animals	7	8	8	
Fasting				
Plasma glucose (amelL ²¹)	6.4760.26	6.4060.11	5.8160.12 ⁴	0.008
Plasma insulin (nUL ²¹)	20.466.0	15.462.2	16.462.2	NS
Plasma insulin:glucose (nUm mol ²¹)	33061.11	2.4060.35	2.8360.38	NS
AUC glucose (mmol.ninL ²¹)				
Total	6266	5663	1436284	0.003
1" phase	60.965.4	54.862.9	\$6.265.74	_ 0.001
2 nd phase	161	161	57624 ⁱ	0.017
AUC insulin (mUmin.L.21)				
Total	5876184	5906181	8636178	NS
1" phase	4996133	5796180	6506128	NS
2 nd phase	88661	1266	2136119	NS
AUC insulin:AUC glucose (nUmmol ²¹)				
Total	10.164.3	10.963.6	7.661.9	NS
1" phase	\$962.8	10.763.5	7.161.6	NS
2 st phase	26.5625.9	0.3603	9.662.8	NS
Insulin sensitivity (mg.L.mU ²¹ kg 21.min 21)	0.09760.010	0.10060.011	0.04760.009	0.003
Basal Di (ng.ml. kg ²² .min ²²)	69.7631.2	39.565.5	28.4610.0	NS
Maximal IDI (mg.mL.kg ²³ .min ²³)	138628	119627	97637	NS

Glucose and insulin AUC were measured during an IVOTT (0.25 g glucosekg²⁰) at d 14.1⁴ and 2nd phase values for insulin and glucose were measured from 0-30 and form 30-210 minutes after glucose administration, respectively. Insulin sensitivity was measured during a hyperinsulinemic cuglycenic clamp (2 mU institute ⁴ min²⁰ at d 12. NS P. 01, ⁴ different from CON $(P_{-}0.05)$, different from IUOR+Vet $(P_{-}0.05)$, doi:10.1371/journal.one.0056553.1002 P = 0.039, Table 3), IUGR+Ex-4 lambs also tended to have higher Lysine-, arginine- and leucine-stimulated in vitro is let insulin

relative b-cell mass than IUGR+Veh lambs (+28%, P=0.083, Table 3). Measures of b-cell function did not differ between treatments (Table 3).

In vitro b-cell secretory function

Lysine-, arginine- and leucine-stimulated in vitro islet insulin secretion did not differ between treatment groups (each P. 0.3, data not shown).

Islet insulin section (Figure 3) increased with increasing glucose concentration between 0 and 11.1 mM overall (P = 0.006). Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion tended to be higher overall in IUGR+Veh compared to CON lambs (+420%, P = 0.081), did not IOGREVEN compares to CON lamos (+4.0%, P = 0.081), and not differ between IUGR+Ew4 lambs and CON lambs (P = 0.9) and tended to be higher in IUGR+Veh lambs than in IUGR+Ex4 lambs (+20%, P = 0.087). At the highest glacose concentration (11.1 mM), IUGR +Vehlambs had higher insulin secretion than CON lambs (+66%, P = 0.046) and tended to have higher insulin secretion than IUGR+Ex-4 lambs (+58%, P = 0.066 respectively, Figure 3). Within each group of lambs, in vitro insulin secretion at 11.1 mM glucose was between 1.6 and 2-fold higher than that at 0 mM glucose (Figure 3). In vitro insulin secretion was similar from islets incubated with 15 mM KCl or 11.1 mM glucose (P . 05), and the response to KCl was similar between treatments (P 0.08). In vitro insulin secretion was suppressed by epinephrine treatment compared to glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (2.62%, P=0.001). Suppression of glucose-stimulated insulin secretion by epinephrine was greater in IUGR+Veh than CON absolute terms (2173 cf. 247 mU insulin/mgDNA, lambs in hands an absolute terms (21.5 cm) and (21.5 cm) and (21.5 cm) and (21.5 cm) absolute terms (21.8 cm) and (21.5 cm) and $(21.5 \text{$ rine suppress in islets from IUGR-Ex4 to that in other groups (P _ 0.1 for each).

Discussion

In the present study, twin IUGR lambs caught up in weight by 16 d of age, and had normal in vivo insulin action in their second week of life, with similar b-cell mass to singleton control lambs. Glucose-stimulated in vito insulin secretion was increased in the IUGR twin lamb relative to controls, suggesting up-regulated bcell function at this age. Daily exendin-4 treatment of twin IUGR lambs during neonatal life prevented catch-up growth and fat accumulation, and normalised in vivo insulin secretion from their islets, relative to untreated IUGR twins, which may retain adaptive capacity for later life. Glucose tolerance of IUGR lambs was impaired during exendin-4 treatment however, reflecting decreased insulin sensitivity and occurred despite greater in vivo insulin secretion. This may be due to central actions of exendir 4 to inhibit food intake and insulin sensitivity [37,38,39]. Neverthe-less, the reduction in fat accumulation and normalised b-cell action in vito of IUGR lambs suggest that neonatal exendin-4 might have beneficial effects on insulin-regulated glucose homeostasis in later life. These outcomes also demonstrate the biological activity of evendin-4 for the first time in the sheep, at least in the context of individuals who had undergone growth-restriction before birth

We found similar growth and metabolic responses to IUGR induced by twinning in this study to those seen previously after (PR) in sheep. Like the PR lamb, the twin IUGR lambs in the

PLOS ONE | www.plosone.org

5



Figure 2. Effect of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on in vivo metabolism in young lambs. Glucose tolerance (A) glucosestimulated insulin secretion (B) and relative glucose-stimulated insulin secretion (C) users measured during an intravanous glucose tolerance text 14 days of age. CON (white circle, n = 7), IUR/We (black circle, n = 8) and IUR/EA4 (gray square, n = 8). Data are means 6 SEM * different from (ON ($P_{-}0.05$), doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0056553.g002

present study experienced accelerated neonatal catch-up growth, achieving a normal body weight by 16 d of age in this study and by 30 d of age in our studies in PR lambs [40]. Accelerated fat deposition occurs during accelerated neonatal growth, and in humans catch-up growth is a risk factor for later obesity [41]. PR lambs have fat stores proportionate to their reduced body weight in late gestation [42], and similar to our twin lambs at 16 days in the present study, fat mass relative to body weight is similar in PR and CON lambs at 21 days despite their catch up growth [43]. By 43 days of age, however, the accelerated fat deposition results in

PLOS ONE | www.plosone.org

б

Neonatal Exendin-4 Treatment in UCR Sheep

greater visceral fat in PR lambs than their control counterparts [40]. Small size at birth in humans consistently induces insulin resistance in adults and adolescents [44], but this is preceded by enhanced insulin sensitivity in neonates, which reverses to resistance in association with catch-up growth in the first few years of life [45]. There is similar evidence of a reversal from insulin sensitivity to insulin resistance in the lamb following IUGR induced by restriction of placental growth and function (PR). The young PR lamb at 21 days of age has increased expression of insulin receptors and insulin signalling molecules in skeletal muscle [46], although in wie insulin action was not measured At 30 days, glucose tolerance of PR lambs is normal, despite decreased insulin sensitivity [40,47]. The latter reflects decreased expression of insulin-signaling pathways in skeletal muscle [47]. Impaired glucose tolerance and elevated fasting glucose emerge by 1 year of age in IUGR sheep [48]. The normal insulin sensitivity to insulin resistance occurring during the neonatal catch-up growth they are experiencing at this age. Neither IUGR nor neonatal exendin-4 treatment in IUGR

lambs altered relative b-cell mass at 16 days in the present study, consistent with the lack of effect of PR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on b-cell mass in young postnatal rats at 2 weeks of age [49]. In the rat, reduced b-cell mass after IUGR emerges by 3 months of age in young adults, and neonatal exendin-4 treatment normalises adult b-cell mass at this age in this model [49]. We hypothesise that these beneficial effects of exendin-4 treatm after IUGR might also emerge with ageing in the sheep. This lack of an immediate response may also reflect the collection of pancreas scoon after completion of exendin-4 treatment here and in PR rats. Previous rodent studies have reported increased b-cell replication after similar exendin-4 treatment durations, but differences in b-cell mass are sometimes not apparent until several weeks later [50,51]. Many of the actions of exendin-4 and GLP-1 on insulin secretion are mediated via stimulation of Pdx-1 expression, a transcription factor important for regulation of bcell mass as well as function, and which is required for plasticity of b-cell mass and function to increase insulin secretion in response to demand. In the PR rat, prevention of later diabetes following neonatal exendin-4 treatment reflects reversal of epigenetic neonatal exendin-4 treatment reflects reversal of epigenetic changes induced by PR in the Pdx-1 promoter by late gestation, that normally worsen with age and lead to decreased Pdx-1 expression, loss of b-cell function and subsequent loss of b-cell mass postnatally [15,16,19]. Intriguingly, although neonatal exendin-4 induces epigenetic changes such as increased acetylation and lysine 4 trimethylation at histone H3 in control as wellas PR. rat juveniles, it only increases Pdx-1 expression and b-cell mass and improves glucose tolerance in the PR progeny [15,16,19]. Indeed, the Pdx-1 promotor becomes methylated and hence partially silenced by adulthood in untreated PR rat progeny, but not in control progeny regardless of exendin-4 treatment, which implies that the levels of histone 3 acetylation and lysine 4 trimethylation in untreated control progeny is already sufficient to prevent later promoter methylation [16]. We do not yet know whether neonatal exendin-4 treatment will affect outcomes in control sheep progeny, as the aim of the present study was to evaluate its efficacy only in the context of IUGR. Whether neonatal exendin-4 acts similarly in the IUGR lamb as in the PR rat, by reversing epigenetic changes in the Pdx-1 promotor and improves adult b-cell mass and function to delay or prevent the subsequent loss of insulin secretory capacity observed after IUGR in young adult male sheep [11] remains to be determined, and will require separate a

Table 3. Effect of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 on pancreas morphology and b-cell function.

	CON (7)	IUGR+Veh (8)	IUGR+Ex-4 (8)	Significance (treatment effect)
Pancreas morphology				
Pancreas weight (g)	10.861.5	8.5360.93	7.9060.55	NS
Pancreas (% of body weight)	0.10360.019	0.085650.009	0.09660.007	NS
b-cell volume density	0.03360.005	0.040650.003	0.04968.007	NS
b-cell mass (g)	0.32660.038	0.34560.054	0.38760.055	NS
b-cell mass (% of body weight)	0.0030/60.0004	0.003460.0005	0.0047650.00.06*	0.070
Islet density (no.mm ²⁰)	66369.7	76.9610.3	91.6610.5	NS
b-cells/islets	10961.4	10.561.3	129613	NS
% of islets with _ 5b-cells	27.766.3	23.866.4	31.366.7	NS
b-cell function				
Insulin secretion (AUC ins) per b-cell mass (mUmin L ²¹ .g ²¹)	16826413	19446588	21906286	NS
Basal DI per b-cell mass (mg.mLkg ²² .min ²² .g ²¹)	187660	129625	\$5.46526.5	NS
Max IX per b-cell mass (mg.mL.kg ²² .min ²² .g ²³)	441685	389689	269694	NS

NS: P.0.1, * different from CON (P.005), doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0056553.003 cohorts with long-term follow-up of functional and molecular

outco

In this study, the decrease in fasting plasma glucose (_9%) and more sustained insulin secretion during exendin-4 treatment in the IUGR neonatal lamb compared to untreated IUGR siblings were IUGR neonatal lamb compared to untreated IUGR siblings were generally consistent with responses to exendin-4 in rodents and humans. Medium- to long-term exendin-4 treatment in human T2DM patients (daily 5-10 ng injections for 30 and 82 weeks) [52,53,54], in the obese diabetic db/db mouse (1 nmolkg²¹,d²¹ as daily injections for 14 days) [55], and in the obese ob/ob mouse (20 ngkg²¹,d²¹, _ 5 nmolkg²¹,d²¹ as twice daily injections for 60 days) [56] reduces fasting blood glucose as well as HbAlc, a marker of chronic hyperglycemia. Earlier studies in humans also demonstrated acute decreases in fasting and post-prandial glucose concentrations after a single exendin-4 dose and after 5 days of

twice daily injections with 5 mg exendin-4 [57]. Infusions with twice daily injections with 5 mg exendin-4 [57]. Influsions with GLP-1 and chronic exendin-4 treatment enhance post-prandial and glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in human patients with T2DM, including restoration of 1st phase insulin secretion response to glucose, and sustained elevation of 2nd phase insulin secretion in T2DM patients [57,58,59]. In the diabetic rat, four weeks of twice-daily exendin-4 injections (105 pmolkg²¹) increased 1st and 2nd phase insulin secretion during a hypergly-centic clamp [60]. Whilst we similarly observed increases in second phase insulin secretion in TUGR lambs during exendin-4 treatment, their first phase insulin secretion was unchanged. This apparent difference may be because first phase insulin secretion in apparent difference may be because first phase insulin secretion is normal in the IUGR lamb at this age, whereas previous reports of increased first phase insulin responses after exendin-4 or GLP-1 treatment have all been in the context of diabetes, when first phase



Figure 3. Effect of IUGR and neonatal exendin-4 treatment on in vitro insulin secretion from isolated islets in response to glucose and potassium chloride. CON (white bar, n = 5), IUGR+We (black bar, n = 5) and IUGR+Ex4 (gray bar, n = 6). Data are means 6 SEM. Specific contrast: * P_005, * P_010, dxi(0157)/journal.pone.0055533.g003

HOS ONE | www.plosone.org

7

secretion is impaired. The effects of exendin-4 on insulin secretion in IUGR sheep AFTER cessation of treatment remain to be estizated.

We performed in vitro testing to measure intrinsic b-cell function indepen dent of systemic input from endocrine and nervous systems [36]. In this study, IUGR neonatal lambs had enhanced in vitro glucose-stimulated insulin secretion, or b-cell hypersecretion relative to control lambs, which occurs in obese individuals, as well as early in the pathogenesis of type 2 diabetes [61,62,63]. Interestingly, exendin-4 treatment of IUGR lambs abolished this in vito insulin hypersecretion from isolated islets, suggesting some normalisation of intrinsic b-cell function and its determinants Together with increased b-cell mass, this suggests that neonatal exendin-4 may improve insulin secretory capacity after IUGR.

In contrast with the improved insulin sensitivity seen after ronic GLP-1 or exendin-4 treatment in human patients with chroni extreme obesity [64] or T2DM [65], insulin sensitivity was profoundly decreased on the 11th day of exendin-4 treatment in neonatal IUGR lambs, relative to their untreated IUGR littermates. In studies of exendin-4 action in rodents, direct measures and calculated indices of insulin sensitivity have either been increased [56,60,66], or not altered [55], immediately following or during chronic (2 – 9 weeks) exendin-4 treatment. ose that the differential effects of evendin-4 on insulin We prop sensitivity may depend on whether the latter is assessed during treatment or after, whether the subjects are obese and on their developmental stage and growth rate. Exendin-4 reduced weight gain in the IUGR lambs in the present study as well as in PR rat neonates [15], consistent with its actions including decreased food and caloric intake, reduced gastric emptying and induced weight loss or slowed weight gain in mice and rats [67,68] and in adolescent and adult humans [52,53,54,64,69,70,71]. It appears that restricted nutrition reduces insulin sensitivity in growing animals, possibly partly due to reduced mass of insulin-responsive tissues, whereas in older or obese animals the net effect of restricted feeding and consequently reduced fatness is to increase insulin sensitivity. Thus, feed restriction nonse insulinstimulated glucose metabolism and insulin sensitivity in adult sheep [72], but decreases insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in muscle of young growing pigs [73]. In mice, exendin-4 can cross the blood-brain barrier [74], and acts centrally to suppress GLP-1 receptor and activation of PKC-d signalling pathways in the hypothalamus [37,38], suggesting an additional mechanism for decreased peripheral insulin sensitivity during exendin-4 treatment. As a consequence of their reduced insulin

exemutivity, and despite the increased 2^{nd} phase insulin secretion that maintained insulin disposition glucose tolerance was impaired in IUGR+Ex-4 lambs compared to IUGR+Veh and CON lambs. This contrasts with improved glucose tolerance observed 24 h after completion of medium- to long-term evendin-4 treatment in mature rats [56,59,60,66], during continued long-term exendin-4 treatment in b-cell depleted rats [75], and acutely in T2DM human patients [76]. In some of these studies, the improved glucose tolerance during or after evendin-4 treatment reflects marked improvement

References

- Newome CA, Shidi AW, Fall CHD, Philips DIW, Shier R, et al. (2003) Is birth weight related to later glasses and insulin metabolism?+a systematic review. Diab Med. 20: 339–348.
- Manau P.H. Kaye SJ, Owen CG, Haxley R, Cook DG, et al. (2008) Birth weight and risk offype 2 diabetes: A systemic review. JAMA 300: 2886-2897. Kaijser M, Edstedt Bonamy A-K, Ake O, Onatlingius S, Granath F, et al. (2009) Perinatal risk factors for diabetes in later life. Diabetes 58: 523-526. 2.
- 3. Kaijser

PLOS ONE | www.plosone.org

of deficient insulin secretion due to stimulation of b-cell regeneration [75] or up-regulation of b-cell function in T2DM patients [76]. Long-term exendin-4 treatment increases insulin sensitivity in obese humans, genetically-obese rodents and diabetic humans and rodents, measured either during or 16-24 h after completion of treatment [56,64,77,78]. Improved whole-body insulin sensitivity is probably also due to improvements in hepatic insulin sensitivity, with lower post-prandial endogenous glucose production after or during evendin-4 treatment [79]. To our knowledge, this is the first study of the effects of exendin-4 on insulin action treatment in young growing animals. Further studies are needed to define the underlying mechanisms for their reduced insulin sensitivity during treatment.

The profound reduction in visceni fat deposition after IUGR in response to exendin-4 is also of particular potential importance for later glucose homeostasis, given that obesity and particularly visceral fat deposition are strong risk factors for impaired glucose tolerance and T2DM [80,81]. In the PR rat, neonatal exendin-4 reduces weight gain in conjunction with prevention of later diabetes, and this may particularly reduce the risk of T2DM in IUGR subjects [15], since catch-up growth after IUGR is a risk factor for T2DM and for adult obesity [82,83]. Intriguingly, neonatal exendin-4 treatment abolished the negative relationship between birth weight and fractional growth rate in IUGR lambs in the current study. In contrast to its metabolic effects, exendin-4 reduced neonatal growth and adult size in both control and PR rat progeny [15]. This suggests that evendin-4 may act in part, but not only, via the pathway/s responsible for catch-up after IUGR, which include neonatal hyperphagia, elevated insulin sensitivity and increased abundance of thyroid hormones in IUGR lambs [40,84,85]. Longer-term evaluations of growth and composition after cessation of exendin-4 are needed to determine whether this decrease in central adiposity persists in the IUGR sheep.

In conclusion, neonatal evendin-4 treatment increased 2nd phase insulin secretion in vivo, normalised in vivo insulin secretion and decreased visceral fat at the end of treatment in the IUGR lamb. Neonatal exendin-4 treatment also improves insulin secretion and glucose tolerance in adolescent and adult rat progeny following IUGR, preventing development of diabetes in these animals [15], although the effects during treatment were not measured in the latter study. Investigation of the long-term effects of neonatal eventin-4 on glocose homeostasis and insultin action in the IUGR lamb into adulthood should be a priority for the future.

Acknowledgments

Preliminary data from this study was presented at the Fetal and Neonatal Physiology Workshop, Australia, in 2009.

Author Contributions

8

Conceived and designed the experiment: KLG JAO. Performed the experiment: KLG SAS SNBM MJD MLH. Critically revised manuscript for intellectual content: KLG MJD MLH RAS JAO. Analyzed the data: KLG SAS JAO. Wrote the paper: KLG SAS JAO.

- 4. Eriksson M, Wallander MA, Krakau I, Wedel H, Svardsudd K (2004) Birth
- Entsmon M, Wallander MA, Krakau I, Wedel H, Swartsudd K (2004) Stritt weight and cardiovascular risk factors in a cohort fallawal until 80 years of age: the study ofmen born in 1913. Jinternal Medi 255: 236-246. Jensen CB, Storgaard H, Dela F, Holst J, Madsbad S, et al. (2002) Early differential defocts of insulin secretion and action in 19-year-old Caucasian men who had low birth weight. Diabetes 51: 1271-1280. Veening MA, van Weissenbuch MM, Heine RJ, Delemare-van de Waal HA (2003) b-cell capacity and insulin semilikity in prepubertal children born small 5

- for gestational age: Influence of body sizeduring childhood. Diabetes 52: 1756– 1760.
- Merico V, Ong KK, Bazaes R, Peña V, Avila A, et al. (2005) Longitudinal changes in insulin sanifying and secretion from birth to age three years in small-and appropriate-for-gentational-age children. Diabetologia 48: 2609–2614.
 Robinson NS, Owens JA. (1996) Pathophysiology of naturaterine growth failure. In: Gluckman PD, Heymann MA, editors. Pediatrics and Perinatology The Control of the termination of term
- 9
- Ia: Glucknam PD, Heymann MA, editors. Pediatrics and Perinatology The Simific Bain: 2 ed. London Armold pp. 200-297. De Elasio MJ, Gatford KL, McMillam IC, Robinson JS, Owens JA (2007) Placental restriction of fetal growth increases insulin action, growth, and adiposity in the young lamb. Endocrinology 148: 1350-1358. De Bain MJ, Gatford KL, Robinson JS, Owens JA (2007) Placental restriction of fetal growth reduces sizes at birth and alters postastal growth, feeding activity, and adiposity in the young lamb. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 292: R875-886. 10 and adipo R875-886
- (MJ) user, Owens JA, Thavaneswaran P, De Hasio MJ, McMillen IC, Robinson JS, et al. (2007) Sex-specific effects of placental restriction on components of the metabolic syndrome in young adult sheep. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 292: E1879-1889.
- Gatford KL, Mohammad SNB, Harland ML, De Blaio MJ, Fowden AL, et al. (2001) Impaired b-cell function and inadequate compensatory increases in b-cell mass after intrauterine growth restriction in sheep. Endocrinology 149: 5118-12 5127
- 13.
- 5127. Simmons RA, Templeton LJ, Gertz SJ (2001) Intrauterine growth retardation leads to the development of type 2 diabetes in the nst. Diabetes 50: 2279–2286. Simmons RA, Suponitsky-Kroyter I, Selak MA (2005) Progravive accumulation of mitochondrial DNA nutations and decline in mitochondrial function lead to b-cell failure. J Biol Chem 280: 28785–28791. 14.
- Steffen DA, Desai BM, DeLeon DD, Simmons RA (2003) Neonatal exendin-4 prevents the development of diabetes in the intrauterine growth retarded rat. Diabetes 52: 734–740. 15
- Diabeten 52: 734-740. Pinney S, keckle Santos L, Han Y, Stoffers D, Simmons R (2011)Euendin-4 increases histone acetylase activity and reverses epigenetic modifications that silence Pdx-1 in the intrauterine growth retarded rat. Diabetologia 54: 2606-2614 silenc 2614
- 2614.
 Binuws M, Blaha M, Spear C, Nicholson W, Radhika A, et al. (2005) Reduced PDX-1 expression impairs islet response to insulin resistance and worsens glucoschomeostasis. Am J Physiol Endocrimol Metab 288: E707–714.
 Kulkami RN, Jhal US, Winnay N, Krajevski S, Montinisy M, et al. (2004) PDX-1 kapiesrafilmeny limits the compensatory islet hyperplasis that occurs in response to insulin resistance. J Clin Invest 114: E828–836.
 Park JE, Saden DA, Nehels RD, Simmons RA (2004) Development of type 2 diabetes following intrusterine growthe retardation in rets is associated with programs: epigenetic sillencing of Nat. J Clin Invest 118: E2316–2324.
 Path JE, Elliotz BB (1981) Octoaratio development of coercide hyperplanetic sillencing of Nat. J Clin Invest 118: E2316–2324.
- Constant and Arriver and Arri
- mammalian fatal pancreas. Experientis 44: E1-9.

 Kassem SA, Ariel I, Thornton PS, Scheinberg I, Glaser B (2000) b-cell proliferation and apoptosis in the developing normal human pancreas and in hyperinsulinismofindacy. Disbetes 49: 1325–1333.
 Piper K, Brákwold S, Tumpensy LW, Cameron IT, Ball SG, et al. (2004) Beta edl differentiation during early human pancreas development. J Endocrinol 181: 11-33.
- 11-23
- 23.
- 11–23. Limesand SW, Jensen J, Hutton JC, Hay WW, Jr. (2005) Diminished b-cell replication contributes to reduced b-cell mass in fetal sheep with intrauterine growth restriction. Am JPhysiol Regul Integr Comp Physial 288: R1297–1305. Otorkoki T, Andersson S, Knip M. O. S (1994) Matantion of insulin response to glucose during human fetal and neonatal development. Studies with perfision of panceratic isleffic cell clusters. Diabetes 37: 286–291. Bassett M (1971) Glucagon, invalin and glucosehomeostasis in the fetal lamb. Ann Rech. Vet 8: 362–373. Evandon A.1. (1983) Efficience and algories on the algories (final lamb. 24 25.
- 26
- Fowden AL (1980) Effects of arginine and glucose on the release of insulin in the sheep fetus. J Endocrinol 87: E293-301. 27. Roz
- Rozance PJ, Limesand SW, Hay WW (2006) Decreased nutrient-stimulated insulin secretion in chronically hypaplyonic late-gestation fital sheep is due to an intrinsic islet defect. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 291: E404-E411. 28.
- Stagis L, Cahill CJ, Finegood DT, Bonner-Weir S (1997) Apoptoin participates in the remodeling of the endocrine pancress in the neonstal rat. Endocrinology 138: 1736–1741.
- Petrik I, Arany E, McDonald TJ, Hill DJ (1998) Apoptois in the pancreatic islet cells of the neonatal rat is associated with a reduced expression of insulin-like growth factor II that may act as a survival factor. Endocrinology 139: 2994-1004. growt 3004. 30
- 3004. Jetrik I, Reusens B, Arany E, Remacle C, Coelho C, et al. (1999) A low protein diet alters the balance of islet cell replication and apoptonis in the fetal and neonstain at and is anotical with a reduced pancreatic apressis of insulin-like growth factor-II. Endocrinology 140: 4861-4873. Navarro-Tableros V, Fiordelisio T, Hernindez-Cuzz A, Hiritat M (2007) Physiologial development of insulin secretion, calcium channels, and GLUT2 expression of pancreatic rat b-cells. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 292: E1018-E1029. 31. E1018-E103
- Tan C, Tuch BE, Tu J, Brown SA (2002)Role of NADH shuttles in glucose-induced insulin secretion from fital b-cells.Diabetes 51: 2989–2996. 32.

PLOS ONE | www.plosone.org

0

- National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia (2004) Australian code of practice for the care and use of animals for scientific purposes, 7th edition, Camberra: Australian Government Publishing Service. 82 p. 34. Thompson GE (1983) The intake of milk by sucked, newborn learths and the effect of fvirning and code exposure. British 17Mut 50 151–156.
 Gatford KL, De Blain MD, Thwarensowama P, Bohinano IE, McMillen IC, et al. (2004) Postnatal entogeny of glucose homeostasis and insulin action in sheep. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Mata 286: E1050–1059.
 Limessand SW, Rozance PJ, Zerbe OO, Hatton JC, Hay WW, Ł (2006) Attenuated insulin release and atonge in first sheep pancreatic islets with intraterine growth restrictions. Endocrinology 147: 1488-1497.
 Cabou C, Campiston G, Marsollier N, Leloup C, Cruciani-Ouglielmacci C, et al. (2006) Benin glucoge-Bit peptide-1 regulates attential blood fase, heat rate, and insulin areasitivity. Diabetes 57: 2577-2587.
 Cabou C, Vachoux C, Campiston GO, Davaker DJ, Burcelin R (2011) Beain (1997) Glucagon-like peptide-1 inlibits gastric emptying via vagal affernimmidiated central mechanisms. American Soural of Thying Via vagal affernimediated central mechanisms. American Soural Offysing Gastroortantianian and Liver Physing Y 23: 0220-0227.
 De Blasio ML (2014) KL, McMillen IC, Robinson JA, Overs JA (2007) 40.
- 41.
- and Liver Physiology 273: G920–G927. De Blassio MJ, Gathoff KL, McMillen IC, Robinson SJ, Owens JA (2007) Placental restriction official goverth insrease insulination, growth and adiposity in the young lamb. Endocrinology 148: 1350–1358. Ong KKL, Ahmed ML, Emmett PM, Preece MA, Dunger DB (2006) Association between postnatal catch-up growth and obesity in childhood: prospective cohort study. British Medical Journal 320: 967–971. Duffield JA, Vaocolo T, Tellam R, Yuen BS, Muhlhausler BS, et al. (2008)
- 42. riction offetal growth deman IGF1 and leptin mRNA expression al adipose tissue of late gestation fetal sheep. American Journal of Placental re in the perirenal adipose tissues Physiology 294: R1413-R1419.
- Duffeld JA, Woocolo T, Tellam R, McFarlane JR, Kauter KG, et al. (2009) Intrasterine growth restriction and the sex specific programming offeptin and peroxisome profikrator-activated receptor gamma (PRARgamma) nRNA expression in visceral fat in the lamb. Pediatric Research 66: 59–65. 43.
- Contactor of viscom as in the tank, requested or 57-55. Newrone CA, Shiell AW, Fall CHD, Philips DIW, Shier R, et al. (2003) Is birth weight related to later glucone and insulin metabolism? a systemic review. Diabetic Medicine 20: 339-348. 44
- 45
- Dastetic Monicane 20: 339-348. Mericq V, Ong KK, Bazaer R, Pena V, Avila A, et al. (2005)Longitudinal changes in insulin semilisity and secretion formbirth to age three years in small-and appropriate-for-generational-agechildren. Diabetologia st4: 2609-2614. Mahlhausler BS, Duffeld JA, Ozanne SE, Pilgrine, Tamer N, et al. (2009) he transition form fatal growth restriction to accelerate postnatal growth: a potential role for insulin signaling in thetai muscle. The Journal of Physiology 587: 4199-4211. 46. 587: 4199-4211
- 159-4211. Stasio MJ, Gatford KL, Harland ML, Robinson JS, Owens JA (2012) intal restriction reduces insulin sanithity and expression of insulin signaling lucoset masporter genes in skeletal muscle, but not liver, in young sheep, erinology 153: 2142-2151. De Blasio Placental r 47 nd glu
- Overna 3A, Heinela ML, De Blassio MJ, Gatfard KL, Robinson JS (2007) Restriction of placental and fatal growth reduces expression of insulin signaling and glucoartemaporter genes in skelds muscle of young lambs. Early Human Development 33: S134 (abstract). 48.
- Steffen DA, Dessi BM, De Leon DD, Simmons RA (2003) Neonstal exendin-4 prevents the development of diabetes in the intrauterine growth retarded rat. 49. es 52: 734-740
- Doyle ME, Egan JM (2001) Glaagon-like peptide-1. Recent Prog HormRes 56: 377-400.
- Garber AJ (2011) Incretin effets on b-cell function, replication, and mass: the human perspective. Diabetes Care. pp. 25:58+.
 Blonde L, Klein EJ, Han J, Zhang B, Mac SM, et al. (2006) Interim analysis of the effets of examile treatment on A1C, weight and cardiovascular fik factors over 82 weaks in 314 overweight patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Obesity Metab 8: 436-447.
 Bruse P, Harrow M, March M, Stan M, 53.
- 54
- 22
- \$6
- Verta K. 2016. 47.
 Buse ER, Henry RR, Han J, Kim DD, Fineman MS, et al. (2004) Effects of comratide [Ensemb-4] on glyomic control over 30 weaks in sulforylures-treated patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes: Care 27: 2628–2635.
 DeFronzo RA, Ratzer RF, Han J, Kim DD, Fineman MS, et al. (2005) Effects of committee [ensembia-4] on glycemic control and weight over 30 weaks in melformin-neuted patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 28: 1092–1100.
 Wang QW, Paubaker PLB (2002) Glucagon-likeperide-1 treatment delaysthe onset of diabetes in 8 week-10dib/db mac. Diabetologia 445: 1263–1273.
 Ding X, Sazema NK, Lin S, Gupta N, Ananis FA (2006) Exendin-4, a glucagon-like protein-1 (EF4) receptor agoinst, revense hepatic istantis in 64/b mice. Hepatology 43: 172–181.
 Kolleman OG, Base JR, Fineman MS, Gaines E, Heintz S, et al. (2003) Synthetic exendin-4 (comstide) significantly reduces postprantial aftering plasm glucose in subjects with type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 88: 3082–3089. 57 Synthesic L plasma gluo 3082-3089.
- 3082-3089. Nauck MA, Heimesaat MM, Oeskov C, Holst JJ,Ebert R, et al. (1993)Preserved incretin activity of glucogon-like peptide 1 [7-36 amide] but not of synthetic human gastric inhibitory polypepide in patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus J Clin Invest 91: 301-307 58.

- Fehse F, Trautmenn M, Holst J, Halseth AE, Nansyakkara N, et al. (2005) Exenatide augments first- and second-phase insulin secretion in response to instrucenous glasses in subjets with type 2 diabetes. J Clin Endeerind Metab 90: 5991-5997.
 Kwon DY, Kim YS, Ahn IS, Kim DS, Kang S, et al. (2009) Exendin 4.
- potentiates insulinotropic action partly via increasing b-cell proliferation and neogenesis and decreasing apoptosis in association with the attenuation of endoplasmic reticulumstess in idea of diabetic rats. J Pharmacol Sci 111: 361-371.
- Jahr H., Ratzmann K.P., Becket R., Besch W., Hahn HJ (1983) Enhanced synthesis, storage, and secretion of insulin in pancreatic inhe derived from obese subjects. Metabolism 32: 1101–1106.
 Hansen BC, Bodkin NU. (1990) Beta-cell hypersponsivensas: earliest event in development of diabetes in monkeys. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2006;12: 002109
- 259: R612-R617. Jetton TL, Laussier J, LaRock K, Trotman WE, Larmie B, et al. (2005) Mechanisms of compensatory b-cell growth in insiste emistant rats. Disbetes 54: 2294-2304. 63. 64.
- 65.
- 2294–2204, Kelly AS, Metzig AM, Rudser KD, Fitch AK, Fox CK, et al. (2012) Exensitide as a wigh4bm therapy in extreme pediatric obesity: A randomized, controlled pilot study. Obesity 20: 364–370. Zmder M, Madshad S, Madsen JL, Holst JJ (2002) Effect of 6-week course of glucagon-likepeptide 1 on glycaemic control, insulin sensitivity, and b-cell function in type 2 diabetes: a parallel-group study. Lancet 359: 8224–830. Gedulin EB, Nikoulina SE, Seith PA, Gedulin G, Niedsen LL, et al. (2005) Exensitie (coendin-4) improves insulin sensitivity and b-cell mass in insulin-resistant obee 16% Zucker: rats independent of glycemis and body weight. Endocrinology 146: 2069–2076. 66
- Li L, Yang G, Li Q, Tan X, Liu H, et al. (2008) Exensitide prevents fit-induced insulin resistance and raises adiponectin expression and plasma levels. Diabetes Obesity Metab 10: 921-930.
- Arakawa M, Ebato C, Mita T, Hirose T, Kawamori R, et al. (2009) Effects of 68.
- Ordenty Johan (1): 921-930.
 S. Arakawa M, Ebato C, Mia T, Hirose T, Kawamori R, et al. (009) Effects of exendin-4 on glucose tolerance, insulin secretion, and beta-cell proliferation depend on treatment does, treatment duration and meal contents. Biochem Biophys Res Corms 390: 809-814.
 Edwards CMB, Stanley SA, Davis R, Byynes AE, Frost GS, et al. (2001) Exendin-4 reduces fasting and postprantial glucose and decreases energy intake in healthy volunters: Am JPhysiol Endocrinol Metab 281: E155-161.
 DeFronzo RA, Okerson T, Viswanshhan P, Guan X, Holcombe H, et al. (2003) Effects of exenside versus singliptin on postprandial glucose, insulin and glucagon secretion, gastrice emptying, and caloric intake: a readomized, cross-over study. Carr Med Res Opin 24: 2943-2952.
 Lianebjerg H, Park S, Kothare PA, Trautmann ME, Maoc K, et al. (2008) Effect of exenside on gastric emptying and relationship to postprandial glucomiain type 2 diabetes. Regulatory Peptides DOI: 10.1016/j.regpep.2008.07.083.
 Sano H, Takebay sohi A, Kodarar Y, Nakasurar K, Jin H, et al. (1999)Effect of feed restriction and cold exposure on glucose metabolismin response to feeding and insulin in sheep. J Anim Sci 77: 2564-2573.

- Katsumsta M, Burton KA, Li J, Dauncey MJ (1999) Suboptimal energy balance selectively up-regulates muscle GLUT gene expression but reduces insulin-dependent glucose uptake during postnatal development. FASEB J 13: 1405-1413
- Kastin AJ, Akerstrom V (2003) Entry of exendin-4 into brain is rapid but may be limited at high doesn. Int JObenity Rel Metab Disorders 27: 313.
 Kwon DY, Kim YS, Ahn JS, Kim DS, Kang S, et al. (2009) Exendin-4 potentiates insulinotopic action partly via increasing be-cell pooliferation and neogenesis and decreasing apoptosis in association with the attenuation of endoplasmic reticulum tens in also of diabetic rats. Journal of Pharmecological Sciences 111: 361–371.
- Sciences 111: 561-371.
 Fehse F. Twatmann M. Holst JJ, Halseth AE, Nanayakkara N, et al. (2005) Examatide sugments first- and second-phase insulin secretion in response to intravenous glucose in subjects with type 2 diabetes. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism 90: 5901-5997.
 Young AA, Gedulin BR, Bhayara S, Bodkin N, Jocka C, et al. (999) Glucose-lowering and insulis-emitting actions of examin-4: studies in obsene diabetic (ob/ob, db/db) mice, diabetic fay Zucker rats, and diabetic thesus monkeys Aforem emistry. Dichater 49: 1024.
- (Macaca mulatta), Diabetes 48: 1026-1034.
- (packate minute), Different ver. (000-1054). Gedulin BR, Nikoulina SE, Smith PA, Gedulin G, Nielsen LL, et al. (2005) Exenatide (Exedia4) improves insulin sensitivity and b-cell mass in insulin-resistant obese fa/D Zucker rats independent of glycenia and body weight. 78
- resistant obese fa/fa Zucker rats independent of glycensis and body weight. Endocrinology 146: 2069-2076.
 9. Cersosine E, Gastaldeli A, Carvers A, Wajcherg E, Sriwijilkamol A, et al. (001) Effect of essentide on splanchnic and peripheral glucose metabolism in type 2 dishetic subjects. Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism 96: 1763-1770.
 80. Before F, Iamello S (1994) Insulin resistance in sheity: Metabolic mechanisms and measurement methods. Mol Genetics Metab 65: 121-128.
 81. Summernatter S, Maccelino H, ArsenijevicD, Buchals A, Aprikian O, et al. (2009 Alignee insus plasicity during catch-up fat driven by thrifty metabolism. Diabetes 58: 2223-22337.
 82. Forsén T, Erikasson J, Tuomilehto J, Reumanen A, Osmond C, et al. (2009) The Estal and childhood growth ofpersons who doedy type 2 diabetes. Ann Internal Med 133: 176-182.
 83. Ong KKL, Ahmed ME, Emmett PM, Precee MA, Dunger DB (2009)

- Med. 133: 176–182.
 83. Ong KKL, Ahmed ML, Emmett PM, Preece MA, Dunger DB (2000) Association between postnatal catch-up growth and obesity in childhood: prospective cohort study. BMJ320: 967–971.
- prospective cohort study. BMJ320: 967-971.
 84. De Ruie MJ, Gatford KL, Robinson KS, Owens JA (006) Placental restriction alters circulating thyroid hormone in the young lamb postnatally. American Journal of Physiology 291: R1016-R1024.
 85. De Ruie MJ, Gatford KL, Robinson JS, Owens JA (007) Placental restriction of fetal growth reduces size at birth and alters postnatal growth, Beding activity and adiposity in the young lamb. American Journal of Physiology 292: R875-R886.

PLOS ONE | www.plosone.org

10